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1. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited was incorporated in Hong Kong
(hereinafter as the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries were incorporated in
Hong Kong or Shanghai (together with the Bank hereinafter as the
“Group”). The Bank is a licensed bank authorised under the Hong
Kong Banking Ordinance.

The principal activities of the Bank are the provision of banking
and related financial services. The principal activities of the Bank's
subsidiaries are shown in “Appendix — Subsidiaries of the Bank”.
The address of the Bank's registered office is 151 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRSs is a collective term which includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certificated Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, precious metals
at fair value, investment properties which are carried at fair value
and premises which are carried at fair value or revalued amount
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Repossessed assets are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts
and fair values less costs to sell as further explained in Notes 2.23.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires the Management to exercise judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated

TEZBRERM

financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Standards, amendments and interpretation that are

relevant to the Group and are initially adopted for
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018

RAFE
BIRERAZFE AEEHEE
A BT RE Applicable for  Currently
Standards/Amendments/ RE financial years relevant to
Interpretation Content beginning on the Group
BB TS E R E SR SRMIE 2018F1A1H &
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018  Yes
RN B HELERNFESHR (KERT) BB R[4 18 B 42 Al 8 U AE 20195F1A1H =
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019  Yes
BRI B HmELERIFE1558 BREF &R A 2018F1A1H =
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018  Yes
BB E LR B 1558 (FLIEET) HEBMBREENEISFRENE L SR 201851 A1H =
WA BB
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from 1 January 2018  Yes
Contracts with Customers
BRMBHmELRIZREE225 SN AZ S AT $IE 2018F1A1H =Z
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 1 January 2018  Yes
Consideration
BR A ERIFE405 (KERT) R& M i E R 2018F1H1H =
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property 1 January 2018  Yes
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretation that
are relevant to the Group and are initially adopted
for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018
(Cont’d)

o HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, bringing together all
phases of the financial instruments project to replace
HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The
standard introduces new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group
has also early adopted HKFRS 9 (Amendments): “Prepayment
Features with Negative Compensation” which is mandatorily
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019 with earlier application permitted. The effect
of the adoption of this amendment is not significant. The
changes introduced in HKFRS 9 are highlighted as follows:

(i) Classification and Measurement
Financial assets

Financial assets are required to be classified into one of the following
measurement categories: (1) measured subsequently at amortised
cost (AC), (2) measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI), all fair value changes other than
interest accrual, amortisation and impairment will be recognised in
other comprehensive income or (3) measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL). Classification of financial assets
is to be made on transition, and subsequently on initial recognition.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the instruments, or the election of fair value option.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretation that
are relevant to the Group and are initially adopted
for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018
(Cont’d)

(1) Classification and Measurement (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

A financial instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost
only if it is a debt instrument, and the objective of the entity’s
business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual
cash flows, and the asset's contractual cash flows characteristics
represent only unleveraged payments of principal and interest. A
debt instrument is subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income if it is held in a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets and the instrument fulfils the contractual cash
flows characteristics. All other debt instruments are to be measured
at fair value through profit or loss.

Equity instruments are generally measured subsequently at fair
value with limited circumstances that cost may be an appropriate
estimate of fair value. Equity instruments that are held for trading
will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other
equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial
recognition to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains
and losses in other comprehensive income without subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the income statement
even upon disposal. Dividend income is recognised in the income
statement when the right to receive payment is established.

Financial liabilities

Except for the two substantial changes described below, the
classification and measurement requirements of financial liabilities
have been basically carried forward with minimal amendments from
HKAS 39.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretation that
are relevant to the Group and are initially adopted
for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018
(Cont’d)

(1) Classification and Measurement (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

The accounting for fair value option of financial liabilities were
changed to address own credit risk. The amount of change in fair
value attributable to changes in the credit risk of the financial
liabilities will be presented in other comprehensive income. The
remaining amount of the total gain or loss is included in the income
statement. If this creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss, then the whole fair value change is presented in the
income statement. The determination of whether there will be a
mismatch will need to be made at initial recognition of individual
liabilities and will not be re-assessed. Amounts presented in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to the
income statement but may be transferred within equity. This removes
the volatility in profit or loss that was caused by changes in the credit
risk of liabilities elected to be measured at fair value. It also means
that gains caused by the deterioration of an entity’s own credit risk
on such liabilities will no longer be recognised in profit or loss.

The standard also eliminates the exception from fair value
measurement contained in HKAS 39 for derivative financial
instruments that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of an
unquoted equity instrument.

Upon transition, the Group has performed a detailed analysis for
each class of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities on 1
January 2018. The original measurement categories under HKAS 39
and the new measurement categories under HKFRS 9 are explained
in Note 4 — Transition disclosures.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretation that
are relevant to the Group and are initially adopted
for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018
(Cont’d)

(i) Impairment

The standard introduces a new, expected-loss impairment model
that requires more timely recognition of expected credit losses.
Specifically, it requires entities to account for 12 months expected
credit losses from inception when financial instruments are first
recognised and to recognise full lifetime expected credit losses on
a more timely basis when there have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition. The impairment for financial
instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments), loan
commitments and financial guarantees will be governed by this
standard.

The standard introduces a forward-looking expected loss (“ECL")
approach. The Group is required to record an allowance for expected
losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL,
together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.
The allowance is based on the expected credit losses associated with
the probability of default in the next twelve months unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which
case, the allowance is based on the probability of default over the
life of the asset.

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment at the
end of each reporting period of whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition by considering the change in
the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument. To calculate lifetime ECL, the Group estimates the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument during its expected
life. ECLs are estimated based on the present value of expected
credit losses over the remaining expected life of the financial asset
discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan. 12-month
ECL are a portion of the lifetime ECL and represent the lifetime
cash shortfalls that will result if a default occurs in the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of
a financial instrument is less than 12 months), weighted by the
probability of that default occurring.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretation that
are relevant to the Group and are initially adopted
for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018
(Cont’d)

(ir) Impairment (Cont'd)

Loans are grouped into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, based on the
applied impairment methodology, as described below:

o Stage 1 — Performing loans: when loans are first recognised,
an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses are
recognised.

o Stage 2 - Underperforming loans: when a loan shows a

significant increase in credit risk, an allowance for the lifetime
expected credit loss are recorded.

o Stage 3 — Impaired loans: the lifetime expected credit losses
for these loans are recognised.

In addition, interest income is accrued on the amortised cost of the
loan net of allowances in Stage 3.

o Forward looking information

The Group incorporates forward-looking information in the
measurement of ECLs.

The Group considers forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors (e.g.,
interest rates and Property price) and economic forecasts. To evaluate

unemployment rate, GDP growth,

a range of possible outcomes, the Group formulates three scenarios:
a base case, a worse case and a better case.

The base case scenario represents the more likely outcome resulting
from the Group’s normal financial planning and budgeting process,
while the better and worse case scenarios represent more optimistic
or pessimistic outcomes. For each scenario, the Group derives an
ECL and apply a probability weighted approach to determine the
impairment allowance.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretation that
are relevant to the Group and are initially adopted
for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018
(Cont’d)

(ir) Impairment (Cont'd)

J Forward looking information (Cont’d)

The Group uses published external information from private
economic forecasting services. Both the risk and finance
management teams will need to approve the forward-looking
assumptions before they are applied for different scenarios.

The Group expects the impairment charge under HKFRS 9 to be
more volatile and to result in an increase in the total level of current
impairment allowances. The impact of adoption of HKFRS 9's
impairment requirements as at 1 January 2018 is explained in Note 4
— Transition disclosures.

(i1i) Hedge accounting

The requirements related to hedge accounting would better align the
accounting treatments with risk management activities and enable
entities to better reflect these activities in their financial statements.
It relaxes the requirements for assessing hedge effectiveness
which more risk management strategies may be eligible for hedge
accounting. It also relaxes the rules on using non-derivative financial
instruments as hedging instruments and allows greater flexibility on
hedged items. Users of the financial statements will be provided with
more relevant information about risk management and the effect of
hedge accounting on the financial statements.

The Group has chosen not to restate comparative information and
has recognised the transitional adjustments against the opening
balance of equity at 1 January 2018. Total estimated transitional
adjustment (net of deferred tax) of the adoption of HKFRS 9 reduces
the opening balance of the Group’s equity at 1 January 2018 by
approximately HK$775,336,000. The total capital ratio decreased by
around 28 basis points.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

Standards, amendments and interpretation that
are relevant to the Group and are initially adopted
for accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018
(Cont’d)

The HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”,
establishes a new model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue
is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. HKFRS 15 also includes a set
of disclosure requirements about revenue from customer
contracts. The Group adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. The application of this
standard does not have a material impact on the Group's
financial statements.

HK (IFRIC)-Int 22, “Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration”. The interpretation specifies that
the exchange rate on the date of cash payment or receipt
is used for transactions that involve advance consideration
paid or received in a foreign currency. The application of
this interpretation does not have a material impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 40, “Transfers of Investment
Property”, clarify when an entity should transfer property,
including property under construction or development, into
or out of investment property. The amendments state that
a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases
to meet, the definition of investment property and there
is evidence of the change in use. The application of these
amendments does not have a material impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2. EFESHHEE®) 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
21 REEE(E) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(b) SRR HIEE A R AR A EE 2018 (b)  Standards, amendments and interpretation issued
FELZHIERN 2 &R - 155T R 2 FE that are not yet mandatorily effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group in 2018

AT B 84 2 2R RAEET 201951 A1 A Bk A 1& The following standards and amendments have been issued and are
A B2 5T FE 1508 Bl 1AL mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019:

BRBAZEE RAFEHR
Applicable AEEER

R ETTRE for financial Currently
Standards/Amendments/ AR years beginning relevant to
Interpretation Content on/after the Group
BN B HELRIF1098 K REEMBAREHA SR HH fFE )

BER G HERIFE285 (KT BELEIEA
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined No

HKAS 28 (2011) and its Associate or Joint Venture
BB GTHERE195% (KEET) STEMEIE - HE R iE S 201951 A1R &
HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1 January 2019  No
BB MG R 165 HE 2019%F1 A1 =
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019  Yes
FRP B HmE LR EE235 P15 15 B2 3 9 S 5E 1 2019F1A1B &
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019  Yes

(new interpretation)

BB G ERIE285 (&KERT) EHEbEMaECETNRA#ER 20191 A1H &
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019  No
BN B EERNE3FR (KERT) HEXNTER 2020F1 A1 =#
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020  Yes
EEGTERNEIRMESR (K1EF]) HERUENTER 2020F1 AR =
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material 1 January 2020  Yes
RN BHMELERFE1THR Riza R 202151 A1R &
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2021 No
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretation issued
that are not yet mandatorily effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group in 2018 (Cont'd)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

o HKFRS 16, “Leases”. HKFRS 16 supersedes the existing
standard and interpretations related to leases. It applies
a single control model to identify leases and distinguish
between leases and service contracts. Significant changes
to lessee accounting are introduced, with the distinction
between operating and finance leases removed. Subject to
practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a
similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognise
and measure corresponding “right-of-use” asset and a
liability to make lease payments. After initial recognition
of this asset and liability, the lessee will recognise interest
expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease
liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the current policy of recognizing rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis over
the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect
not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e.
where the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of
low-value assets, in which case the rental expenses would
continue to be recognised on a systematic basis over the
lease term. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from today’s accounting under HKAS 17.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

Standards, amendments and interpretation issued
that are not yet mandatorily effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group in 2018 (Cont'd)

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16 and will recognize
the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening balances at 1 January 2019 and will not
restate comparative information. As disclosed in Note 38,
at 31 December 2018 the Group's future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases amount to
HK$695 million, the majority of which is payable between
1 and 5 years after the reporting date. Upon the initial
adoption of HKFRS 16, the opening balances of lease
liabilities and the corresponding right-of-use assets will be
adjusted to HK$607 million, net of tax and after taking into
account the effect of discounting, as at 1 January 2019.
The above overall financial impact is subject to change of
assumptions, judgements and estimates to be finalised in the
accounts of 2019.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”.
The interpretation specifies how an entity should reflect and
measure the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income
taxes by determining how probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The interpretation
can either be applied on a fully retrospective basis or on a
modified retrospective basis. Earlier application is permitted.
The application of this interpretation will not have a material
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, “Definition of a Business”.
The amendments clarify the definition of a business, with
the objective of assisting entities to determine whether a
business combination transaction should be accounted for
as a business combination or as an asset acquisition. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively, early application
is permitted. The application of this amendment will not have
a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretation issued
that are not yet mandatorily effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group in 2018 (Cont'd)

o Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, “Definition of
Material”. The amendments clarify the definition of
materiality of information and align the definition used
across other accounting standards. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively, early application is permitted. The
application of these amendments will not have a material
impact on the Group's financial statements.

(9] Improvements to HKFRSs

o “Improvements to HKFRSs" contains numerous amendments
to HKFRSs which the HKICPA considers not urgent but
necessary. It comprises amendments that result in accounting
changes for presentation, recognition or measurement
purpose as well as terminology or editorial amendments
related to a variety of individual HKFRSs. These improvements
do not have a material impact on the Group's financial
statements.

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Bank and all of its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee). Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between Group companies are eliminated; unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
impairment of the assets transferred. Where necessary, accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.2 Consolidation (Cont'd)

In the Bank’s balance sheet, the investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less allowance for impairment losses. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Bank on the basis of dividends
received and receivable. Dividend income from subsidiaries is
recognised in the income statement when the right to receive
payment is established.

2.3 Segmental reporting

The operating result of segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the Management, which
is the chief operating decision maker of the Group, that allocates
resources and assesses the performance of operating segments.
Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are
included in determining operating segment performance.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation
currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or exchange rates at the end of the reporting period
for items that are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions and
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period
are recognised directly in the income statement, except when
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow
hedge or qualifying net investment hedges.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

Translation differences on monetary securities held at fair value
through profit or loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in
foreign currency classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are analysed between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of the securities and other changes in
the carrying amount of the securities. Translation differences related
to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in the income
statement, and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are included in other
comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from Hong Kong dollars are translated
into Hong Kong dollars as follows:

o assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates at the
end of the reporting period;

o income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates; and
o all resulting exchange differences are recognised in the

currency translation reserve in equity through other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities, borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments are
taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign entity is sold,
such exchange differences are recognised in the income statement,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.5 Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured
at fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in
active markets, including recent market transactions, and through
the use of valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow
models and option pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives are
carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair
value is negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are
treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics
and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the
host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the income statement.

Derivatives are categorised as held for trading and changes in their
fair value are recognised immediately in the income statement unless
they are designated as hedges and are effective hedging instruments,
then they are subject to measurement under the hedge accounting
requirements.

For derivative instruments designated as hedging instrument and are
effectively hedged, the method of recognising the resulting fair value
gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group documents at inception the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
The Group also documents its assessment, both at the hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that
are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flow of hedged items. These criteria
should be met before a hedge can be qualified to be accounted for
under hedge accounting.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.5 Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting (Cont'd)

(a) Net investment hedge

A gain or loss on the effective portion of the hedging instrument
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity; a gain or loss on the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the income statement. Accumulated gains and losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to the income statement upon disposal of the foreign operation as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

2.6 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.7 Interest income and expense and fee and
commission income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement
for all financial assets and financial liabilities using the effective
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument (e.g. prepayment options or incentives relating
to residential mortgage loans) but does not consider future credit
losses. The calculation includes fees, premiums or discounts and basis
points paid or received between parties to the contract, and directly
attributable origination fees and costs which represent an integral
part of the effective yield.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.7 Interest income and expense and fee and
commission income and expense (Cont'd)

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been
written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is
recognised on the written down value using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Subsequent unwinding of the discount allowance is
recognised as interest income.

Fee and commission income and expenses that are not an integral
part of the effective yield are recognised on an accrual basis ratably
over the period when the related service is provided, such as
administrative fee, asset management fee and custody services fee.
Loan syndication fees are recognised as revenue when the related
syndication arrangement has been completed and the Group has
retained no part of the loan package for itself or has retained a
part at the same effective interest rate as applicable to the other
participants.

2.8 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition and
subsequently measured financial assets as: (i) at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), (ii) at amortised cost (“AC”) or (iii) at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). The
Management determines the classification of investments at initial
recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the instruments, or the election of fair
value option. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value.
Except for financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss,
all transaction costs of financial assets are included in their initial
carrying amounts.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.8 Financial assets (Cont'd)
(1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has three sub-categories: financial assets held for
trading, those designated at fair value through profit or loss at
inception, and financial assets mandatorily required to be measured
at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset which has been acquired or incurred principally
for the purpose of selling in the short term or is part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that are managed together and
for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking is classified as held for trading. Derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments.

A financial asset can be designated as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss, if it meets one of the criteria set out below,
and is so designated by the Management:

o eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “an
accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from
measuring the financial assets or recognising the gains and

losses on them on different bases; or

o applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities
or both that is managed and its performance is evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented

risk management or investment strategy, and information

about the group is provided internally on that basis to the

Management; or

o relates to financial assets containing one or more embedded
derivative that significantly modifies the cash flow resulting
from those financial assets.

These assets are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction
costs taken directly to the income statement, and are subsequently
re-measured at fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.8 Financial assets (Cont'd)

(1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Cont’d)

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of such assets
are reported in net trading gain/loss or net gain/loss on financial
instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss. The
interest component is reported as part of interest income.

2) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met: (i) the financial
assets are held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and (ii) the
contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding. They are initially recorded at fair value
plus any directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less
allowances for impairment losses. Gains or losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

(3) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Debt instruments are classified as subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income if both of the following
conditions are met: (i) The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling, and (ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at fair value.
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investments are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income, until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired at which
time the accumulated gain or loss previously recognised in equity
should be transferred to the income statement. However, interest
income which includes the amortisation of premium and discount is
calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in
the income statement.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.8 Financial assets (Cont'd)

(3) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Cont’d)

For equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at
initial recognition to recognise unrealised and realised fair value
gains or losses in other comprehensive income without subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains or losses to the income statement
even upon disposal (non-recycling). Dividends on equity instruments
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other operating income when the Group’s right to
receive payment is established. Equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

The treatment of translation differences on fair value through other
comprehensive income securities is dealt with in Note 2.4.

2.9 Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities under the following
categories: (i) trading liabilities, (i) financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss, (iii) deposits, debt securities and
certificates of deposit in issue, and other liabilities. All financial
liabilities are classified at inception and recognised initially at fair
value.

(1) Trading liabilities

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is incurred
principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the short term.
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. It is measured at
fair value and any gains and losses from changes in fair value are
recognised in the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.9 Financial liabilities (Cont'd)

2) Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss

A financial liability can be designated at fair value through profit
or loss if it is so designated at inception. A financial liability is so
designated if it meets one of the following criteria:

o eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “an
accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from
measuring the financial liabilities or recognising the gains and

losses on them on different bases; or

o applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities
or both that is managed and its performance is evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the group is provided internally on that basis to the
Management; or

o relates to financial liabilities containing one or more
embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flow
resulting from those financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value and any gains and losses from changes in fair
value are recognised in the income statement.

(3) Deposit, debt securities and certificates of deposit in
issue, and other liabilities

Deposits, debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue and
other liabilities, other than those classified as trading liabilities
or designated at fair value through profit or loss are carried at
amortised cost. Any difference (if available) between proceeds net
of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in
the income statement over the period using the effective interest
method.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.10 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in
accordance with the terms of a contract between the holder and the
debtor.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised as financial
liabilities and reported under “Other accounts and provisions” in
the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee
was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liabilities
under such guarantees are measured at the higher of (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
accumulated amortisation recognised over the life of the guarantee
on a straight-line basis. Any changes in the liability relating to
financial guarantee contracts are taken to the income statement.

2.11 Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Purchases and sales of financial assets subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss, at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at amortised cost are recognised on
the trade date, the date on which the Group purchases or sells
the assets. Loans and receivables (except investment securities
without an active market) are recognised when cash is advanced
to the borrowers. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. When the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, the Group either continues to recognise the transferred
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement if control
remains or derecognise it if there is no retained control.

Trading liabilities, financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss and debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue
are recognised on the trade date. Deposits are recognised when
money is received from customers, other liabilities are recognised
when such obligations arise. Financial liabilities are derecognised
from the balance sheet when and only when the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.11 Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Cont'd)

Securities and bills sold to a counterparty with an obligation to
repurchase at a pre-determined price on a specified future date
under a repurchase agreement are referred to as repos. Securities
and bills purchased from a counterparty with an obligation to re-sell
to the counterparty at a pre-determined price on a specified future
date under a resale agreement are referred to as reverse repos.

Repos or securities lending are initially recorded as due to
banks, placements from banks and other financial institutions,
as appropriate, at the actual amount of cash received from the
counterparty. Financial assets given as collateral for repurchase
agreements are not derecognised and are recorded as investment
in securities or financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Reverse repos or securities borrowing
are initially recorded in the balance sheet as cash and due from
banks or placements with banks and other financial institutions, as
appropriate, at the actual amount of cash paid to the counterparty.
Financial assets received as collateral under reverse repurchase
agreements are not recognised on the balance sheet. The difference
between sale and repurchase price is recognised as interest income
or interest expense over the life of the agreements using the
effective interest method.

2.12 Fair value measurement

The Group measures its premises and investment properties, precious
metals and certain financial instruments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in its principal market or the most
advantageous market accessible by the Group at the measurement
date.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.12 Fair value measurement (Cont'd)

The Group uses the price within the bid-offer spread that is most
representative of the fair value of financial instruments, where
appropriate, includes using on the residual of the net offsetting
risk position of portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities
in cases the Group manages such groups of financial assets and
liabilities according to their net market risk exposures. Despite
the Group measures the fair value of these groups of financial
instruments on a net basis, the underlying financial assets and
financial liabilities are separately presented in the financial
statements unless the offsetting criteria stated in Note 2.6 are
fulfilled.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

If the market for assets or liabilities is not active, the Group uses
valuation techniques, including the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models
and other valuation techniques commonly used by market
participants, that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use
of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

2.13 Precious metals

Precious metals comprise gold. Precious metals are initially
recognised and subsequently re-measured at fair value. Mark-to-
market gains or losses on precious metals are included in net trading
gain/loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(ECL) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost;

- debt securities measured at FVOCI; and
- loan commitments issued, which are not measured at FVPL.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including units in funds,
equity securities measured at FVPL, equity securities designated at
FVOCI (non-recycling) and derivative financial assets, are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

For undrawn loan commitments, expected cash shortfalls are
measured as the difference between (i) the contractual cash
flows that would be due to the Group if the holder of the loan
commitment draws down on the loan and (ii) the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted where the effect of
discounting is material. The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of the
items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group will account for expected credit losses within the next
12 months as Stage 1 when those financial instruments are initially
recognised; and to recognise lifetime expected credit losses as Stage
2 when there has been significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition. Lifetime expected credit losses will be recognised
for credit-impaired financial instruments as Stage 3 if one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred and interest will then be
accrued net of the impairment amount of the respective Stage 3
financial assets.

The Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the group to actions such as realising security
(if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
(including a loan commitment) has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. The Group takes into account
following information, including but not limited to:

past due information;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instrument'’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the borrower; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the borrower’s ability to meet its obligation
to the group.

For loan commitments, the date of initial recognition for the
purpose of assessing ECLs is considered to be the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition of a loan commitment, the group considers
changes in the risk of default occurring on the loan to which the
loan commitment relates.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income, for which the loss allowance
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
fair value reserve.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2.7 is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related
allowance for impairment losses. Such loans are written off after all
the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of
the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off decrease the amount of impairment losses in
the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of allowance for impairment
losses decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised
impairment loss to the extent of its decrease is reversed by adjusting
the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in
the income statement.

Loans whose terms have been renegotiated with substantial
difference in the terms are no longer considered to be past due but
are treated as new loans.

2.15 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries and
non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Potential indications of impairment may include
significant adverse changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment in which the assets operate or whether there
has been a significant or prolonged decline in value below their cost.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.15 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries and
non-financial assets (Cont'd)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Assets that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

In the Bank's balance sheet, impairment testing of the investment
in a subsidiary is also required upon receiving dividend from that
entity if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
that entity concerned in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of that entity in the Bank’s balance sheet exceeds
the carrying amount of that entity’s net assets including goodwill in
its consolidated balance sheet.

2.16 Investment properties

Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the companies in
the Group, are classified as investment properties. Properties leased
out within Group companies are classified as investment properties
in individual companies’ financial statements and as premises in
consolidated financial statements. Land held under operating lease is
classified and accounted for as investment property when the rest of
the definition of investment property is met. The operating lease is
accounted for as if it is a finance lease.

Investment properties are recognised initially at cost, including

related transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.16 Investment properties (Cont'd)

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The item is stated at cost less impairment and is
included in the carrying amount of investment properties. Once the
item begins to generate economic benefits, it is then measured at
fair value. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in
the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Any changes in fair value are recognised directly in the income
statement.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as premises, and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes
its cost for accounting purposes. If an item of premises becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, any difference
resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this
item at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income as a revaluation of premises under HKAS 16 “Property, Plant
and Equipment”. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous
revaluation loss or impairment loss, the gain is recognised in the
income statement up to the amount previously debited.

2.17 Properties, plant and equipment

Properties are mainly branches and office premises. Premises are
shown at fair value based on periodic, at least annually, valuations
by external independent valuers less subsequent accumulated
depreciation. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the
asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the
asset. In the intervening periods, the directors review the carrying
amount of premises, by reference to the open market value of
similar properties, and adjustments are made when there has been a
material change.

All plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition and installation of the items.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.17 Properties, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount or
are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The item is stated at cost until it begins to generate economic
benefits, then the item is subsequently measured according to the
measurement basis of its respective assets class. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of premises
are credited to the premises revaluation reserve through other
comprehensive income. Decreases that offset previous increases of
the same individual asset are charged against premises revaluation
reserve through other comprehensive income; all other decreases
are expensed in the income statement. Any subsequent increases
are credited to the income statement up to the amount previously
debited, and then to the premises revaluation reserve. Upon disposal
of premises, the relevant portion of the premises revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is released and transferred
from the premises revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down
the cost or revalued amount of such assets over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

o Properties Over the life of government land
leases
o Plant and equipment 2 to 15 years

The useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
as at the end of each reporting period.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.17 Properties, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

At the end of each reporting period, both internal and external
sources of information are considered to determine whether there
is any indication that properties, plant and equipment, are impaired.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is recognised
to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount. Such an impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement except where the asset
is carried at valuation and the impairment loss does not exceed the
revaluation surplus for that same asset, in which case it is treated as
a revaluation decrease. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Impairment loss
is reversed through the premises revaluation reserve or the income
statement as appropriate.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount, relevant taxes and expenses. These are
recognised in the income statement.

2.18 Leases
(1) Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. The total payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period
has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by
way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which
termination takes place. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.18 Leases (Cont'd)
2) Finance leases

Leases of assets where lessee have obtained substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Government land leases in Hong Kong are classified as finance leases
as the present value of the minimum lease payments (i.e. transaction
price) of the land amounted to substantially all of the fair value of
the land as if it were freehold.

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the
lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other liabilities.
Investment properties acquired under finance leases are carried at
their fair value.

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value
of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. Lease income is
recognised over the term of the lease using net investment method,
which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise balances with original maturity less than
three months from the date of acquisition, including cash, balances
with banks and other financial institutions, short-term bills and notes
classified as investment securities.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.21 Employee benefits
(1) Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
under either recognised ORSO schemes or MPF schemes that are
available to the Group’s employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries for the ORSO schemes and in accordance
with the MPF rules for MPF schemes. The retirement benefit scheme
costs are charged to the income statement as incurred and represent
contributions payable by the Group to the schemes. Contributions
made by the Group that are forfeited by those employees who leave
the ORSO scheme prior to the full vesting of their entitlement to the
contributions are used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions or to meet its expenses under the trust deed of the
ORSO schemes.

The assets of the schemes are held in independently-administered
funds separate from those of the Group.

2) Leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and sick leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for unused annual leave and the amount of
sick leave expected to be paid as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Compensated absences other than sick leave and special approved
annual leaves are non-accumulating; they lapse if the current
period’s entitlement is not used in full. Except for unexpired annual
leaves, they do not entitle employees to a cash payment for unused
entitlement on leaving the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.21 Employee benefits (Cont'd)
(3) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a liability
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate
of the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plans that are
expected to be settled longer than twelve months will be discounted
if the amounts are significant.

4) Defined benefit plan

The Group operates a defined benefit plan which is unfunded.
The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan
is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation
method.

Remeasurements arising from actuarial gains and losses of the
defined benefit plan, is recognised immediately in the consolidated
balance sheet with a corresponding debit or credit to retained
profits through other comprehensive income in the period in which
they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

o the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the following
changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “interest
expenses” and “operating expenses” in the consolidated income
statement by function:

o service costs comprising current service costs, past service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine

settlements

° net interest expense or income

97

/TN



&

#1795 B % 445 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 &

www.nch.com.hk

/TN

RS HR R Bl X

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. EFESHHEE®)

222 FAERIEFEFTSHIE

EERBRENRGE BB RRERIR - EA
MIAE DERCNEMEEKRENEREMCE2EK
smABRERBIN HARRER AR -

HERENMB N ZAEH RREARITEMEA
AEZERELRRAVBAZ ADAEE RN 5T
FREREATHAERSRNTZERBUATE W
NEEZHERA/RNAMFEHEAEI L -

MERGEMBEREINEERABZMFEREHR
FHECERMEEEMEEAZREMSHBANE
ERBRRABEERE BEMSHASREEER
ERTHERERT2REREVE RIEMRER
BREFSREAEERSIELERSREERBMNE
FrBmZBERtE -

IBERUERRNEEREER FENRELZ
FE URETEEZEM BREAXIAEBEE(LA
Htv2mBRSEZBHREE - BREBAMIN BEE
KABEXH VA HERE  WRAH S ERNER
BEDEREE AEFTHERELMEHIA-

FERERNEREZERMEE ZBLEMSHEE
V& IRHER o B ARK 2 R A B IRAT AT % A (40
RN EREEER B2 RERBRGE R RRE
ARBEER AZSFUENCEREZR BB
RAERBBE R R AERABR B BEMEL 2 BTEM
SR EER 2 AR -

98

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.22 Current and deferred income taxes

Tax expenses for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax
is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law
enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting period
in each jurisdiction where the Bank and the subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income, is recognised as a current income tax
expense in the period in which profits arise.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet
liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from asset impairment
provisions, depreciation of premises and equipment, and revaluation
of certain assets including at fair value through other comprehensive
income securities and premises. However, the deferred income tax
is not recognised if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided in full on all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of any unused
tax credits and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.22 Current and deferred income taxes (Cont'd)

Deferred income tax is charged or credited in the income statement
except for deferred income tax relating to fair value re-measurement
of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
and revaluation of premises which are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income, in which case the deferred income tax is
also credited or charged to other comprehensive income and is
subsequently recognised in the income statement together with the
realisation of the deferred gain and loss.

Deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset arising from investment
property is determined based on the presumption that the
revaluation amount of such investment property will be recovered
through sale with the relevant tax rate applied.

2.23 Repossessed assets

Repossessed assets are initially recognised at the lower of their
fair value less costs to sell and the amortised cost of the related
outstanding loans on the date of repossession, and the related loans
and advances together with the related impairment allowances are
derecognised from the balance sheet. Subsequently, repossessed
assets are measured at the lower of their cost and fair values less
costs to sell and are reported as “non-current assets held for sale”
included in “Other assets”.

2.24 Fiduciary activities

The Group commonly acts as a trustee, or in other fiduciary
capacities, that result in its holding or managing assets on behalf
of individuals, trusts and other institutions. These assets and any
gains or losses arising thereon are excluded from these financial
statements, as they are not assets of the Group.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

2.25 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised as a provision but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable. When the inflow is virtually certain, it will be recognised as
an asset.

2.26 Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered
to be related to the Group if that party (i) controls, jointly controls or
has significant influence over the Group; (ii) is a member of the same
financial reporting group, such as parents, subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries; (iii) is an associate or a joint venture of the Group or
parent reporting group; (iv) is a key management personnel of the
Group or parents; (v) is subject to common control with the Group;
(vi) is an entity in which a person identified in (iv) controls; and (vii)
provides key management personnel services to the Group or its
parent. Related parties may be individuals or entities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Areas susceptible to changes in essential estimates
and judgements, which affect the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, are set out below. The effect of changes to either the
key assumptions or other estimation uncertainties will be presented
below if it is practicable to determine. It is possible that actual results
may require material adjustments to the estimates referred to below.

3.1 Impairment requirements on financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and
collateral values when determining impairment losses and the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates
are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in
different levels of allowances.

The Group's ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a
number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable
inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that
are considered accounting judgements and estimates include:

o The Group's internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs
to the individual grades.

o The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the
qualitative assessment.

o The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is
assessed on a collective basis.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

3.1 Impairment requirements on financial assets

(Cont'd)

o Development of ECL models, including the determination of
macroeconomic scenarios and the effect on PDs, EADs and
LGDs.

o Forward-looking macroeconomic factor forecasts maintain

a consistent Group's view on future macroeconomic
environment.

o Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and
their probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs
into the ECL models.

[t has been the Group's policy to regularly review its models in the
context of actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

3.2 Fair values of derivative financial instruments

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted
in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques.
Valuation techniques used include discounted cash flows analysis
and models with built-in functions available in externally acquired
financial analysis or risk management systems widely used by the
industry such as option pricing models. To the extent practical, the
models use observable data. In addition, valuation adjustments
may be adopted if factors such as credit risk are not considered
in the valuation models. Management judgement and estimates
are required for the selection of appropriate valuation parameters,
assumptions and modeling techniques. Further details will be
discussed in Note 6.

Carrying amounts of derivative financial instruments as at 31
December 2018 are shown in Note 22.
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3. FERHESHEEBZEAS:HEST 3.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

B & @) AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
33 EIZEHREEE 3.3 Deferred tax assets

BAREREOBEEEMBER CELEHIBEE  JIATE Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses are recognised to the extent

Al E R ER I EBE 2 EREURN B AR - that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which

ETEERELEENBRRSE FETEEELER the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is

FIE - BIRER R IR A 0] 88 A FE R B m ) &9 fE required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be

REGHE- recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits.

BEARERANBESEEABRRENEEE TE TR E Deferred tax assets on unused tax credits are recognised. Significant

RBEERIBEEENSBR  STRBEHERNTKG management judgement is required to determine the amount

e zhMERKOLEERRZELEHRIBEENT of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the

BE 1% i VE B B KA & &t I - estimation of available tax credits and the possibility to recover such
deferred tax assets recognised.
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4.

TRANSITION DISCLOSURES

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HKAS 39 to
the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018 is, as

s 8 follows:
B E
Remeasurement
ENAE AT
EBEERE3E Re- BHEL Hitt BEMBREERENR
HKAS 39 classification ECL Other HKFRS 9
32 28 BETT BT BT BETT BETT 28
Ref Category HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Category
CRMEEEE Financial assets
EFREREMRITR  Cash and balances with
HismlEngs banks and other financial
institutions L&R 67,735,761 - (191) - 67,735,570 AC
EBRTREMERME  Placements with banks and
—Z+-EAREZHZ  other finandial institutions
EHER maturing between one and
twelve months L&R 6,114,423 - (1,169) - 6,113,254 AC
DA R AR 2 Financial investments at AC
SRBE - - _ _
HERRE From: Financial
—-HAEZHHA investments — HTM A - 3,457,187 (931) - 3,456,256
HEREE From: Financial
— B RIEWHK investments - L&R A - 3,753,086 (88,696) - 3,664,390
- 7,210,273 (89,627) - 7,120,646 AC
ENREMEER Advances and other accounts 234,696,791 = (732,424) 30,718 233,995,085
ERREEIABEZ To: Finandial assets at FVPL
SREE B - (701,001) - - (701,001)
L&R 234,696,791 (701,001) (732,424) 30,718 233,294,084 AC
Hih&E Other assets L&R 2,808,938 - (610) - 2,808,328 AC
L&R 311,355,913 6,509,272 (824,021) 30,718 317,071,882 AC
DB ANBEZ  Financial assets at FVPL
SREE 4,142,283 - - - 4,142,283
B ERREMEE From: Advances and
other accounts B - 701,001 - (69) 700,932
HERRE- e From: Financial
investments — AFS C - 17,430,518 - (5,875) 17,424,643
FVPL 4,142,283 18,131,519 - (5,944) 22,267,858 FVPL
fTEERMTA Derivative financial instruments FVPL 400,843 = = = 400,843 FVPL
FVPL 4,543,126 18,131,519 - (5,944) 22,668,701 FVPL
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4. TRANSITION DISCLOSURES (Cont'd)

EfGE
Remeasurement
ENNE AT
EBGER 395 Re- BB X Hitt BEMBHREERENR
HKAS 39 classification ECL Other HKFRS 9
B 28 BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT 28
Ref Category HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Category
SRRE-THHE Financial investments — AFS 104,040,627 - - - 104,040,627
ZRREE(LETABR 2 To: Financial assets at FVPL
SREE C - (17,430,518) - - (17,430,518)
EAAEEGE AR To: Debt instruments at FVOCI
PENENEBIA D - (86,594,953) - - (86,594,953)
EAREEGARM  To: Equity instruments at FVOC
2EUKEHRHIA E - (15,156) - - (15,156)
LB YEET /) To: Financial investments at AC
SRBE - - - - -
AFS 104,040,627 (104,040,627) - - -
SBEA-BEEIMA  Financial investments-HTM 3,457,187 = - - 3,457,187
SV YEET /) To: Financial investments at AC
SRRE A - (3457,187) - - (3,457,187)
HTM 3,457,187 (3,457,187) - - -
SRIEE-EFREKF  Financial investments - L&R 3,753,086 - - - 3,753,086
EAnBEE{ETABE 2 To: Finandial assets at AC
SREE A - (3,753,086) - - (3,753,086)
L&R 3,753,086 (3,753,086) - - -
DABEF AR Debt instruments at FVOC|
2ENENEBIA - - - - -
HeRFE-THEE  From: Financial investments
- AFS D - 86,594,953 (23,664) 23,664 86,594,953
- 86,594,953 (23,664) 23,664 86,594,953 FvOCI
ARER AL Equity instruments at FVOCI
2ERENRNHIA - - - - -
HeRZE-THEE  From: Financial investments
- AFS E - 15,156 - - 15,156
- 15,156 - - 15,156 FvOCI
- 86,610,109 (23,664) 23,664 86,610,109 Fvodi
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4, BEHE®

4. TRANSITION

DISCLOSURES (Cont'd)

ENfitE
Remeasurement
ENNE AT
EBGER 395 Re- BHBX Hity ERUBREERFIR
HKAS 39 classification ECL Other HKFRS 9
B 28 BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT 28
Ref Category HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Category
FEREEEE Non-financial assets
BREHEEE Deferred tax assets 222,516 - 222,239 600 445,355
BEAE Total assets 427,372,455 - (625,446) 49,038 426,796,047
cREE Financial liabilities
BAREMEREEZ  Deposits and balances from
FRR#EH banks and other financial
institutions AC 27,735,507 - - - 27,735,507 AC
ZEER Deposits from customers AC 325,415,639 - = - 325,415,639 AC
BRETEBEFRERE  Debt securities and certificates
of deposit in issue AC 6,781,208 - - - 6,781,208 AC
AC 359,932,354 - - - 359,932,354 AC
NAEE(ABEZ  Finandial liabilities at fair value
SRAR through profit or loss FVPL 4,345,543 - - - 4345543 FVPL
TEEBIA Derivative financial instruments FVPL 397,796 - - = 397,796 FVPL
FVPL 4,743,339 - - - 4,743,339 FVPL
FEREE Non-financial liabilities
HiRERER Other accounts and provisions 17,145,204 - 233,551 - 17,378,755
ERHEAR Current tax liabilities 362,383 - - - 362,383
BREHEAR Deferred tax liabilities 789,778 - (34,623) = 755,155
18,297,365 - 198,928 - 18,496,293
BELE Total liabilities 382,973,058 - 198,928 - 383,171,986

106



www.nch.com.hk

#19% A% 4844 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 $R Q%

4.

L&R

AC

FVPL

AFS

HTM

FVOCI

BEWRE (8

© BRREKGR

CBEREKA

C AREEEEF AR

© AMEHE

C BERIHA

C AREEEF AR 2 E R

R2018F1A18  AEEBEREEANIFEEE
HARERRERZNESBRIEETFTEER
RERKEMASSEZF BN FiZLE.
Eilt - AEEEREEAELE T AN A NE
B A ERFEMER T A -

MR2018F1A1H REEBEE HEMBERREE
EEANRAARBERLFABREZEREE
HAAELTARUKBARBRESREMEE
CREEMNEBEATETER

R2018F1AE  AEBEKRAERENEA
LAAREZ(LTABRSz eMEE  BAMNK
TREEAAESRAEMNAESSHE TSN
AR

M2018F 1 A1H « AN & B B ¥ H % A 1% 55 15
BRAHEEER T ANREEDTEIT T T
HeANEENLEHE BLTANKRARR
ERENMHESHEENEREXNPETE
He A AEECKZERESERUR
AERFARMEERENES T

AEBREATA RN 7 K E LA
HENERN TAEERUAR BRI AL
b 2T s B AL T A -

4.

L&R

AC

FVPL

AFS

HTM

FVOCI

A:

RS R Bl 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

TRANSITION DISCLOSURES (Cont'd)

. Loans and receivables

: Amortised cost

. Fair value through profit or loss
: Available-for-sale

. Held-to-maturity

. Fair value through other comprehensive income

As of 1 January 2018, the group did not have any financial
investments that did not meet the Solely Payments of
Principal and Interest (SPPI) criterion within its held-to-
maturity and loans and receivables profolio. Therefore,
it elected to classify all of these instruments as debt
instruments measured at amortised cost.

As of 1 January 2018, the group has classified the
rediscounted bills and forfeiting as financial assets at FVPL,
as these instruments are managed within business model
of collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets.

As of 1 January 2018, the group has classified inter-bank
investment as financial assets measured at FVPL as the
payment did not meet the SPPI criterion.

As of 1 January 2018, the group has assessed its liquidity
profolio which had previously been classified as AFS debt
instruments. The Group concluded that these instruments are
managed within a business model of collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets. Accordingly, the
Group has classified these investments as debt instruments
measured at FVOCI.

The Group has elected the opinion to irrevocably designate

its previous AFS equity instruments as equity instruments at
FVOCI.
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RENBFRIEBEETEMBRELERNEIRZF

4. TRANSITION DISCLOSURES (Cont'd)

The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on reserves and retained

Z2mT: earnings is, as follow:
BET T
HK$°000
AHEERSFAAERE AAEEHE Reserve for fair value changes of available-for-sale
Hih 2wk e securities/through other comprehensive income
201712 A31 B RIBEB B 5128 Closing balance under HKAS 39 at 31 December 2017
SE395% M) FF R A R (413,176)
RN ESRREESNOEEURAAE Reclassification of financial investment from AFS to FVOCI
B ABRRZEREE 23,664
EA F3fiIE B AR ET IR Deferred tax in relation to the above (4,438)
M20185F1 A1 HRBR BB I 15 WS LA Opening balance under HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
SEOSR B F WA R (393,950)
BEZEA Retained earnings
MR2017F12 A31BRIBEBH G 2R Closing balance under HKAS 39 at 31 December 2017
SE395R MV R A R 31,106,620
HEBEREEHRE Transfer from regulatory reserve 186,443
BEEBNBREENFESREN Reclassification adjustments in relation to adopting
DERZAE HKFRS 9 30,718
B AR BT B R AN A R EE LG Re-measurement impact of reclassifying financial assets
AERZeRIEEENTENTE held at amortised cost to FVPL (69)
HAHEESRIEEZENAREEZ L Financial investment from AFS to FVPL
SAABRTREE (5,875)
BEBEBNBEREERFSSFETHERN Recognition of HKFRS 9 ECLs including those
AIMEMETRERE R (BN A AE measured at FVOCI
B AEMEmE) (1,081,236)
ER_F3ftIE B MR IR LTI Deferred tax in relation to the above 261,900
M2018F1 A1 B IRIZE B W %53 & £ A Opening balance under HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
SEOSR M F VA R 30,498,501
EERE Regulatory reserve
R2017F 12 A31BRER S G T 2R Closing balance under HKAS 39 at 31 December 2017
SE39SR AV R AR 2,529,788
ERERERN Transfer to retained earnings (186,443)
M20185F1 A1 BB BEBE RIS WS LA Opening balance under HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
SEOSR A F WA R 2,343,345
EAEBMBEREERNFESE 2 EZESEHEE Total change in equity due to adopting HKFRS 9 (775,336)
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4. TRANSITION DISCLOSURES (Cont'd)

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening loan loss
provision allowances under HKAS 39 and provisions for loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets to

the ECL allowances under HKFRS 9.

H2017F
12A31H
BREEEE T H20185
#8539, /375 1818
BRERERE REEBHE
Loan loss BEEREHR
provision Z Al
under EMESEX
HKAS 39/ ECLs under
HKAS 37 HKFRS 9
at at
31 December E 1 January
2017 Remeasurement 2018
BETT BETT BETT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
REUREEEZ Impairment allowance for
RIBEBE B G TR 5395 1) B &% FE K Loans and receivables and held to maturity
FNFERINHANESRMEE RIE financial assets per HKAS 39/ financial
78 B TS R A 2RI B OS5 LA SR AR AN 1 financial assets at amortised cost under
AENEREE HKFRS 9 2,060,230 824,021 2,884,251
RIEEB G ERE395 /0 A 1 &S /Y AFS financial investment per HKAS 39/
SRIRE RIBERBIM I REERE financial investment at FVOC| under
FEARAER AR MEAREZ HKFRS 9
TRIRE - 23,664 23,664
2,060,230 847,685 2,907,915
B SRR Financial guarantees = 200,210 200,210
BHRE Loan commitments - 33,341 33,341
H At A A Other commitments 10,190 - 10,190
10,190 233,551 243,741
2,070,420 1,081,236 3,151,656
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks as a result of engaging in a
variety of business activities. The principal financial risks are credit
risk, market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk)
and liquidity risk. This note summarises the Group’s exposures to
these risks, as well as its objectives, risk management governance
structure, policies and processes for managing and the methods used
to measure these risks.

Financial risk management framework

The Group's risk management governance structure is designed to
cover all business processes and ensure various risks are properly
managed and controlled in the course of conducting business.
The Group has a robust risk management organisational structure
with a comprehensive set of policies and procedures to identify,
measure, monitor and control various risks that may arise. These
risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to reflect changes in markets and business strategies.
Various groups of risk takers assume their respective responsibilities
for risk management.

The Board of Directors, representing the interests of shareholders,
is the highest decision-making authority of the Group and has the
ultimate responsibility for risk management. The Board, with the
assistance of its committees, has the primary responsibility for the
formulation of risk management strategies, establishing a sound
risk culture and ensuring that the Group has an effective risk
management system to implement these strategies.

The Risk Management Committee, a standing committee established
by the Board of Directors, is responsible for overseeing the
Group's various types of risks, reviewing and approving high-level
risk management policies and monitoring their implementation,
recommending senior risk management organisational framework
to the Board, including credit approval authority for the Chief
Executive and scope of credit approval for the Credit Approval
Committee. The Risk Management Committee would refer any
specific transaction to the Board if it is deemed so significant that
Board approval is desirable. The Risk Management Committee, from
the risk management viewpoint assesses whether incentives created
by the remuneration system are aligned with the risk culture and risk
appetite, and whether remuneration awards appropriately reflect the
level of risk-taking and consequences. It also assists to fostering a
strong risk culture within the Group. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its role in overseeing the internal control system.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Financial risk management framework (Cont'd)

The Credit Approval Committee is responsible for reviewing or
approving credit business or credit management related matters
within the authorisation granted by the Board of Directors,
monitoring the credit activities of the Group and reporting to the
Risk Management Committee regularly. The Chief Executive is
responsible for organising and implementing the risk management
strategies and objectives established by the Board of Directors,
managing various risks and approving significant risk exposures
or transactions within the authorisation granted by the Board of
Directors.

Various units of the Group have their respective risk management
responsibilities. Business units act as the first line of defence
while risk management units, which are independent from the
business units, are responsible for the day-to-day management of
different kinds of risks. Risk management units have the primary
responsibilities for drafting, reviewing and updating various risk
management policies and procedures.

The Group has put in place appropriate internal control systems,
including establishment of an organisational structure that sets clear
lines of authority and responsibility for monitoring compliance with
policies, procedures and limits. Proper reporting lines also provide
sufficient independence of the control functions from the business
areas, as well as adequate segregation of duties throughout the
organisation which helps to promote an appropriate internal control
environment.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
Product development and risk monitoring

To ensure the effectiveness of risk assessment and monitoring,
the Group has a comprehensive product development and risk
monitoring system where roles and responsibilities of all related units
are clearly defined and proper due diligence processes on product
development are in place.

In accordance with the strategic objectives set by the Board and the
Management, respective product management units are responsible
for formulating business and product development plans, and
proceeding to specific product development activities. The strategic
development unit shall ensure the plans are aligned with the Group's
overall strategies. Units that are responsible for risk management,
legal, compliance and finance, etc. are accountable for risk
assessment and review.

Apart from product development, respective product management
units work closely with relevant risk evaluating units to identify
and assess the risks of new products. Risk evaluating units conduct
independent review on the risk assessment results and the
corresponding risk management measures. Products can only be
launched upon completion of the product due diligence process to
the satisfaction of all risk evaluating units.

A prudent approach is adopted in offering treasury products to
our customers. All new treasury products require approval from a
specialised committee before launching.

5.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a customer or counterparty is
unable to or unwilling to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk
exists in the trading book and banking book, as well as from on— and
off-balance sheet transactions of the Group. It arises principally from
lending, trade finance and treasury businesses.



www.nch.com.hk

#19% A% 4844 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 $R Q%

5. SEEARERE(®
51 EERKE (&)

FE R EELEE
REEHE T — Ei@é’ﬂm,\ %‘ﬁﬂl“iﬁiﬁf
e EERRREE  BUEERIEREERMRE -

AEEEREREERASHERREREER
R AEA ISR R A .

AEENABRBEE T AENKERBE  UAEE

BB EFREENBR-

FEEEEZEeRHRIRERUNEEZES B
ERECERREERBEBREERR RNER
AEBEEHESG FEEEER AREFEE X
SENTREMCAEEEEENEERRBRERS (-
X EAZR ﬁ”ﬁﬁﬂ’]% B &R - I—L,ﬂﬁafiﬁh?ﬁ

YREKEN BEEERRMNAEERE HEER
RERR - B - 5T Eﬁﬂ B $R ANz %‘JLTTﬁiB’]
ERPE ERAEXNGIOETE URER BT
MEFEERREEBRARF YREEERER
g AR AReE FEENZESREAREEZ
BEWE -

\

MABERT (PBEDAR2B(EE (RE) &
BEMRRREZEER ﬁ*%“ ZE ﬁ*ﬁ%@'l%%'jﬁ
EHRARITRZEE(E

RS R Bl 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Credit risk management framework

The Group has formulated a comprehensive set of credit risk
management policies and procedures, and appropriate credit risk
limits to manage and control credit risk that may arise. These
policies, procedures and credit risk limits are regularly reviewed and
updated to cope with changes in market conditions and business
strategies.

The Group’s organisational structure establishes a clear set of
authority and responsibility for monitoring compliance with policies,
procedures and limits.

The Credit and Loans Management Committee, a management
committee authorised by the Chief Executive, is responsible for the
implementation of the credit risk management strategies as well
as the approval of credit policies. It also monitors the Group's loan
portfolio, quality of credit asset and risk concentration level. Different
units of the Group have their respective credit risk management
responsibilities. Business units act as the first line of defence. The risk
management units, which are independent from the business units,
are responsible for the day-to-day management of credit risks and
have the primary responsibilities for providing an independent due
diligence through identifying, measuring, evaluating, monitoring,
reporting and controlling credit risk to ensure an effective checks
and balances, as well as drafting, reviewing and updating credit risk
management policies and procedures. They report directly to the
Credit and Loans Management Committee, Chief Executive, Chief
Risk Officer, Credit Approval Committee and Risk Management
Committee.

Nanyang Commercial Bank (China), Limited (“NCB (China)") sets
up independent risk monitoring teams to monitor credit risk, and
submits management information and reports to the Bank on a
regular basis.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Credit risk management framework (Cont’d)

The Board of Directors is the ultimate source of credit authority. The
Board of Directors delegates credit approval authority to the Credit
Approval Committee and the Chief Executive. Based on management
needs, the Chief Executive can further delegate to the credit-related
subordinates within the limit authorised by the Board of Directors.
The Group sets the limits of credit approval authority according to
the credit business nature, rating, the level of transaction risk, and
the size of the credit exposure.

Credit risk measurement and control

In view of the rapidly changing market conditions, the Group has
been continuously revising its credit strategies and conducting
rigorous reviews on the concerned portfolios.

Advances

Different credit approval and control procedures are adopted
according to the level of risk associated with the customer,
counterparty or transaction. All credit applications are subject
to thorough risk assessment and proper approval. In general,
most of the credit applications will be reviewed and assessed by
independent officer(s) of risk management unit(s) before approval,
with exceptions given to designated advances which satisfy certain
conditions. After funding being drawn, these designated advances
will be (randomly) reviewed by designated unit(s) which is(are)
independent from the front line business units. Obligor ratings
(in terms of probability of default) and facility ratings (in terms of
loss given default) are assigned to credit applications for non-retail
exposures to support credit approval. Retail internal rating systems
are deployed in the risk assessment of retail credit transactions,
including small business retail exposures, residential mortgage loans,
personal loans, etc. Loan grades, obligor and facility ratings as well
as loss estimates (if applicable) are used to support credit approval.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

Credit risk measurement and control (Cont’d)

Advances (Cont’d)

The Group also uses loan grades, obligor ratings and loss estimates
(if applicable) to support monitoring, reporting and analysis of credit
risk. For non-retail exposures, more frequent rating review and
closer monitoring are required for higher-risk customers. For retail
exposures, monthly updated internal ratings and loss estimates are
used for credit monitoring on a portfolio basis. More comprehensive
review is required for obligors being identified under high-risk pools.

The Group employs an internal master rating scale that can be
mapped to Standard & Poor’s external credit ratings. The structure
of internal master rating scale is in compliance with the requirement
of the Banking (Capital) Rules under the Hong Kong Banking
Ordinance.

Regular or ad hoc credit risk management information reports are
provided to the Management, Credit Approval Committee, Risk
Management Committee and the Board of Directors to facilitate their
continuous monitoring of credit risk.

In addition, the Group identifies credit concentration risk by industry,
geography, customer and counterparty. The Group monitors
changes in counterparty credit risk, quality of the credit portfolio
and credit risk concentrations, and reports regularly to the Group's
Management.

The Group adopts loan grading criteria which divides credit assets
into five categories with reference to the HKMA's guidelines, as
below:

“Pass” represents loans where the borrower is in current meeting its

repayment obligations and full repayment of interest and principal is
not in doubt.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

Credit risk measurement and control (Cont’d)

Advances (Cont’d)

“Special Mention” represents loans where the borrower is
experiencing difficulties which may threaten the Group’s position.
Ultimate loss is not expected at this stage but could occur if adverse
conditions persist.

“Substandard”
definable weakness that is likely to jeopardise repayment.

represents loans where the borrower displays a

“Doubtful” represents loans where collection in full is improbable
and the Group expects to sustain a loss of principal and/or interest,
taking into account the net realisable value of the collateral.

“Loss” represents loans which are considered uncollectible after
all collection options (such as the realisation of collateral or the
institution of legal proceedings) have been exhausted.

Debt securities and derivatives

For investments in debt securities, the obligor ratings or external
credit ratings, assessment of the underlying assets and credit limits
setting on customer/security issuer basis are used for managing
credit risk associated with the investment. For derivatives, the Group
sets customer limits to manage the credit risk involved and follows
the same approval and control processes as applied for advances.
On-going monitoring and stop-loss procedures are established.

Settlement risk arises mainly from foreign exchange transactions
with counterparties and also from derivatives transactions in any
situation where a payment in cash, securities or equities is made in
the failure of a corresponding receipt in cash, securities or equities.
Daily settlement limits are established for each counterparty or
customer to cover all settlement risk arising from the Group’s market
transactions on any single day.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements

The valuation and management of collateral have been documented
in the credit risk management policies and procedures which cover
acceptance criteria, validity of collateral, loan-to-value ratio, haircut
ratio, valuation and insurance, etc. The collateral is revalued on a
regular basis, though the frequency and the method used varies with
the type of collateral involved and the nature and the risk of the
underlying credit. The Group has established a mechanism to update
the value of its main type of collateral, real estate properties, with
the use of public indices on a portfolio basis. Collateral is insured
with the Group as the primary beneficiary.

For loans guaranteed by a third party, the Group will assess the
guarantor’s financial condition, credit history and ability to meet
obligations.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not hold any collateral that
it was permitted to sell or re-pledge in the absence of default by the
borrower (2017: Nil).

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) Methodology

HKFRS 9 introduces a new impairment model that requires the
recognition of ECL for financial instrument held at amortized cost
and fair value through other comprehensive income. Under HKFRS
9, ECL is assessed in three stages and the financial assets and
commitments are classified in one of the three stages.

Stage 1: if the financial instrument is not credit-impaired upon
origination and the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance is
measured at an amount up to 12-month ECL;

Stage 2: if the financial instrument is not credit-impaired upon
origination but the credit risk on the financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL;

Stage 3: if the financial instrument is credit-impaired, with one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred, the loss allowance is
also measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) Methodology (Cont’d)

The Group leverages the parameters implemented under Internal
Ratings-Based (“IRB”) models and internal models where feasible
and available to assess ECL. For the portfolios without models, all
other reasonable and supportable information such as historical
information, relevant loss experience or proxies are utilized. The
measurement of ECL is the product of the financial instrument’s
probability of default (“PD"), loss given default (“LGD") and
exposures at default (“EAD") discounted at the effective interest rate
to the reporting date.

ECL is measured at an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The Group adopts three economic scenarios
in the ECL measurement to meet the requirements of HKFRS 9. The
“Base case” scenario represents a most likely outcome and the other
two scenarios, referred to as “Upside” scenario and “Downside”
scenario, represent less likely outcomes which are more optimistic or
more pessimistic compared to Base case scenario.

The Base case scenario is made reference to macroeconomics
forecast subscribed from external economic research agency. For the
Upside scenario and Downside scenarios, the Group makes reference
to the historical macroeconomics data.

The macroeconomic factors in the major operate countries/regions
such as HK GDP growth rate, HK Inflation, HK unemployment
rate, HK Property price growth, China GDP growth rate and China
unemployment rate are applied in the economic scenarios. These
macroeconomic factors are considered to be important to the
Group's ECL in statistical analysis and business opinion.

The probability assigned for each scenario reflects the Group's view
for the economic environment, which implements the Group's
prudent and consistent credit strategy of ensuring the adequacy
of impairment allowance. A higher probability is assigned to the
Base case scenario to reflect the most likely outcome and a lower
probability is assigned to the Upside and Downside scenarios to
reflect the less likely outcomes. The probabilities assigned are
updated each quarter.
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5. SREREE (&) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 &=k (&) 5.1  Credit risk (Cont'd)

TR B a1 E 5% (4E) Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) Methodology (Cont'd)
?EHEPFHTESEE%JF 45 %5 B R M SRR B AL The ECL methodology has been validated by independent Model
BEITKRBEEZESHE- EREAREERE Validation Unit and approved by the Risk Management Committee.
REMEHERBEROE k- The Management is responsible to review model performance and

changes in ECL.

RTERTERMEAEREN  NEBEINE =5 RRER To ensure completeness and accuracy, the Group obtains the data

RIS - Wi B A S B T8 2 (=5 R 1B R I AL A ) A E7E used from third party sources and verifies the accuracy of inputs

M EEEEAHARSBIERNES- to the Group’s ECL models including determining the weights
attributable to the multiple scenarios.

2018512 A31 Bz M B H 11 %I R #Y 15 B & g 40 Summary of credit risk by stage distribution at 31 December 2018 is,

S 8 as follows:
REAE
Gross carrying amount
FHRER
ROR
Hit e mgs
iofed o]
Balances and
placements ERRK
with bank HibBRg
and other Advances and SRRE BHEER ENARE
financial other Financial HittEE Financial Loan am
institutions accounts  investments Other assets  guarantees commitments Total

BETT BETR BETR BETT BETR BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ERl Stage 1 74,249,742 252,112,341 118,184,085 2,282,875 28,641,979 89,274,130 564,745,152
R Stage 2 = 2,106,142 = 311 3,724 228,229 2,338,406
=R Stage 3 = 1,609,985 = 2,748 = - 1,612,733
ek Total 74,249,742 255,828,468 118,184,085 2285934 28645703 89,502,359 568,696,291
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
The internal rating and PD estimation process

The Group leverages the internal rating models where possible, with
adjustments to incorporate forward looking information and the
HKFRS 9 stage classification of the exposure to determine the PDs
for HKFRS 9 ECL calculations. This is repeated for each economic
scenario as appropriate. The Group uses various internal rating
models for its key portfolios in which its wholesale customers or
retail accounts are rated or assigned to specific internal grades or risk
pools. The internal rating models incorporate both qualitative and
quantitative information and, in addition to information specific to
the borrower, utilise supplemental information such as borrower’s/
account’s behaviour.

Wholesale lending

For wholesale lending, the repayment ability of borrowers are
assessed by designated divisions of the Group. The credit risk
assessment is based on a credit rating model that takes into account
various financial information and qualitative information (such as
management quality, industry risks, group connection, negative
warning signals).

Retail lending

Retail lending comprises personal loans, overdrafts and retail
mortgages. These products along with and some of the less complex
small business lending are rated by automated scorecards or
statistical PD models.
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5. EHMmEAKRER (&) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 EERKE (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

RIBBFTAR FIE FI BB 15 E B (48
AT B 15 B AFAR

The internal rating and PD estimation process (Cont’d)

The Bank's internal credit rating grades

HBER ZEER

Wholesale lending Retail lending
1218 A
1218 B BERAAZE
BEREN mEEHN
HEM HAEY% HAEY%
EEFTR AIBEEFTR  12-month Basel RIBEEFTR  12-month Basel
External Internal probability of Internal Probability
ATRER Rating Definition credit rating credit rating default % credit rating weighted
iyl Extremely low default risk AAA to AA- 1102 0.000 - 0.045 1102 0.000 - 0.045
REDER Low default risk A+ to A- 3 0.045-0.110 3 0.045-0.110
RIKE XK Relatively low default risk BBB+ to BBB- 4 0.110 - 0.450 4 0.110 - 0.450
REEORR Medium default risk BB+ to BB- 5 0450 -2.320 5 0.450 - 2.320
BEZRFEDER Significant to very high default risk B+ to B- 6 2.320-15.900 6  2.320-15.900
BEeENAR Very high default risk CCCtoC 7 15.900 - 100.000 7 15.900 - 100.000
EH Default Default 8 100.000 8 100.000

(A EERBFEE

AEEZRSEERRAEZRZ BEMMER MK
Hiph FEEREGENSEARBAEZ HREERER
NEE RoEERRAERSENEREE - S106H
HERE FaEERRAERFERAZRKAEH
RBENEBNERS TR HREFREREMEE
FHEE RREERBRAERREARNEE-

AT RAFERDREGREEEGREOMEE RE
HAGBERBEREENES

RE-

FEERTT R B M T B 18 A0 43 o0 R E R 17 1K

ZRIXGHFOME —REV/ERBRALE-
=R ranit FEES KA -

(A) Credit exposures

The maximum credit exposure is the worst case scenario of exposure
to the Group without taking into account any collateral held or other
credit enhancements. For on-balance sheet assets, the maximum
exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount. For letters
of guarantee issued, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
maximum amount that the Group could be required to pay if the
guarantees are called upon. For loan commitment and other credit
related liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full
amount of the committed facilities.

The nature of the collateral held and other credit enhancements and
their financial effect to the different classes of the Group’s financial
assets are as follows.

Balances and placements with banks and other financial
institutions

These exposures are generally considered to be low risk due to the
nature of the counterparties. Collateral is generally not sought on
these assets.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(A) Credit exposures (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial
investments

Collateral is generally not sought on debt securities.

Derivative financial instruments

The Master Agreement published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA Master Agreement”) is the
preferred agreement for documenting derivatives activities of the
Group. It provides the contractual framework under which dealing
activities of over-the-counter (“OTC") derivative transactions
are conducted, and sets out close-out netting provisions upon
termination following the occurrence of an event of default or a
termination event. In addition, if deemed necessary, Credit Support
Annex (“CSA") will be included to form part of the Schedule to the
ISDA Master Agreement. Under a CSA, collateral is passed from one
counterparty to another, as appropriate, to mitigate the exposures.

Advances and other accounts, contingent liabilities and
commitments

The general types of collateral are disclosed on page 117. Advances
and other accounts, contingent liabilities and commitments are
collateralised to the extent considered appropriate by the Group
taking account of the risk assessment of individual exposures. The
collateral coverage of advances to customers is analysed on pages
132 to 135. The components and nature of contingent liabilities and
commitments are disclosed in Note 36. Regarding the commitments
that are unconditionally cancellable without prior notice, the Group
would assess the necessity to withdraw the credit line in case
where the credit quality of a borrower deteriorates. For contingent
liabilities and commitments, 21.08% (2017: 14.48%) was covered
by collateral as at 31 December 2018.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cCont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) Gross advances and other accounts

Gross advances and other accounts before impairment allowances
are summarised by product type as follows:

2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
ZEFPER Advances to customers
& A Personal
— 1218 — Mortgages 26,727,800 27,521,697
=R+ — Credit cards 143,476 253,087
—Hth — Others 17,535,152 13,921,666
NG Corporate
—BEER — Commercial loans 199,824,977 185,746,630
—EB5mE — Trade finance 10,761,518 7,764,256
254,992,923 235,207,336
BESER Trade bills 835,545 1,526,269

255,828,468 236,733,605

FRBIPRAZER BEEASRMECABARMDAK
BE ADIERHENR - AT MEEZENR &
H—XyMERCBHRNAEE  AFIERHR
B AAMEEZ ERE D ABRAXEETEA
BRERARRERENR  HER—FBLERAESR
R EE R FIEB R IE

ERL - HIASZHREMERENRERASREET
NOFE FRERESRAEERERE FERE
RIEWET RE =R - IR Z AR AEBBIORIA
Ltaf HERATEBELBINAEEBNEY
AEERBREERRMEER

Advances with a specific repayment date are classified as overdue
when the principal or interest is past due and remains unpaid.
Advances repayable by regular instalments are classified as overdue
when an instalment payment is past due and remains unpaid.
Advances repayable on demand are classified as overdue either
when a demand for repayment has been served on the borrower but
repayment has not been made in accordance with the instruction or
when the advances have continuously exceeded the approved limit
that was advised to the borrower.

Advances are credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows have
occurred. Credit-impaired advances are classified as Stage 3. The
Group identifies the advances as impaired if the exposure is past due
for more than 90 days or the borrower is unlikely to pay in full for
the credit obligations to the Group
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5. SREAREEw 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 &=k (&) 5.1  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(a)  FERERBEEL (a)  Advances neither overdue nor impaired
FERERGHEFTIZATEERANATLT : Advances that were neither overdue nor impaired are analysed by

internal credit grade as follows:

2018
FEE@IE XRHBUT
& Special Substandard st
Pass mention or below Total

BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

EFEER Advances to customers
BA Personal
— &5 - Mortgages 26,389,202 54,692 - 26,443,894
—(=HF — Credit cards 131,661 17 = 131,678
—Hfh — Others 17,328,912 45,877 - 17,374,789
NS Corporate
—EER — Commercial loans 194,785,212 3,577,656 - 198,362,868
— B o5& — Trade finance 10,673,114 25,782 - 10,698,896
249,308,101 3,704,024 - 253,012,125
B 555 Trade bills 835,545 = = 835,545
250,143,646 3,704,024 - 253,847,670
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5. SREMRERE®) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 fFERRE (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(a) FERER B EH (&) (a) Advances neither overdue nor impaired (Cont’d)
2017
TE@E  ORREAT
A% Special  Substandard #Et
Pass mention or below Total

B¥TTT BT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BEFEER Advances to customers
B@A Personal
— %18 - Mortgages 27,230,431 11,275 10,191 27,251,897
—EAF — Credit cards 235,714 = = 235,714
—H A — Others 13,820,661 17,581 916 13,839,158
NG| Corporate
—BEER — Commercial loans 182,868,355 1,764,807 27,723 184,660,885
—B5/mE — Trade finance 7,652,564 26,793 - 7,679,357
231,807,725 1,820,456 38,830 233,667,011
BZER Trade bills 1,526,269 = = 1,526,269
233,333,994 1,820,456 38,830 235,193,280
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5. SREAREEw 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 &=k (&) 5.1  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(b)  BEEKREHREEX (b)  Advances overdue but not credit-impaired
BEBARERAREERITAET The gross amount of advances overdue but not credit-impaired is

analysed as follows:

2018
318 A BB
BREB 618 A
618 A BREB
BH3E A Overdue 15
HUT for six Overdue B
Overdue months for one BRI1F
for three or less but  year or less Overdue
months over three but over for over et
or less months six months oneyear Total
BET T BETT BET T BETT BET T
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFEXR Advances to customers
A Personal
— 1718 — Mortgages 197,307 = — = 197,307
—fEAR ~ Credit cards 6,708 - - - 6,708
—Hfh ~ Others 117,626 - - - 117,626
NG| Corporate
—BEER — Commercial loans 41,776 = = = 41,776
—-BH5HE ~ Trade finance 7,396 - - - 7,396
370,813 - - - 370,813
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(b) Advances overdue but not credit-impaired (Cont’d)

2017
3MEA BHEIERB
BB 618 A
6fE A BRBRE
EE3E A Overdue 14
FIAT for six Overdue 0 H
Overdue months for one HBiE1E
for three or less but year or less Overdue
months over three but over for over Bt
or less months six months oneyear Total
BT BT BB T BT BB T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEPEMN Advances to customers
A Personal
— %18 - Mortgages 202,253 3,018 4,934 14,051 224,256
—fZRF — Credit cards 10,594 = = = 10,594
—HAth - Others 56,620 1,237 9,302 492 67,651
AA] Corporate
—BEER — Commercial loans 180,321 - = 2,414 182,735
-BomE — Trade finance 14,223 17,371 = = 31,594
464,011 21,626 14,236 16,957 516,830
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5. LREKRER e

51 EERKE (&)

(B) HEFREMKE (F)

(c)  BEEH

EER BB EERIRERBR DTN T :

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(c) Impaired advances

Advances individually identified to be impaired are analysed by
product type as follows:

2018 2017
1 # R
mE &
BB Market BE Market
Gross value of Gross value of
advances collateral advances collateral
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EFER Advances to customers
fEA Personal
— 1215 — Mortgages 86,599 316,160 45,544 46,557
—fERAR — Credit cards 5,090 - 6,779 -
—HAh — Others 42,737 93,288 14,857 11,381
yNG] Corporate
—EHEER — Commercial loans 1,420,333 245,568 903,010 74,537
—EB5mE — Trade finance 55,226 - 53,305 =
1,609,985 655,016 1,023,495 132,475
FE=FRER 2 REERE Impairment allowances — Stage 3 1,256,272 =
FEMEFRIELR ZRE%EME  Impairment allowances made in
respect of such advances - 819,992
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5. SREMRERE®) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 fEERE (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(0  REEN(E) () Impaired advances (Cont'd)
2018 2017

BETRT ABTET
HK$'000 HK$'000

R EREERREEDN Current market value of collateral held against the

BEEERZEARME covered portion of such advances to customers 655,016 132,475
L BEERREBECEPERK Covered portion of such advances to customers 191,019 118,175
LHORBEERRBEECRFPER Uncovered portion of such advances to customers 1,418,966 905,320
BEEHEEER LABERZERREE- The impairment allowances were made after taking into account the

value of collateral in respect of such advances.

MR2018F 128318 R AREBEZE S EE (20174F ¢ As at 31 December 2018, there were no impaired trade bills (2017:

&) Nil).

BFEABEIREZEPERINET Classified or impaired advances to customers are analysed as follows:
2018 2017

BETRT  AETET
HK$'000 HK$'000

BESHIRELRFPERERE Gross classified or impaired advances to customers 1,609,985 1,129,546
HESHIRELTF ERERY Gross classified or impaired advances to customers as a
EEERMBELE percentage of gross advances to customers 0.63% 0.48%
FE=MBERZBEEE Impairment allowances — Stage 3 1,256,272 =
#EAE FAEERIRT 2 B E 2L Individually assessed impairment allowances made in
respect of such advances - 819,789
BEsBERECEFPFEREERASEEEREE Classified or impaired advances to customers represent advances
DEO RG] TREI S EE] - F =[RS ER which are either classified as “substandard”, “doubtful” or “loss”
FHEARERNERK- under the Group's classification of loan quality, classified as Stage 3

or individually assessed to be impaired.
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5. REMRERE @) 5.
51 fEERE (&) 5.1
B) HBEXRAMEE (&) (B)
(d)  BEIEA3MEAZ B* (d)

BHEEEAA CEREEIMMT :

is analysed as follows:

2018
HEFEM
BEETHE
% of gross

£ % advances to

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Credit risk (Cont'd)
Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
Advances overdue for more than three months

The gross amount of advances overdue for more than three months

2017
HEEFPER
BEADL

% of gross
&% advances to

Amount customers Amount customers
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
XEERETE . BEaf: Gross advances to customers which
have been overdue for:
—H3@31E AETE@6ME A~ six months or less but
over three months 349,868 0.14% 157,953 0.07%
—HiE6ME B THBIF - one year or less but
over six months 43,151 0.01% 321,281 0.13%
—BiIB1F — over one year 609,170 0.24% 583,352 0.25%
mEEEIMEA ZER Advances overdue for
over three months 1,002,189 0.39% 1,062,586 0.45%
FE=IBER 2B EEE Impairment allowances — Stage 3 889,451 =
M EFE@BIFT 2 Individually assessed impairment
DERIEREL allowances made in respect of
such advances - 805,993
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cCont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(d) Advances overdue for more than three months (Cont’d)

2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000

HEMBERARBENEFERZ Current market value of collateral held against the
EHRmmE covered portion of such advances to customers 563,644 287,524
LM EERRBECRFER Covered portion of such advances to customers 168,371 170,879
LHORBEERRBEECRFPER Uncovered portion of such advances to customers 833,818 891,707

BHMERRREERNERREIERERFAREP
BTHRRAEENBEMREEET BEAREFET
MEERIBYE -

R2018F12A31H R EBBAIEA 2 EHEE
(20174 - 4&) -

Collateral held against overdue or impaired loans is principally
represented by charges over business assets such as commercial
and residential premises for corporate loans and mortgages over
residential properties for personal loans.

As at 31 December 2018, there were no trade bills overdue for more
than three months (2017: Nil).

(e) AREHE (e) Rescheduled advances
2018 2017
HEFEER HEEFPER
BEASL BEEH DL
% of gross % of gross
£ % advances to £ % advances to
Amount customers Amount customers
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
KERRFERFHE Rescheduled advances to customers
(BIREEN [#EEE  net of amounts included in
3EACER] D) “Advances overdue for more than
three months” 69,732 0.03% 8,506 0.00%

RERERTIIEE RN E A B R R 2 o B ) 0 28
BRMEETRBEREREN B ZEH - EF&E
FEtER K EAEFMD B REA3MEA - B 2E
EAaREE3EAZER] Ae

Rescheduled advances are those advances that have been
restructured or renegotiated because of deterioration in the financial
position of the borrower or of the inability of the borrower to meet
the original repayment schedule. Rescheduled advances, which
have been overdue for more than three months under the revised
repayment terms, are included in “Advances overdue for more than
three months”.
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5. ©@AEARERE %)

51 EERE(

&)

(B) HEFREMKE (F)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(f) EFEXERE (1) Concentration of advances to customers

(i) RITEN B RFPEREE (i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers

LNTERBEFPERBRE2ITED AN B1TXES The following analysis of the gross advances to customers by industry
%?ﬂ\ﬁEﬁ/\mﬁﬁﬁ’&z%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂiﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁ sector is based on the categories with reference to the completion

instructions for the HKMA return of loans and advances.

2018
F—M
ERREEZ FoERZ
Al E-RBZ L {E
EFEXRHEE % Covered BENE WEEE  Impairment
Gross by collateral A E Impairment  allowances
advances to or other Classified BH  allowances - Stage 1
customers security  or impaired Overdue - Stage 3 and 2

BETR BETL EETR BETL BRETL BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EE/EBFEHAZEFR  Loans for use in

TETEE

—MEER
—MEERE
S
—HERTEX

g
B B R

—REEE

—ARHK
—

132

Hong Kong
Industrial, commercial and
financial
— Property development
— Property investment
— Financial concerns
— Wholesale and
retail trade
— Manufacturing
f5 - Transport and
transport equipment
— Recreational activities
— Information technology
— Others

16,425,685 14.14% = = = 62,386
19,251,492 64.04% 12,012 25,354 9,957 162,857
13,245,309 3.25% = = = 31,188
7,846,831 62.25% 16,686 28,983 8,106 45,292
13,399,696 16.35% 138,898 143,956 128,460 74,815
5,823,094 10.39% 509 961 = 22,138
1,217 76.04% - - — -
4,117,192 1.16% - - - 13,101
20,676,711 49.34% 71,978 86,580 71,978 82,286
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5. SRIEMRERE ®) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 EERKE (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(f) EEEHERE (&) (f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) BITEDE I REFERREE (E) (i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers (Cont'd)
2018
F—H
EHREEZ FRE
BA E=RERZ REEE
EFERBE % Covered RESE WEEE  Impairment
Gross by collateral WA A Impairment  allowances
advances to or other Classified @E  allowances - Stage 1
customers security  or impaired Overdue - Stage 3 and 2

BRI BRI BET BT BET T BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

fEA Individuals
—BEBEEABHE - Loans for the purchase
FTEl FLAMESZ of flats in Home
EEEEIRE Ownership Scheme,
HEEHEEEE Private Sector

FZERK Participation Scheme
and Tenants Purchase
Scheme 236,577 99.60% 289 4,471 - 67
—BEBEHMEEY - Loans for purchase
¥ZER of other residential
properties 12,351,575 99.88% 2,845 113,019 - 4,587
—H Aty — Others 12,153,925 83.15% 5,299 61,525 907 31,142
EBEBFERZ Total loans for use in
B Hong Kong 125,529,304 44.37% 248,516 464,849 219,408 529,859
BHImE Trade finance 10,761,518 21.11% 55,227 58,944 55,227 47,344

HEH/BLAIMERZ  Loans for use outside

B3R Hong Kong 118,702,101 38.10% 1,306,242 863,456 981,637 1,063,999
REERMREE Gross advances to
customers 254,992,923 40.47% 1,609,985 1,387,249 1,256,272 1,641,202
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5. EHERERE 8 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 &=k (&) 5.1  Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(f) EEEHERE (&) (f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) BRITEP B RPERBE (&) (i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers (Cont'd)
2017
ERmBEEL Rl e HETHZ
BAL REEE BELEE
RFEEHEE % Covered HENE Individually ~ Collectively
Gross by collateral ] assessed assessed
advances to or other Classified 8 5 impairment  impairment
customers security or impaired Overdue allowances  allowances
BETT BB BETT BB BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBEFERZEH  Loans for use in
Hong Kong
ITEemE Industrial, commercial and
financial
—MEER — Property development 13,314,714 14.94% = = = 38,388
—MERE — Property investment 11,619,518 91.75% 17,266 13,598 12,958 84,720
— TR — Financial concerns 14,241,301 3.27% - - - 39,958
—RELL — Stockbrokers 235  100.00% - - = 2
—PERTEE — Wholesale and
retail trade 8,933,689 54.41% 64,104 211,546 50,606 47,909
—&8hEx — Manufacturing 11,387,243 19.72% 24,235 29,619 14,885 41,452
— B RERRMHE -~ Transport and
transport equipment 4,472,168 13.74% = 366 = 13,678
—{KEEE — Recreational activities 15,453 6.31% = = = 118
— BB — Information
technology 3,602,709 1.07% = = - 14,047
—HAh — Others 16,785,387 56.65% 150,236 175,532 78,110 82,927
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5. EcHERERE (8 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 FEERE (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(f) EEEHERE (&) (f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) BIT¥EDEZEFEERAR (&) (i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers (Cont'd)
2017
ERREEL ERFEz BEFEZ
BA REEE REEE
RPEX#EE % Covered HENE Individually ~ Collectively
Gross by collateral FRE assessed assessed
advances to or other Classified WE impairment  impairment
customers security or impaired Overdue allowances  allowances
BRI BETT BETT BETT ok BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& A Individuals

—BEFEEAHE - Loans for the
A2 FLAKRE purchase of flats in
Z2EERAEIRX Home Ownership
HEEEEE Scheme, Private

BFZ2EXK Sector Participation
Scheme and Tenants
Purchase Scheme 269,153 100.00% 390 5,784 - 137
—BEEEMEEY - Loans for purchase
¥ZER of other residential
properties 13,108,084 99.90% 5,286 74,123 - 5,730
—Hfth — Others 9,483,433 77.35% 1,903 28,425 = 4,126
ERBERZ Total loans for use in
B Hong Kong 107,233,087 47.64% 263,420 538,993 156,559 373,192
E oA Trade finance 9,538,676 20.30% 94,677 100,438 51,024 61,053

HEEFBLIMER 2 Loans for use outside

BR Hong Kong 118,435,573 34.05% 771,449 888,506 612,206 782,780
ERERER Gross advances to
customers 235,207,336 39.69% 1,129,546 1,527,937 819,789 1,217,025
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5. REMRERE @)

51 FEERE (&)

(B) HEHREMESE ()

H  EBEPEXELE (&)

() BOESPEZRPENAE (&)

RS R BE T RRERE REFHBEFENE
FOREERAT

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)

(i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers (Cont'd)

The amounts of new impairment allowances charged to the income

statement, and classified or impaired loans written off during the

year are shown below:

2018 2017
PEH D HEK
iz WEER i DERIEN=E
WE%H Classified or AR Classified or
New impaired New impaired
impairment loans  impairment loans
allowances written off  allowances written off
BT T BET T BEETIT BEET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEBERAZER Loans for use in Hong Kong
TrertsE Industrial, commercial and financial
—EER — Property development 35,958 = 13,135 =
—MERKRE — Property investment 155,092 = 13,103 =
— G RhE — Financial concerns 23,422 - 34,019 -
—RELL — Stockbrokers - = 1 -
—PERTESE — Wholesale and retail trade 19,952 40,293 3,719 1,268
—REX — Manufacturing 153,896 2,868 4,796 1,508
— B RER R — Transport and transport
equipment 9,822 - 185 -
—KEES — Recreational activities = = 81 =
— B iR — Information technology 1,066 - 7,078 =
—HAfth — Others 45,943 3,329 75,014 2,046
& A Individuals
—BEFEEEEEZEEF - Loans for the purchase of flats in
AEL2ZEEE &M Home Ownership Scheme, Private
EFBERFEIEFZEF  Sector Participation Scheme and
Tenants Purchase Scheme 28 - - -
—BEEMEEMEZENR - Loans for purchase of other
residential properties 3,042 - - 2
—Hfth — Others 15,359 - 2,392 3,587
EEBER 2 EREHE Total loans for use in Hong Kong 463,580 46,490 153,523 8,411
ZomE Trade finance 47,154 6,683 35,235 8,382
EBRBAIMER ZE R Loans for use outside Hong Kong 1,182,532 856,999 835,708 290,165
EEEHBR Gross advances to customers 1,693,266 910,172 1,024,466 306,958
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)

(ii) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers

The following geographical analysis of advances to customers is
based on the locations of the counterparties, after taking into
account the transfer of risk. For an advance to customer guaranteed
by a party situated in a country different from the customer, the risk
will be transferred to the country of the guarantor.

EFEEHAEE Gross advances to customers
2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
B5 Hong Kong 138,940,403 119,688,483
R B A Mainland of China 99,705,722 101,473,976
Hh Others 16,346,798 14,044,877

254,992,923 235,207,336

REPEREREIEE —NE _BRZBAEER

Impairment allowances — stage 1 and 2 in respect of the gross
advances to customers

2018

BET T

HK$’000

B Hong Kong 750,404
el Mainland of China 813,726
EAb Others 77,072
1,641,202

PEP ERABIEES A 2 RIERER

Collectively assessed impairment allowances in respect of the gross

advances to customers

2017
BT T
HK$'000

B Hong Kong

459,189

R A Mainland of China 704,174

HAh Others

53,662

1,217,025
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5. TEEREE @ 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 fFERER &) 5.1  Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(f) EEEHERE (&) (f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(ii) BB BRIG S EEEFERERE (&) (ii) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers
(Cont'd)
BHE A Overdue advances
2018 2017

BETRT  ABTET
HK$'000 HK$'000

BB Hong Kong 477,156 507,437
el i Mainland of China 865,126 1,013,598
HAb Others 44,967 6,902

1,387,249 1,527,937

B SRIEE = B 2 R E AR Impairment allowances — Stage 3 in respect of the
overdue advances

2018
BT T
HKS$’000
BE Hong Kong 228,493
Fh [ (A 3, Mainland of China 632,856
Hh Others 32,086
893,435

MBEAEREE —ME —RBERZREEE Impairment allowances — Stage 1 and 2 in respect of the

overdue advances

B Hong Kong 1,945
A B A b Mainland of China 2,275
HAh Others =
4,220
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(ii) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers
(Cont'd)

Overdue advances (Cont’d)

Individually assessed impairment allowances in respect of the

overdue advances

2017
BT T
HK$'000
B Hong Kong 154,289
FR B i Mainland of China 652,800
HAh Others 245
807,334

BLE BB REE A S 2R EER Collectively assessed impairment allowances in respect of the

overdue advances
B Hong Kong 1,826
HR i Mainland of China 7,022
Hh Others 148
8,996
HFE 2 4 26 5 (B B 74 Classified or impaired advances

2018 2017
BETT BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
B Hong Kong 275,971 296,008
Hh [ 1A 3, Mainland of China 1,285,408 832,797
HAth Others 48,606 741

1,609,985 1,129,546
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5. TREARERE 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 FEERE (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEFRAEMEE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(f) EEEHERE (&) (f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) BRSSO B EFERERE (&) (i) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers
(Cont'd)
BHEDHELHEE (&) Classified or impaired advances (Cont’d)
A E D SORBEERIES =B 2 REEE Impairment allowances — Stage 3 in respect of the classified or
impaired advances
2018
BT T
HKS$°000
B Hong Kong 228,536
A B A Mainland of China 995,368
HAh Others 32,368
1,256,272
FEFE 2 B SORE S FRAERE RIS 2 A Individually assessed impairment allowances in respect of the
classified or impaired advances
2017
BT T
HK$'000
B Hong Kong 165,468
Fh [ A 3, Mainland of China 654,077
Hb Others 244
819,789
B E o BB E B FEHRE ST A 2 R B EE Collectively assessed impairment allowances in respect of the
classified or impaired advances
B Hong Kong 774
B A Mainland of China 593
1,367
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cCont'd)
5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Q) Repossessed assets

During the year, the Group obtained assets by taking possession of
collateral held as security. The nature and carrying value of these
assets held as at 31 December are summarised as follows:

2018 2017

BET T BT T

HK$°000 HK$'000

EEXES Commercial properties = =
FEME Residential properties 9 42,675
9 42,675

REBER2018F12A3 1B ENKEEE 2 HES
7B 87,684,0007T (20174 : 7% 164,266,0007T) °
EEEASBERBHEMEGEE IEFIENYE
(imamEEREF R+ R B EFEED X EE)
i ¥ fE XA KRBT 2 BB D Rk -

]

BREMEBENERENZIFER  ARERIZEBR
AT A Ez IR

— HEHEER

- EREREE—HHEERN

- ZHEHEE

The estimated market value of repossessed assets held by the Group
as at 31 December 2018 amounted to HK$87,684,000 (2017:
HK$164,266,000). The repossessed assets comprise properties in
respect of which the Group has acquired access or control (e.g.
through court proceedings or voluntary actions by the proprietors
concerned) for release in full or in part of the obligations of the
borrowers.

When the repossessed assets are not readily convertible into cash,
the Group may consider the following alternatives:

- adjusting the selling prices

selling the loans together with the assets

- arranging loan restructuring
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5. ©@AEARERE %) 5.
51 EERKE (&) 5.1
(D) ERITREME HEIEAIZERR 775 (D)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Credit risk (Cont'd)

Balances and placements with banks and other
financial institutions

T 2R B IRIT K H M & B R A 3E 8 H SO B 2 4 The following tables present an analysis of balances and placements

#R M IFRI2 A31 B IRFF RS ZRER DT -

with banks and other financial institutions that are neither overdue

nor impaired as at 31 December by rating agency designation.

2018
A3 T
AaaZA3 Lower TR et
Aaa to A3 than A3 Unrated Total
BT T BT T BET T BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R ERAT Central banks 18,342,154 - - 18,342,154
SRIT M E A RS Banks and other financial
institutions 22,491,433 2,066,591 31,349,564 55,907,588
40,833,587 2,066,591 31,349,564 74,249,742
2017
A3 T
AaaZE A3 Lower 45T AR EEt
Aaa to A3 than A3 Unrated Total
PSR T BT BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R ERAT Central banks 25,177,434 = - 25,177,434
RITREMSBEE Banks and other financial
institutions 17,458,436 8,349,975 22,261,126 48,069,537
42,635,870 8,349,975 22,261,126 73,246,971
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$000 HK$'000
FERITREM P RIEBEN LR R Impairment allowances — Stage 1 and 2 in respect of
GRIEE —FE R 2 MEERE the balances and placements with banks and other
financial institutions 2,518 -

M20185F12A31H R B BHSRE 2 RIT R EME As at 31 December 2018, there were no overdue or impaired

BB R R E R (201746 1 4) o
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balances and placements with banks and other financial institutions
(2017: Nil).
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5. SERARERE®) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 SER (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(E) EFEE R 7R (E)  Debt securities and certificates of deposit

TREBUNBITHARD T2 ERES RFAEREDE- The following tables present an analysis of the carrying values of

FEMBEITAIARNIBRT - Al SREIT AN RRE - debt securities and certificates of deposit by issue rating. In the
absence of such issue ratings, the ratings designated for the issuers
are reported.

2018
A3 LR
Aal E Aa3 A1EA3 Lower F:E st
Aaa  AafltoAa3 A1to A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BETT BETL BETT BETL BRETL BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

URAARBEEEA At fair value through other
Htz2ENa comprehensive income 6,212,196 33,621,067 54,787,883 13,379,605 4,933,948 112,934,699
KERR At 8 At amortised cost - - 3,066,427 - - 3,066,427
NWAREEETABE At fair value through profit or loss - 4,746,318 61,051 - - 4,807,369
B Total 6,212,196 38,367,385 57,915,361 13,379,605 4,933,948 120,808,495
2017
A3 AR
Aal & Aa3 Al % A3 Lower |mTR w5t
Aaa Aal to Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total
BETT BB BB BB BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HRLEES Available-for-sale securities 22,088,001 9,404,952 45,057,460 8,385,055 19,090,003 104,025,471
REZIHBEES Held-to-maturity securities = = 3,457,187 = = 3,457,187
ERREKR Loans and receivables - - - - 3,753,086 3,753,086
NAEZEtABEZ  Financial assets at fair value
SREE through profit or loss 3,530,667 311,582 - - 300,034 4,142,283

25,618,668 9,716,534 48,514,647 8,385,055 23,143,123 115,378,027
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5. LREKRER e
51 EERKE (&)
(E) EHEHERZHEE)

TERBIFBHKREZ ERE 7 R FRERI12A31
BIRBTARZ M - EEEITHENERT  AlE

BBEITANFREE -

5.
5.1
(E)

The following tables present an analysis of debt securities and
certificates of deposit neither overdue nor impaired as at 31

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Credit risk (Cont'd)

Debt securities and certificates of deposit (Cont’d)

December by issue rating. In the absence of such issue ratings, the
ratings designated for the issuers are reported.

2018
A3 LR

Aal E Aa3 A1EA3 Lower F:E st

Aaa  AafltoAa3 A1to A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BETT BET T BETT BETT BET T BETT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NAREEEA At fair value through other

Hip2EHm comprehensive income 6,212,196 33,621,067 54,787,883 13,379,605 4,933,948 112,934,699

N33 %N (i At amortised cost - - 3,066,427 - - 3,066,427

WAREEEFTABRE At fair value through
profit or loss - 4,746,318 61,051 - - 4,807,369
6,212,196 38,367,385 57,915,361 13,379,605 4,933,948 120,808,495
2017
A3 AR

Aal & Aa3 A1 E A3 Lower |TR w5t

Aaa Aal to Aa3 Al to A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BT BB BETT BB BT BETT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AR EES Available-for-sale securities 22,088,001 9,404,952 45,057,460 8,385,055 19,090,003 104,025,471

REZIHMBEES Held-to-maturity securities = = 3,457,187 - - 3,457,187

B KRR Loans and receivables = - = - = =
NRAEZEtABEZ  Financial assets at fair value

SREE through profit or loss 3,530,667 311,582 - - 300,034 4,142,283

25,618,668 9,716,534 48,514,647 8,385,055 19,390,037 111,624,941
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5. SREBER s 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
51 SER (&) 5.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(E) EEER R (&) (E)  Debt securities and certificates of deposit (Cont’d)

TRARERREF 2 ETIABRDN - EEBITITR The following tables present an analysis of impaired debt securities
WIERT Bl gREIT AT RERE - by issue rating. In the absence of such issue ratings, the ratings
designated for the issuers are reported.

2018
kAR
Carrying values

e
Rt REERE
Of which
A3 T accumulated
Aal Z Aa3 AZA3 Lower e s @3 impairment
Aaa Aa1 to Aa3 A1to A3 than A3 Unrated Total allowances
BETR BETR BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

AR BEEEA Debt securities at fair value through
Efi2mIkE 2 EBHES  other comprehensive income - - - - - - 182,907

o ZEREER Of which accumulated impairment
allowances - - - - 182,907 182,907

72018 12 A31H R BERECERE R LA A H As at 31 December 2018, there were no impaired certificates of

2 BBERRFRE deposit and no overdue debt securities and certificates of deposit.
2017
REE
Carrying values
A
ZiHHEER
Of which
A3 accumulated
Aal £ A3 A EA3 Lower =R b impairment
Aaa Aal to Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total allowances
BETT BETT BT BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BERR e Loans and receivables = = = = 3,753,086 3,753,086 23,416
A ZHBEER Of which accumulated impairment
allowances - - - - 23,416 23,416

72017 12 A31H R EREZ FHRE KR A B As at 31 December 2017, there were no impaired certificates of
2 BHEF RFRE deposit and no overdue debt securities and certificates of deposit.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.2 Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from movements in the
value of foreign exchange, interest rate, equity and commodity
positions held by the Group due to the volatility of financial market
price (foreign exchange rate, interest rate, equity price, commodity
price). The Group adopts a moderate market risk appetite to achieve
a balance between risk and return.

The Group's objective in managing market risk is to secure healthy
growth of the treasury business, by effective management of
potential market risk in the Group’s business, according to the
Group’s overall risk appetite and strategy of treasury business on
the basis of a well-established risk management regime and related

management measures.

In accordance with the Group's corporate governance principles
in respect of risk management, the Board and Risk Management
Committee, Senior Management and functional units perform
their duties and responsibilities to manage the Group’s market
risk. The risk management units are responsible for assisting Senior
Management to perform their day-to-day duties, independently
monitoring the market risk profile and compliance of management
policies and limits of the Group, to ensure that the aggregate and
individual market risks are within acceptable levels. Independent
units are assigned to monitor the risk exposure against risk limits
on a daily basis, together with profit and loss reports submitted to
Senior Management on a regular basis, while limit excess will be
reported to Senior Management at once when it occurs. NCB (China)
sets up independent risk monitoring teams to monitor daily market
risk and limit compliance, and submit management information and
reports to the Bank on a regular basis.

The Group sets up market risk indicators and limits to identify,
measure, monitor and control market risk. Major risk indicators and
limits include but not limited to VAR (Value-at-Risk), Stop Loss, Open
Position, Stress Testing and Sensitivity Analysis (Basis Point Value). To
meet management requirements, major risk indicators and limits are
classified into four levels, and are approved by the Risk Management
Committee, Asset and Liability Management Committee or Senior
Management respectively. Treasury business units are required to
conduct their business within approved market risk indicators and
limits.
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5. EcHERERE (8 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
52 g (&) 5.2  Market risk (Cont'd)

A) EEE (A) VAR

REERBRBRESE —KRMIZRER  WEHRER The Group uses the VAR to measure and report general market
ERZEENREERASRE -ANEERASR—H risks to the Risk Management Committee and Senior Management
R ETERE  EARLERE  UBR2FFELEM on a periodic basis. The Group adopts a uniformed VAR calculation
BHIBER2R FTEIO%EEKFETRIXFHEA model, using a historical simulation approach and two years of
NEEEE RARITHOER(E - IR EAREEAMAR historical market data, to calculate the VAR of the Group and the
TR R EREE Bank over one-day holding period with a 99% confidence level, and

sets up the VAR limit of the Group and the Bank.

TRAMLAEE KT SEARBSENRARE - The following table sets out the VAR for all general market risk
exposure' of the Group.

R12A318 2FHEE8E 2F5=8E 2F¥H%E

F17 At Minimum for ~ Maximum for Average for
Year 31 December the year the year the year
BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2% R 2 EBE VAR for all market risk 2018 827 696 3,220 1,795
2017 1,501 658 2,509 1,454
BE R g 2 b A VAR for foreign exchange risk 2018 527 458 1,753 933
2017 605 382 2,517 1,252
F =@ 2 B E VAR for interest rate risk 2018 752 243 3,107 1,333
2017 816 92 1,302 464
BmER 2 ERE? VAR for commodity risk 2018 - - 438 290
2017 373 - 378 154
i Note:
b TEIEINE LB IER O RBRE - g Structural FX positions have been excluded.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(A) VAR (Cont’d)

Although VAR is a valuable guide to risk, it should always be viewed
in the context of its limitations. For example:

- the use of historical market data as a proxy for estimating
future events may not encompass all potential events,
particularly those which are extreme in nature;

- the use of a one-day holding period assumes that all
positions can be liquidated or hedged in one day. This may
not fully reflect the market risk arising at times of severe
illiquidity, when a one-day holding period may be insufficient
to liquidate or hedge all positions fully;

- the use of a 99% confidence level, by definition, does not
take into account losses that might occur beyond this level of
confidence; and

- VAR is calculated on the basis of exposures outstanding
at the close of business and therefore does not necessarily
reflect intra-day exposures.

The Group recognises these limitations by formulating stress test
indicators and limits to assess and manage the market risk not
covered by VAR. The market risk stress testing includes sensitivity
testing on changes in risk factors with various degrees of severity,
as well as scenario analysis on historical events including the 1997
Asian Financial Crisis and 2008 Financial Tsunami, etc.
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5. CRERER (&) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
52 WERERE (&) 5.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(B) SMEEFE (B)  Currency risk

REEMNEERBESREST ETRARESE X The Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in major
TEK - BERIMNER B FAERFEANEZKE K currencies, particularly the HK dollar, the US dollar and Renminbi.
SEAMNARRPRERE (FIanER K RERERTE) ERE To ensure the currency risk exposure of the Group is managed at an
TR toh REBB AR DR —EE /& E M acceptable level, risk limits (e.g. Position and VAR limit) are used to

BEHERE WARBHNAINESL (FlamsMERE) B serve as a monitoring tool. Moreover, the Group seeks to minimise
RN B FE B BT E LR INER S the gap between assets and liabilities in the same currency. Foreign

exchange contracts (e.g. FX swaps) are usually used to manage
FX risk associated with foreign currency-denominated assets and
liabilities.

TRINEAEEAAER S FEBERHREEER The following is a summary of the Group’s major foreign currency

BMELZFE/INERRTE  WRREBAFEINES exposures arising from trading, non-trading and structural positions
N2 eE RMENERERMBER and is prepared with reference to the completion instructions for the

HKMA return of foreign currency position.

2018
BT TEE
Equivalent in thousand of HK$
HAg s Shik R

Other Total

ET AR foreign foreign

US Dollars Renminbi currencies currencies

HEAE Spot assets 91,702,514 143,647,803 13,752,664 249,102,981
REAE Spot liabilities (91,598,352) (138,094,380) (12,090,005) (241,782,737)
B A Forward purchases 23,163,249 14,169,184 2,020,903 39,353,336
RN Forward sales (24,493,378) (17,109,489) (3,687,402) (45,290,269)
(58),/ REFHE Net (short)/long position (1,225,967) 2,613,118 (3,840) 1,383,311
R EREEE Net structural position 9,437,899 11,897,115 - 21,335,014
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5. SEEAKRER®) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
52 ThiZEKE (&) 5.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(B) SMNEREFE (&) (B)  Currency risk (Cont’d)
2017
BT ITEE
Equivalent in thousand of HK$
H b oM AN 4858
Other Total
e ARME foreign foreign
US Dollars Renminbi currencies currencies
REEE Spot assets 87,459,891 154,080,434 11,661,967 253,202,292
REBE Spot liabilities (89,716,626) (146,133,803) (12,057,840) (247,908,269)
RHIE A Forward purchases 14,502,233 4,537,116 3,693,458 22,732,807
mEE N Forward sales (12,446,022) (11,196,755) (3,269,094) (26,911,871)
(B) /%% Net (short)/long position (200,524) 1,286,992 28,491 1,114,959
EEEERER Net structural position 9,437,640 9,577,159 - 19,014,799

©  FIEmEE ©

MEEBEEERNEKY BEERGHREBSTER
AP A EEHRITEBRENEHEEEAR
BR-AEENNEEBAZETZREEBLERFR
EEUERENIENERARERR:

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the risks to a bank’s earnings and economic
value arising from movements in interest rate and term structures of
the bank’s asset and liability positions. The Group's interest rate risk
exposures are mainly structural. The major types of interest rate risk

from structural positions are:

- %'J%EETHI‘A%{F E%E’J BIFE R ERTE =
% HABR T RE R AT - o T 2 05 A B

- FEEEER: FARSHEEZETR S -
AENWEENREORAT R ER &
ST R AT R IR A

- Wes R ih R AR BRI R X HRIEFITR =
BHmMEENSWARKEBEEEEES
25

- FRERAR: AREE BERIRIBEEMH -
wRA R SHRTERSNEEREERE
1?!9’9}7%@//“4
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Repricing risk: mismatches in the maturity or repricing
periods of assets and liabilities that may affect net interest
income;

Basis risk: different pricing basis for different transactions
resulting that the yield on assets and cost of liabilities may
change by different amounts within the same repricing
period;

Yield curve risk: non-parallel shifts in the yield curve that may
have an adverse impact on net interest income or economic
value; and

Option risk: exercise of the options embedded in assets,
liabilities or off-balance sheet items that can cause a change
in the cash flows of assets and liabilities.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cCont'd)
5.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
Q) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The Group's risk management framework applies also to interest rate
risk management. The Asset and Liability Management Committee
exercises its oversight of interest rate risk in accordance with the
“Banking Book Interest Rate Risk Management Policy” approved
by Risk Management Committee. Asset & Libaility Management
Division is responsible for interest rate risk management. With the
cooperation of the Treasury Division, Asset & Liability Management
Division assists the Asset and Liability Management Committee to
perform day-to-day interest rate risk management. Its roles include,
but are not limited to, the formulation of management policies,
selection of methodologies, setting of risk indicators and limits,
assessment of target balance sheet, monitoring of the compliance
with policies and limits, and submission of interest rate risk
management reports to the Management and Risk Management
Committee.

The Group sets out interest rate risk indicators and limits to identify,
measure, monitor and control interest rate risk. The indicators and
limits include, but are not limited to, repricing gap limits, basis risk,
duration, price value of a basis point (“PVBP"), net interest income
sensitivity ratio (“NIl”), economic value sensitivity ratio (“EV"),
monitored on a regular basis. The indicators and limits are classified
into three levels, which are approved by the Risk Management
Committee, Asset and Liability Management Committee and Deputy
Chief Executive of Financial Management respectively. Risk-taking
business units are required to conduct their business within the
boundary of the interest rate risk limits. Before launching a new
product or business in the banking book, the relevant departments
are required to go through a risk assessment process, which includes
the assessment of underlying interest rate risk and consideration of
the adequacy of current risk monitoring mechanism. Any material
impact on interest rate risk noted during the risk assessment process
will be submitted to Risk Management Committee for approval.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
Q) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

NIl and EV assess the impact of interest rate movement on the
Group’s net interest income and capital base. They are the Group's
key interest rate risk indicators. The former assesses the impact of
interest rate movement on net interest income as a percentage to
the projected net interest income for the year. The latter assesses
the impact of interest rate movement on economic value (i.e. the
net present value of cash flows of assets, liabilities and off-balance
sheet items discounted using market interest rate) as a percentage
to the latest capital base. Limits are set by the Risk Management
Committee on these two indicators to monitor and control the
Group's banking book interest rate risk.

The Group uses scenario analyses and stress tests to assess the
banking book interest rate risk that the Group would face under
adverse circumstances. Scenario analyses and stress tests are also
used to assess the impact on net interest income arising from the
optionality of savings deposits and the prepayment of mortgage
loans.

The Group is principally exposed to HK Dollar, US Dollar and
Renminbi in terms of interest rate risk. As at 31 December 2018,
if HK Dollar, US Dollar and Renminbi market interest rates had a
100 basis point parallel upward shift of the yield curve in relevant
currency with other variables held constant, the sensitivities on net
interest income over a twelve-month period and on reserves for the
Group would have been as follows:

R12831H H AR K128 B
FEANEWANZE
Impact on net interest
R1I2A31BHEENEE
Impact on reserves
at 31 December

income over the next
twelve months
at 31 December

2018 2017 2018 2017
BT T BT BETT BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B IT HK Dollar 345,717 347,955 (386,819) (203,225)
ETT US Dollar 28,847 (4,340) (242,979) (294,617)
AREE Renminbi (22,261) (62,200) (761,718) (463,945)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cCont'd)
5.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
Q) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The overall positive impact on net interest income of the above
currencies has increased when compared with 2017 and is mainly
because of the broadened short term positive repricing gaps in US
Dollar and narrowed short term negative repricing gaps in Renminbi.
Reserves would have been reduced because of the expected
reduction in valuation of securities classified as FVOCI due to a
parallel shift up of 100 basis points in the yield curve. The reduction
of reserves is increased compared with 2017 because the sizes of HK
Dollar and Renminbi FVOCI securities are increased.

The sensitivities above are for illustration only and are based on
several assumptions, including but not limited to the change in the
correlation between interest rates of relevant currencies, parallel
movement of interest rates, the absence of actions that would be
taken to mitigate the impact of interest rate risk, the effectiveness
of hedge accounting, all positions being assumed to run to maturity,
behavioural assumptions of products in which actual repricing
date differs from contractual repricing date or products without
contractual maturity. The above exposures form only a part of the
Group's overall interest rate risk exposures.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Market risk (Cont'd)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

contractual repricing date and maturity date.

The tables below summarise the Group’s on-balance sheet exposure
to interest rate risk as at 31 December. Included in the tables are the
assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of

2018
Fitg
-BAR -%Z=f8 =Et=fA —Zhf BENL Non-
Upto1 1to3 3t0 12 1to5 Over 5 interest- @zt
month months months years years bearing Total
BETT BET T BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
EFRERERETR Cash and balances with banks and other
HieRlENEH financial institutions 53,773,030 - - - - 2,880,133 56,653,163
GERITREMEREE—Z  Placements with banks and other financial
+=EARESAZEHER  institutions maturing between one and
twelve months - 8,517,735 9,689,902 - - - 18,207,637
ARERE NBEZ Financial assets at fair value through profit
SREE or loss 2,124,572 666,117 5,741,919 11,697 49,354 85,827 8,679,486
fTEEMIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 654,721 654,721
ERREMIRE Advances and other accounts 161,473,617 63,649,080 21,292,433 5,188,189 1,327,550 - 252,930,869
LRRE Financial investments
—UAAERA — At fair value through other
Hr2 ks comprehensive income 11,822,545 19,249,022 34,234,692 44,615,027 3,013,413 31,833 112,966,532
—NERRAETE - At amortised cost - 58,752 1729294 3,395,575 - - 5183,621
REME Investment properties = = = = = 331,942 331,942
I ERE NG Properties, plant and equipment = - - = = 7,808,591 7,808,591
HEE (BIEENHER  Other assets (including current and
ELERBEE) deferred tax assets) - - - - - 2,605,143 2,605,143
BEAE Total assets 229,193,764 92,140,706 72,688,240 53,210,488 4,390,317 14,398,190 466,021,705
B& Liabilities
RITRAMSREE L Deposits and balances from banks and
BRREH other financial institutions 10,307,201 9,008,129 8,599,565 - - 1,184,403 29,099,298
RREELHABRL Financial liabilities at fair value through
tRAfE profit or loss 1,667,295 1,943,724 1,192,258 - - - 4,803,277
fTEEMIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 353,927 353,927
BPREH Deposits from customers 161,273,590 76,407,109 80,378,677 13,324,360 296,558 12,524,645 344,204,939
BEMEBESREFAE Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue 172,674 317,419 2,150,964 9,551,917 - - 12,192,974
HiBRIA R & (BEENFIE Other accounts and provisions (including
REZEREEE) current and deferred tax liabilities) 2,853,533 2,914,061 3,164,021 1,592,933 38,492 9,609,447 20,172,487
BELE Total liabilities 176,274,293 90,590,442 95485485 24,469,210 335050 23,672,422 410,826,902
HEGRER A Interest sensitivity gap 52,919,471 1,550,264  (22,797,245) 28,741,278 4,055,267  (9,274,232) 55,194,803

154



www.nch.com.hk

#19% A% 4844 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 $R Q%

/TN

RS R Bl 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. SREMRERE (s 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
52 WERERE (&) 5.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
Q  FIFEE (&) (C) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
2017
iR
—f@AR —Z=fA =EZ+=fEA —Z0F BFERE Non-
Upto 1 1t03 31012 1t05 Over 5 interest- it
month months months years years bearing Total
BETT BT BETT BT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
EGFRERERETR Cash and balances with banks and other
Hit S RgEn R financial institutions 66,413,742 - - - = 1,322,019 67,735,761
ERIRAMEREE—Z Placements with banks and other financial
TZEAREIEZEHER  institutions maturing between one and
twelve months - 5,621,865 492,558 - - - 6,114,423
AnEE{EIABRZ Financial assets at fair value through
CREE profit or loss 565,482 652,170 2,888,736 35,895 - - 4,142,283
fTEemIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 400,843 400,843
BRRAMERE Advances and other accounts 142,272,107 52,264,644 34,966,908 4,878,812 314,320 - 234,696,791
SRHRE Finanial investments
—AEHE - Available-for-sale 23,016,250 19,360,064 31,118,265 29,812,306 718,586 15,156 104,040,627
R ES L ~ Held-to-maturity - - 365,318 3,091,869 - - 3,457,187
—ERRERHK ~Loans and receivables - - 620,824 3,132,262 - - 3,753,086
BEME Investment properties - - - - = 302,702 302,702
I EE B Properties, plant and equipment = = = = = 7,386,981 7,386,981
HiEE (BEETHELE)  Other assets (including deferred tax assets) - - - - = 3,031,454 3,031,454
BESE Total assets 232,267,581 77,898,743 70,452,609 40,951,144 1,032,906 12,459,155 435,062,138
8 Liabilities
BAREMEREEL Deposits and balances from banks and other
Fakis financial institutions 22,242,224 2,961,712 2,122,584 - - 408,987 27,735,507
AnEE{EABRZ Financial liabilties at fair value through
SHAR profit or loss 2,092,997 2,225,148 27,398 - - - 4,345,543
fTEemIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 397,796 397,796
RERH Deposits from customers 188,163,251 54,607,277 61,810,259 8,643,710 71,964 12,119,178 325,415,639
BRTEFER RIEHE Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue - 2,960,347 116,337 3,704,524 - - 6,781,208
H{BRIE R4 (RHEEMTIE  Other accounts and provisions (including
RETHERE) current and deferred tax liabilties) 3,003,407 1,002,744 7,374,876 630,846 29,972 6,255,520 18,297,365
afEeE Total liabilities 215,501,879 63,757,228 71,451,454 12,979,080 101,936 19,181,481 382,973,058
FIRGRERD Interest sensitivity gap 16,765,702 14,141,515 (998,845) 27,972,064 930,970 (6,722,326) 52,089,080
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
5.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that banks fail to provide sufficient funds
to grow assets or pay due obligations, and need to bear an
unacceptable loss. The Group maintains sound liquidity risk appetite
to provide stable, reliable and adequate sources of cash to meet
liquidity needs under normal circumstances or stressed scenarios;
and to survive with net positive cumulative cash flow in extreme
scenarios, without requesting the HKMA to act as the lender of last
resort.

The Group’s liquidity risk management objective is to effectively
manage the liquidity of on— and off-balance sheet items with
reasonable cost based on the liquidity risk appetite to achieve sound
operation and sustainable profitability. Deposits from customers
are the Group's primary source of funds, in which 61% is retail
deposits. To ensure stable and sufficient source of funds are in place,
the Group actively attracts new deposits, keeps the core deposit
and obtains supplementary funding from the interbank market.
According to different term maturities and the results of funding
needs estimated from stressed scenarios, the Group adjusts its asset
structure (including loans, bonds investment, interbank placement,
etc.) to maintain sufficient liquid assets which provides adequate
funds in support of normal business needs and ensure its ability to
raise funds at a reasonable cost to serve external claims in case of
emergency. The Group is committed to diversify the source of funds
and the use of funds to avoid excessive concentration of assets
and liabilities and prevent triggering liquidity risk due to the break
of funding strand when problem occurred in one concentrated
funding source. The Group has established intra-group liquidity
risk management guideline to manage the liquidity funding among
different entities within the Group, and to restrict their reliance of
funding on each other. The Group also pays attention to manage
liquidity risk created by off-balance sheet activities, such as loan
commitments and derivatives. The Group has an overall liquidity risk
management strategy to cover the liquidity management of foreign
currency assets and liabilities, collateral, intra-day liquidity, intra-
group liquidity, the liquidity risk arising from other risks, etc., and has
formulated corresponding contingency plan.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

Risk Management Committee (RMC) is the decision-making authority
of liquidity risk management, and assumes the ultimate responsibility
of liquidity risk management. As authorised by RMC, the Asset and
Liability Management Committee (ALCO) exercises its oversight of
liquidity risk and ensures the daily operations of the Group are in
accordance with risk appetite and policies as set by RMC. Financial
Management Division is responsible for overseeing the Group's
liquidity risk. It cooperates with Treasury Division to assist the ALCO
to perform liquidity management functions according to their
specific responsibilities.

The Group established liquidity risk management indicators and
limits to identify, measure, monitor and control liquidity risk on daily
basis. These indicators and limits include, but are not limited to
liquidity coverage ratio (“LCR"), net stable funding ratio (“NSFR"),
loan-to-deposit ratio, Maximum Cumulative Cash Outflow (“MCQ"),
liquidity buffer asset portfolio and depositor concentration limit.
The Group applies cash flow analysis to assess the Group’s liquidity
condition under normal conditions and also performs a liquidity
stress test (including institution specific, general market crisis and
combined crisis) at least on monthly basis to assess the Group's
capability to withstand various severe liquidity crises. Also, the Assets
and Liabilities Management System is developed to provide data and
the preparation for regular management reports to facilitate liquidity
risk management duties.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

In accordance with the requirements of Supervisory Policy Manual
LM-2 “Sound Systems and controls for Liquidity Risk Management”
issued by the HKMA in 2016, the Group has implemented
behaviour model and assumptions of cash flow analysis and
stress test to enhance the Group’s cash flow analysis under both
normal and stressed conditions. In cash flow analysis under normal
circumstances, assumptions have been made relating to on-balance
sheet items (such as deposits from customers) and off-balance
sheet items (such as loan commitments). According to various
characteristics of the assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items,
the Group forecasts the future cash flow based on contractual
maturity date and the assumptions of customer behaviour and
balance sheet changes. The Group establishes MCO indicator which
predicts the future 30 day maximum cumulative net cash outflow
in normal situations based on the above assumptions, to assess if
the Group has sufficient financing capacity to meet the cash flow
gap in order to achieve the objective of continuing operation. As at
31 December 2018, before taking the cash inflow through the sale
of outstanding marketable securities into consideration, the Bank's
30 day cumulative cash flow was a net cash inflow amounting to
HK$514,585,000 (2017: HK$509,487,000) and was in compliance
with the internal limit requirements.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

In the liquidity stress test, institution specific, general market
crisis and combined crisis scenario has been set up, combined
crisis scenario is a combination of institution specific and general
market crisis to assess the Group’s capability to withstand a more
severe liquidity crisis, with a more stringent set of assumptions
being adopted. Stress test assumptions include the run-off rate of
retail, wholesale and interbank deposits; drawdown rate of loan
commitments and trade-related contingent liabilities; delinquency
ratio and rollover rate of customer loans; and haircut of interbank
placement and marketable securities. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group was able to maintain a positive cash flow under the three
stressed scenarios, indicating the Group has the ability to meet
financing needs under stressed conditions. In addition, the Group
has a policy in place to maintain a liquidity cushion which includes
high quality or comparable quality marketable securities issued
or guaranteed by sovereigns, central banks, public sector entities
or multilateral development banks with 0% or 20% risk weight
or marketable securities issued or guaranteed by non-financial
corporate with a corresponding external credit rating of A— or above
to ensure funding needs even under stressed scenarios. As at 31
December 2018, the Bank's liquidity cushion (before haircut) was
HK$44,804,168,000 (2017: HK$36,001,595,000). A contingency
plan is being established which details the conditions to trigger the
plan based on stress test results and early warning indicators, the
action plans and relevant procedures and responsibility of various
departments. The Group tests and updates the Plan annually to
ensure its effectiveness and operational feasibility.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

The LCR is calculated in accordance with the Banking (Liquidity)
Rules effective from 1 January 2015 and the NSFR is effective from 1
January 2018. The Group, being classified as category 1 authorised
institution by the HKMA, is required to calculate LCR and NSFR on
consolidated basis. During the year of 2018, the Group is required to
maintain a LCR not less than 90% and not less than 100% for NSFR.

By maintaining a ratio in excess of minimum regulatory requirements,
the LCR seeks to ensure that the Group holds adequate liquidity
assets to mitigate a short-term liquidity stress and the NSFR ensures
the Group maintaining sufficient stable funding sources to cover
their long-term assets.

In certain derivative contracts, the counterparties have right to
request from the Group additional collateral if they have concerns
about the Group's creditworthiness.

The Group’s liquidity risk management also covers new products
or business developments. Before launching a new product or
business, the relevant departments are required to go through a risk
assessment process, which includes the assessment of underlying
liquidity risk and consideration of the adequacy of the current risk
management mechanism. Any material impact on liquidity risk
noted during the risk assessment process will be reported to Risk
Management Committee for approval.

The Group has established a set of uniform liquidity risk
management policies. On the basis of the Group’s uniform
policy, the principal banking subsidiary develops its own liquidity
management policies according to its own characteristics, and
assumes its own liquidity risk management responsibility, executes its
daily risk management processes independently, and reports to the
Group's Management on a regular basis.

The information of liquidity coverage ratio and net stable funding
ratio disclosures are available under “Unaudited Supplementary
Financial Information — 1. Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable
Funding Ratio” and section “Regulatory Disclosures” on the Bank's
website at www.ncb.com.hk.
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5. TEREBREE® 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
53 A#REBELE(8) 5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(A)  FEHZH (A)  Maturity analysis
TRAEAEBRI2AIBZEERBENIHAES The tables below analyse the Group's assets and liabilities as at 31
- RREERR BEERBBEHEEANIIEBOF December into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
EREABR D 4R - period at balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
2018
-k -E=@A ZE+=fA -Zhf RENE
B Upto1 1t03 3t0 12 1t0 5 Over5 FRERH @t
On demand month months months years years Indefinite Total

BRI BRTx  E®Tn  E%Tx  BMTR ARTR BE®Tx  EETn
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

§E Assets
EFREREHHRTR Cash and balances with banks and
EheRlENLSs other financial institutions 28,899,314 27,753,849 - - - - - 56,653,163
ERTREMSREE—Z  Placements with banks and other
TZEANZ|H 2 EAFR  financial institutions maturing
between one and twelve months - - 8,517,735 9,689,902 - - - 18,207,637
AREREGABRZ Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss
-R 5 - Trading
—-EHES - Debt securities - 1,994,683 511,970 2,239,665 11,697 49,354 - 4,807,369
—BHEAALER(LT AR - Mandatorily measured at fair value
e ER S through profit or loss, non trading
—Hft, - Others - 129,892 154,144 3,502,254 - - - 3,786,290
-RiHES - Equity securities - - - - - - 85,827 85,827
frEsmIE Derivative financial instruments 310,976 80,931 40,160 138,733 83,921 - - 654,721
B REMERE Advances and other accounts
-EPEH ~ Advances to customers 20,206,669 11425151 16,468,149 46285751 114,144,105 42,873,158 692,466 252,095,449
-85k - Trade bills 70 242,028 303,209 290,113 - - - 835,420
ﬁﬁ&ﬁ Financial investments
—DRREREHA - At fair value through other
Eth2ENE comprehensive income
~-EHES - Debt securities - 8439759 10490900 19,704,448 50295352 3,013,413 - 91943872
~RE - Certificates of deposit - 19,368 425,926 15,630,734 4,914,799 - - 20,990,827
~NBRHAETE — At amortised cost
—-EBES - Debt securities - 1,419 58,752 444,232 2,404,880 - - 2,909,283
& - Certificates of deposit - 1,017 - 601 155,526 - - 157,144
—Hft, - Others - - - 1,289370 827,824 - - 21M7,19%
—[&HES - Equity securities - - - - - - 31,833 31,833
RENE Investment properties - - - - - - 331,942 331,942
ERE TN E T Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - - 7,808,591 7,808,591
HpEE (REEMHE Other assets (including current and
RERKEEE) deferred tax assets) 538,269 1,750,181 154,555 (95,976) 163,418 2,686 92,010 2,605,143
EESE Total assets 49,955298 51,838,278 37,125,500 99,119,827 173,001,522 45,938,611 9,042,669 466,021,705
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5. THEEBRER W) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
53 A#REBELE(8) 5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(A) FEAZH (&) (A)  Maturity analysis (Cont'd)
2018
-fiAR -Z=fR =Zt+=f@A -21F RENE
Il Upto1 1t03 3t0 12 1t0 5 Over5 FRERH @t
On demand month months months years years Indefinite Total
BT BET R BRI BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
8 Liabilities
BOREEREREL Deposits and balances from banks and
FRRkEH other financial institutions 1,855,547 8,562,531 9,187,900 8,957,346 - 535,974 - 29,099,298
DERHABRZ Financial liabilities at fair value through
tHEE profit or loss - 1,667,295 1,943,724 1,192,258 - - - 4,803,277
fTESmIE Derivative financial instruments 88,748 81,161 40,970 80,859 62,189 - - 353,927
REHER Deposits from customers 107,557,769 65,128,473 77,300,156 80,595,211 13,326,772 296,558 - 344,204,939
BREABRESRERE Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue - 171,567 410,513 2,058,977 9,551,917 - - 12,192,974
HilRE R EE (R Other accounts and provisions (including
ENRBEREEHRERE)  curent and deferred tax liabilities) 3,328,002 6,678,246 3,149,305 3373539 2,539,521 43,041 1,060,833 20,172,487
SR8 Total liabilities 112,830,066 82,289,273 92,032,568 96,258,190 25,480,399 875,573 1,060,833 410,826,902
mBEERO Net liquidity gap (62,874,768)  (30,450,995)  (54,907,068) 2,861,637 147,521,123 45,063,038 7,981,836 55,194,803
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5. REMRERE ) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
53 A#REBELE(8) 5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(A) FEHDH (& (A)  Maturity analysis (Cont'd)
2017
—f@AR —-Z=@A =EZt+=fEA —ERF AERE
il Uptol 1103 3to12 Tt05 Over5 AEERH &
On demand month months months years years Indefinite Total
BT BETT BT BT BETT BT BB BETT
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Assets
EER e REHHRTR Cash and balances with banks and other
HinemgENLER financial institutions 28,898,808 38,836,953 - - - - - 67,735,761

ERTRAGSREE-Z
TZEARZIE 2R BER

Placements with banks and other
financial institutions maturing

between one and twelve months - - 5,501,781 612,642 - - - 6,114,423
MBS AERL Financial assets at fair value through
CHEE profit or loss
-R5k - Trading
—-EBES - Debt securities - 505,774 502,845 2,830,221 35,895 - - 3964735
~FHE - Certificates of deposit - 59,708 59,325 58,515 - - - 177,548
fTESRMIA Derivative financial instruments 320,883 9,175 34,941 35,844 - - - 400,843
ERREMERE Advances and other accounts
~-RFEH - Advances to customers 15,435,181 10,490,128 10,551,107 56,215,184 99,351,743 40,689,875 437304 233,170,522
U ES - Trade bills 52 215,679 349,354 528,684 432,500 - - 1,526,269
SRRE Financial investments
—AfhE - Available-for-sale
—-EHES - Debt securities - 9630379 4960998 18,118,138 33,855,225 718,586 - 67,283,326
~FHE - Certificates of deposit - 1,110,485 1,903,627 13,115,663 3,181,852 - - 19,311,627
£t - Others - 10,037,544 6,302,142 1,090,832 - - - 17,430,518
~HAZEHA ~ Held-to-maturity
—-EBES - Debt securities - 1417 - 371,071 2,927,971 - - 3300459
—-FHE - Certificates of deposit - 1,041 - 600 155,087 - - 156,728
—ERREMH ~ Loans and receivables
—EBES — Debt securities - = = = = = = =
—Eft - Others - - - 620,824 3,132,262 - - 3,753,086
-BhhEH — Equity securities - - - - - - 15,156 15,156
RENE Investment properties - - - - - = 302,702 302,702
ERE NG Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - - 7,386,981 7,386,981
EEE Other assets
(BRERHBEE) (including deferred tax assets) 322,577 2,240,547 2,399 223,227 102,674 = 140,030 3,031,454
BELE Total assets 44,977,501 73,138,830 30,258,519 93,821,445 143,175,209 41,408,461 8,282,173 435,062,138
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5. S EEARERE (®
53 #nBELER (%)
(A)  FHAS (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

(A) Maturity analysis (Cont’d)

2017
AR —%Z=f =z+=fA —ERf AFHRE
il Uptol 1103 3t012 105 Over5 FEERH E5
On demand month months months years years Indefinite Total
BETT BETT Vol R BETT BETL AR T BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
8 Liabilities
BOREEREREL Deposits and balances from banks and
FRRkEH other financial institutions 1,252,775 17,791,352 2,960,550 2,619,318 2,456,925 654,587 - 27,735,507
DERHABRZ Financial liabilities at fair value through
SRER profit or loss - 209997 2225148 27,398 - - - 4345543
fiEEBTA Derivative financial instruments 99,166 155,539 74,467 68,624 - - - 397,79
ZREH Deposits from customers 125,552,531 74,369,470 54918461 60348321 10,154,892 71,964 - 325,415,639
BREIEFEFRERE Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue - - 2,960,347 116,337 3,704,524 - - 6,781,208
HilRE R EE (R Other accounts and provisions (including
ERREREEREAE)  curent and deferred tax liabilities) 4,097,624 3777,774 1,281,587 7,524,167 1,580,162 36,037 14 18,297,365
SR8 Total liabilities 131,002,096 98,187,132 64,420,560 70,704,165 17,896,503 762,588 14 382,973,058
mBEERO Net liquidity gap (86,024,595)  (25,048,302)  (34,162,041) 23,117,280 125,278,706 40,645,873 8,282,159 52,089,080

BB A S RTIRR GRITE (KE)RAD 248
MiGXmEH - AEESARTEMMEAZEE"
PInER R EBESFIN R B BE - HRRTR
PEXOHEEZEE RBEZREETERAN ZA
AR VEB A - H At REIH 2 B DB R BRI gR
RO EREEREECEEFARE  UKZE
KA BT AEEBH] - IR EECHIKRE
I HERAER (WA)

BRBRIAMAHEBESFZOMERER (R1TE
(W) RA) 2 HEBEXMIKERN - FTERE TR
HEEFBRHAEEIHA -
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The above maturity classifications have been prepared in accordance
with relevant provisions under the Banking (Disclosure) Rules. The
Group has reported assets such as advances and debt securities
which have been overdue for not more than one month as “On
demand”. In the case of an asset that is repayable by different
payments or instalments, only that portion of the asset that is
actually overdue is reported as overdue. Any part of the asset that
is not due is reported according to the residual maturity unless the
repayment of the asset is in doubt in which case the amount is
reported as “Indefinite”. The above assets are stated after deduction
of provisions, if any.

The analysis of debt securities by remaining period to maturity is
disclosed in order to comply with relevant provisions under the
Banking (Disclosure) Rules. The disclosure does not imply that the
securities will be held to maturity.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

(B) Analysis of undiscounted cash flows by contractual
maturities

(a) Non-derivative cash flows

The tables below summarise the cash flows of the Group as at
31 December for non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining
contractual maturity.

2018
—BARK -E=flf =Et=fEA -ER% REHNE
Upto1 1t03 3to 12 1t05 Over5 TREAH Ehy
month months months years years Indefinite Total
BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SRAE Financial liabilities
ROREEREE L Deposits and balances from banks
FRRk&s and other financial institutions 10,421,067 9,214,139 9,106,370 - 535,975 - 29,277,551
AEZGTABRL Financial liabilities at fair value
eR A through profit or loss 1,669,000 1,948,500 1,200,000 - - - 4,817,500
ZRER Deposits from customers 172,733,238 77,608,281 81,340,453 14,364,754 296,557 - 346,343,283
BEE{TEFEFLEHRE  Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue 171,956 411,563 2,097,821 9,577,308 - - 12,258,648
EtematE Other financial liabilities 9,560,864 2,924,855 3,169,167 1,593,688 43,041 1,060,634 18,352,249
tRARKEE Total financial liabilities 194,555,125 92,107,338 96,913,811 25,535,750 875,573 1,060,634 411,049,231
2017
—fEAA —2=fAF =Zt+=fEA —ER% RENE
Uptol 1103 3t 12 1105 Ower5  AEEAH &zt
month months months years years Indefinite Total
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SRAE Financial liabilities
RITREMSEEEL  Deposits and balances from banks
FRR &R and other financial institutions 19,063,599 2,976,781 2,687,656 2,506,299 654,587 - 27,888,922
DMEEGARRL Financial liabilities at fair value
SREE through profit or loss 2,094,000 2,228,500 27,500 - - - 4,350,000
RPEH Deposits from customers 199,949,156 55,032,867 60,678,093 10,232,616 71,965 - 325,964,697
BETEFEHLERE  Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue - 2,997,241 119,916 4,456,732 - - 7,573,889
EneBAas Other financial liabilities 7,468,414 1,019,882 7,336,935 626,725 36,036 14 16,488,006
cRARAE Total financial liabilities 228,575,169 64,255,271 70,850,100 17,822,372 762,588 14 382,265,514

165

/TN



% #15% B % 441 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 3

www.nch.com.hk

/TN

RS HR R Bl X

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. REMRERE @)
5.3 REBELRER (&)
(B) BEHNEFRAS 2R ITERE 7% (&)

b) PTETAZEZRE

TR T ARER12A31 BUARSRE ORI BB IR
ZHREm BREFEEELEZTESRAE R
AR EEE 2 TE SR T A (THRAEBEH
BEEXEE) -BFREDITETEANRAETIRI
TEFRBENEMESBEA/REHIRANERRET -

AREERFREEFE AR T AT ESHER
R MZAEEEGE 2 ITASRT AT EZER
B ER A=

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

(B) Analysis of undiscounted cash flows by contractual
maturities (Cont’d)

(b) Derivative cash flows

The tables below summarise the cash flows of the Group by
remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December for derivative
financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis, together with all
derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis
regardless of whether the contract is in an asset or liability position.
The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows, except for certain derivatives which are disclosed at fair
value.

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on
a net basis mainly include interest rate swaps whereas derivative
financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly
include currency forwards and currency swaps.

2018
—-fBAR —E=fR =Et+=f@A —-Z25F EENE
Upto 1 1t03 3to 12 1t05 Over 5 @zt
month months months years years Total
BETT BT BETR BETT BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RIFERELE Y Derivative financial liabilities
etz 4= settled on a net basis 223,117 - - - - 223,17
RRELELEE Derivative financial instruments
fTESBIA settled on a gross basis
‘RA Total inflow 9,663,256 4,223,184 14,737,649 5,411,915 - 34,036,004
Wit Total outflow (9,662,317) (4,223,341)  (15,032,317) (5,397,840) - (34,315,815)
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5. CRERER (&) 5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cCont'd)
53 A#REBELE(8) 5.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(B) BEHNEFRAS 2R ITERE 7% (&) (B)  Analysis of undiscounted cash flows by contractual
maturities (Cont’d)
(b) PTAETAZE 7 (&) (b) Derivative cash flows (Cont'd)
2017
—EAR —Z=Zf@A =E=+=-fAA —EHE AENE
Upto 1t03 3t0 12 1t05 Over 5 et
month months months years years Total
BETT BB BB BETT BB BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RFERELE Y Derivative financial liabilities
fTEcmaRE settled on a net basis 225,326 - = = = 225,326
RRBEELE Y Derivative financial instruments
fTESBMTIA settled on a gross basis
FEN N Total inflow 10,494,415 1,184,424 6,860,373 - - 18,539,212
@i Total outflow (10,650,069) (2,176,030) (7,737,461) - - (20,563,560)
(c) BEREXINEH (c) Off-balance sheet items
B RAE Loan commitments

EEAAEBR2018F12A3MEMBRFAZERE The contractual amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet

ERHEMME s RIIECMTE HENSERBE financial instruments as at 31 December 2018 that the Group

84,986,184,0007t (20174 : % #88,328,968,000 commits to extend credit to customers and other facilities totalled

JT) b E BRI R — FAIRE HK$84,986,184,000 (2017: HK$88,328,968,000). Those loan
commitments can be drawn within one year.

B RS IR e EL M BA TS Rh R Financial guarantees and other financial facilities

AEBMR2018F12A3IB 2 M B EREREMG Financial guarantees and other financial facilities of the Group
BE S ABY 28,176,569,0007T (20174 : B as at 31 December 2018 totalled HK$28,176,569,000 (2017:
34,730,406,0007T) * HBIEFE DA —4F - HK$34,730,406,000) are maturing no later than one year.
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5. SEERE &
54 EBXEE
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ERR I

AEEERRIIERT —ERRNEAEEBRMA
Y o b B R OR R O B SR R A B R A R B
MEBEEEEARRENER - BEAFEELZES
BEEREENEATRE AEBERSHFERARR
TEBNERRESERHVEEENRE FAmT :

K’i B R ER AR AR R EATE AR O I

BRI E 2 7¥<?f‘ﬁ’]ﬁf§ﬂ REARN WEHE
#}TMT SREEFER AR RRAENEER

é“zlizzjiw\*li EERABAEREEIZTE (5
ERR)AEEAE - ARERAGEEFEREAR

b J%ﬂﬁ%Eféfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬁi%%?ﬁﬁﬁ
sk o

REBERRAARBENGTE LT EINERF RN —

RTBEREARESR  WRE (R1TE (BX)RAD

£ 37C FESERMAERRT EABIEINERDE

Eﬂﬁmiﬁﬂ R EARER - AEEBBERARE (5
R ELFEEBMEAREARNRR

AEBREERAEE (RBRIERR) G EEFTEER
ERBRERENRK -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
5.4 Capital management

The major objective of the Group’s capital management is to
maximise total shareholders’ return while maintaining a capital
adequacy position in relation to the Group’s overall risk profile. The
ALCO periodically reviews the Group’s capital structure and adjusts
the capital mix where appropriate to maintain an optimal balance
among risk, return and capital adequacy.

The Group has developed and maintained a sound framework
of policies and controls on capital management to support the
development of the Group's business and to meet the statutory
capital adequacy ratio. The ALCO monitors the Group’s capital
adequacy. The Group has complied with all the statutory capital
requirements of the HKMA for the reported periods in respect of
banking operation as further elaborated below.

The Group has adopted the foundation internal ratings-based
("FIRB") approach to calculate the credit risk capital charge for the
majority of its non-securitisation exposures and the securitization
standardised approach (“SEC-SA") to calculate the credit risk
capital charge for its securitisation exposures. A small residual credit
exposures are remained under the standardised (credit risk) (“STC")
approach. The Group has adopted the standardised credit valuation
adjustment (“CVA") method to calculate the capital charge for the
CVA risk of the counterparty.

The Group continues to adopt the internal models (“"IMM") approach
to calculate the general market risk capital charge for foreign
exchange and interest rate exposures and, with the approval from
the HKMA, exclude its structural FX positions pursuant to section
317C of the Banking (Capital) Rules in the calculation of the market
risk capital charge. The Group continues to adopt the standardised
(market risk) (“STM") approach to calculate the market risk capital
charge for the remaining exposures.

The Group continues to adopt standardised (operational risk)
("STO") approach to calculate the operational risk capital charge.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.4 Capital management (Cont'd)

The Group has continued to adopt an internal capital adequacy
assessment process (“ICAAP”) to comply with the HKMA’s
requirements in the Supervisory Policy Manual “Supervisory Review
Process” in 2018. Based on the HKMA's guidelines on Pillar I,
ICAAP has been initiated to assess the extra capital needed to cover
the material risks not captured or not adequately captured under
Pillar 1, and therefore minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,
minimum Tier 1 capital ratio and minimum Total capital ratio are
determined. Meanwhile, operating ranges for the aforementioned
capital ratios have also been established which enable the flexibility
for future business growth and efficiency of capital utilisation.
The Group considers this ICAAP as an on-going process for capital
management and periodically reviews and adjusts its capital structure
where appropriate in relation to the overall risk profile.

In addition, the capital plan of the Group is drawn up annually and
then submitted to the Board for approval after endorsement of the
ALCO. The plan is built up by assessing the implications of various
factors upon capital adequacy such as the business strategies,
return on equity, risk appetite, credit rating, as well as regulatory
requirements. Hence, the future capital requirement is determined
and capital sources are identified also. The plan is to ensure the
Group maintains adequate capital and appropriate capital structure
which align with its business development needs, thereby achieving
an optimal balance among risk, return and capital adequacy.

(A) Basis of regulatory consolidation

The consolidation basis for regulatory purposes comprises the
positions of the Bank and certain subsidiaries specified by the HKMA
in accordance with the Banking (Capital) Rules. For accounting
purposes, subsidiaries are consolidated in accordance with HKFRSs
and the list of subsidiaries is set out in “Appendix — Subsidiaries of
the Bank”.
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5. “RERE ®
54 BXRE®E (%)
(A) EELEAEH(F)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
5.4 Capital management (Cont'd)

(A) Basis of regulatory consolidation (Cont'd)

BIEESHTENGEHE MIABEEEERTRE The particulars of subsidiaries which are included within the
HEANMBRR 2FELT accounting scope of consolidation but not included within the
regulatory scope of consolidation are as follows:
2018 2017

EEAE BB BELRE B4R
Total assets Total equity  Total assets  Total equity
BT T BT T BT T BT T
£18 Name HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FFEEIRITEEABMAE Nanyang Commercial Bank Trustee
Limited 16,598 16,488 16,509 16,399

EFEEEEEAMR AT Kwong Li Nam Investment Agency
Limited 4,214 4,068 4,752 4,024

mF R FERIT (REBA) Nanyang Commercial Bank (Nominees)

BRAF Limited 1,455 1,455 1,463 1,463

DA KRR A E BRIEN (M 8% — A R1T 2 M8

A

R2018F12A31H T EEFMHMBRARRABEEEE
HREFRAHE MTIeREet KA E (2017
FE|E)

R2018F12A31H  IMEEMMME R 5 R BEE
S ENNEEREAABEMERTRGEE A
(20174 - 4&)

The principal activities of the above subsidiaries are set out in
" Appendix — Subsidiaries of the Bank”.

There were no subsidiaries which are included within the regulatory
scope of consolidation but not included within the accounting scope
of consolidation as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

Neither were there any subsidiaries which are included within both
the accounting scope of consolidation and the regulatory scope of
consolidation where the methods of consolidation differ as at 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).

@ AR (B) Capital ratio

2018 2017
EBRE - RERLE CET1 capital ratio 13.50% 12.60%
—REXRLL = Tier 1 capital ratio 16.95% 16.09%
FEREWIN S Total capital ratio 18.70% 17.86%

170



www.nch.com.hk

#19% A% 4844 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 $R Q%

5. “RERE #
54 BXRE®E (%)
(B) EAIE ()

AR EIA LB AR R 2 MR B4R

REARERD

RS R Bl 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

5.4 Capital management (Cont'd)

(B) Capital ratio (Cont’d)

The consolidated capital base after deductions used in the

/TN

IR UNNE calculation of the above capital ratios is analysed as follows:
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
LTHRRE—RER: ZIREEH CET1 capital: instruments and reserves
BEERTHAEER L BRE Directly issued qualifying CET1 capital instruments
—MEREE 3,144,517 3,144,517
R A Retained earnings 33,911,997 31,153,712
ERERNFE Disclosed reserves 8,815,845 8,468,546
EEMRZAN L BRE-—RER CET1 capital before regulatory deductions 45,872,359 42,766,775
THRRE—RER BB CET1 capital: regulatory deductions
HEAE Valuation adjustments (16,962) (11,037)
EMRIEEHIBAENEERIBEEE Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities (46,836) (222,516)
TE’&%T{EETEE’JE\EIZK%E’J Gains and losses due to changes in own credit
EREREZSTEENIER risk on fair valued liabilities (12,417) (277)
ELtiREEy (BRRKRERRE) Cumulative fair value gains arising from the
EITEEERMEED revaluation of land and buildings
2REAFEEKE (own-use and investment properties) (6,761,032) (6,431,695)
—RIBTTEBRREE FEMB Regulatory reserve for general banking risks (2,478,179) (2,529,788)
HERRE - RE RS N Total regulatory deductions to CET1 capital (9.315,426) (9,195,313)
T E AR — AR CET1 capital 36,556,933 33,571,462
EIN— 4B R Additional Tier 1 capital 9,314,890 9,314,890
—RER Tier 1 capital 45,871,823 42,886,352
ZHRER BRERERS Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions
BERFAZRERE Collective impairment allowances and regulatory
SERRERER reserve for general banking risks eligible for
—MRIRITRBEE inclusion in Tier 2 capital 1,711,751 1,815,512
EEMR AT _HRER Tier 2 capital before regulatory deductions 1,711,751 1,815,512
ZRER:EERE Tier 2 capital: regulatory deductions
e & BT AZRERE Add back of cumulative fair value gains arising from
R+ RkgEgEy (8RR the revaluation of land and buildings (own-use
KER®)ETEEEM and investment properties) eligible for inclusion in
EENZEQTEEKE Tier 2 capital 3,042,464 2,894,262
HZREARHEEHR & Total regulatory deductions to Tier 2 capital 3,042,464 2,894,262
It [ EZ N Tier 2 capital 4,754,215 4,709,774
BER Total capital 50,626,038 47,596,126
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5. SEERE
54 EBEXEE(H)
(B) EFLE (&)
BEEEEARLL AT :

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

5.4 Capital management (Cont'd)

(B) Capital ratio (Cont’d)

The capital buffer ratios are analysed as follows:

120185F 720174

12H31H 12A31H

At 31 At 31

December December

2018 2017

[y & % 1 & AN b 3 Capital conservation buffer ratio 1.875% 1.250%
[ B AR B & AN b K Countercyclical capital buffer ratio 1.01% 0.61%
. AETHEBREFTERAEEHE ToREER . Certain changes made on comparative figures solely relates

ETHEBITERBBRBAENEETREE
SR MIERIEE] - BRI ERE N E R A
RAER1T48 B www.ncb.com.hk™ [BF#E#}

—ERE -

B GRITHE (BEAR) A - 7K2016E2019F E o
FEERSIA EEEEAR ([CCBLLR]) - BMERIRIR
TEXBEEIN B RBIMNEEE22.5% 287 3
BAEZEEER ([CCyBELX ) RIZHER RDEAE &
RE ANEEEERBAERHAKERKNEL &
BEMEBEERAMEBHEERNTAPEEEAN -
201851818 %2019 1 A 18 &5 5l A& = b hniE
EE21.875%8%2.50% °

BREARENRETER AR ARITHERwww.nch.

comhk TEEHE] —HRE-
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to changes made to the regulatory reporting treatment of
the Group's exposures to certain financial investments and
non-bank financial institutions. The additional information
of disclosure statement is available under section “Finance
Detail” on the Bank's website at www.ncb.com.hk.

In accordance with the Banking (Capital) Rules, the phase-in
from 2016 to 2019 of the Capital Conservation Buffer (“CCB”) is
designed to ensure banks build up capital outside periods of stress
of 2.5% of risk-weighted assets (“RWAs"”). The Countercyclical
Capital Buffer (“CCyB") which is set on an individual country basis
and is built up during periods of excess credit growth to protect
against future losses. The HKMA announced a CCyB for Hong Kong
of 1.875% and 2.50% of RWAs from 1 January 2018 and 1 January
2019 respectively.

The additional information of capital disclosures is available under
section “Regulatory Disclosures” on the Bank’s website at www.ncb.
com.hk.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
5.4 Capital management (Cont'd)

Q) Leverage ratio

2018 2017

BT T BT T

HK$°000 HK$’000

— AR Tier 1 capital 45,871,823 42,886,352
1EAR H R 3 s A Leverage ratio exposure 488,062,361 463,397,438
TEHR L Leverage ratio 9.40% 9.25%

BRAERLEEFEENBTERTRANRITHEE www.
ncb.com.hkd [EEEHFE | — 512 -

6. BEENMAREBHAIARE

MBARREFEREMBERERARENEERE
B HREBHBREENE 1R [AAETE] W
EE RAAEBRRANE -RESDBR2RMEE
TERFANERZ IBREERENE  WERHE
BANEMEREAXECREERRERETE

- F—EA HREEX R BEEERT LB
BORERE) WERABRE EMRMNES
ETHERARSHITERNRESE -

- F_EA&: DEREERMAARABNRERR
A (RARFHEREAREFEREATE)
AW E &R EMEE - L ERBEAID 5
SR ZHPTER K - WA ERBHERERE
REVETSE 7 RIFHE - AR 2RI ER
MTERRET T ITEARBNESELY
o,

— FE=EA: TERHERMARA S RIERER
A= (RANFHEBAREFERERATE)
BAARESR WERBRAEATABERA
EZNRMIRE TETARBHIA -RAKIR
BREHUBENTSEARETTEAFEN
Y

The additional information of leverage ratio disclosures is available
under section “Regulatory Disclosures” on the Bank's website at
www.ncb.com.hk.

6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair value measurement”. The
categorisation are determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation methods and
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

- Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities. This category
includes listed equity shares certain exchange-traded
derivative contracts and precious metals.

- Level 2: based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly. This category includes
majority of the OTC derivative contracts, debt securities
and certificates of deposit with quote from pricing services
vendors. It also includes precious metals and properties with
insignificant adjustments made to observable market inputs.

- Level 3: based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable. This category includes equity
investment, derivatives and debt instruments with significant
unobservable components. It also includes properties with
significant adjustments made to observable market inputs.
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6. EENEBHAAE (®)

HRNEEEERRARYBRENEERAE &
SEENE - UBRESENNEERSEHIEED
R(EREBBANEFEFEATEZREERR
R) UBREEBEAAERRZMABELER -

6.1 LAARBEENESEMIA

AEBEREY T ERENRIAEERREFHRE 2B
BB MBI R ATARAOIE R B FEE AR E - BIEHIE
NEEBYRENREBZHEERREARER
B R ERtREFREREBEENGES2 -
ERMESFEFREEEER-

BEEANAATSERBRER  AEEEBE—LME
RMRER,/ XIBCHABRBEESHMTANAR
B

HRAEEFRFENSRITA  HAERMEANE
E2YEREFER M- EX - EamMREER-
KiE XZBEFEEMNEREMSE TERARAH
MIZERRERNZ -

FAUREELATERIARARENKERENT

EH TR F3E BHT BHE

HETEANRARERR SN KX ZERINE B E
AR5 R IR R M IS MERE AR RS REL
DHTTRTE « AR IR MR R — B A TR AR KR
i A — AR RER 5 EARBRURRH TARSBRE
EEEZHBEY —RUARBAERERKZIES
HEE ARSZREAETRKEOPRE - FLP
BEMG LABEXBABREXTABENT S

BEE-
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6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

6.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value

The Group has an established governance structure and controls
framework to ensure that fair values are either determined or
validated by control units independent of the front offices. Control
units have overall responsibility for independent verification of
valuation results from front line businesses and all other significant
fair value measurements. Specific controls include verification of
observable pricing inputs. Significant valuation issues are reported to
the Management.

The Group uses valuation techniques or broker/dealer quotations
to determine the fair value of financial instruments when unable to
obtain the open market quotation in active markets.

The main parameters used in valuation techniques for financial
instruments held by the Group include bond prices, interest
rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and stock prices, volatilities,
counterparty credit spreads and others, which are mostly observable
and obtainable from open market.

The technique used to calculate the fair value of the following
financial instruments is as below:

Debt instruments, certificates of deposit, rediscounted bills
and forfeiting

The fair value of these instruments is determined by obtaining
quoted market prices from exchange, dealer or independent pricing
service vendors or using discounted cash flow technique. Discounted
cash flow model is a valuation technique that measures present value
using estimated expected future cash flows from the instruments and
then discounts these flows using a discount margin that reflects the
credit spreads required by the market for instruments with similar risk
or a discount rate which is referred to the transaction interest rate of
instruments with similar risk as at the end of the month and inter-
bank bid rate as the final discount rate. These inputs are observable
or can be corroborated by observable or unobservable market data.



www.nch.com.hk

#19% A% 4844 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 $R Q%

6. EENEBHNAAE®
6.1 LIARBHEMNSBMIL(E)

RIERE

FIXZRETBEBRERALE  FHRAAR RN Edm A
MES MWBRTEANAREIZAWBRBE S RELE
E-FERN2BARBEXTABRTSEE A
BEEN2HERNERREEEEBR  —LEMNE
ERE AAERERIIBIRERER-

TETA

BINZHHITET AR N BIEINE  FXAEMmAE
H RSN - TETASHNNEBEREIERR
RIS MBI R EER S A ERINETE < e
AHN2BRABRITABRMSHE  TEENS
BHERME EX BoERLKE  TABRN2
gunptE FE A AR RERERETE XTI SR
ENMBEER B ULERNITETRGD AF
ERRERE,/ X5 2 RERERE-

REBHSGIHIZZNTETREL T EERERE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

6.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Cont'd)

Inter-bank investments

Interbank investments mainly include guaranteed and non-
guaranteed financial products and funds. The fair value of these
instruments is determined by using discounted cash flow technique.
The inputs applied are observable or can be corroborated by
observable or unobservable market data. Observable inputs include
interest rate and market price of the underlying assets. For certain
complex interbank investments, the fair values are determined based
on dealer price quotations.

Derivatives

OTC derivative contracts include forward, swap and option contracts
on foreign exchange, interest rate or commodity. The fair values
of these contracts are mainly measured using valuation techniques
such as discounted cash flow models and option pricing models. The
inputs can be observable or unobservable market data. Observable
inputs include interest rate, foreign exchange rates, commodity
prices and volatilities. Unobservable inputs such as volatility surface
may be used for less commonly traded option products which are
embedded in structured deposits. For certain complex derivative
contracts, the fair values are determined based on broker/dealer
price quotations.

Credit valuation adjustments (“CVA") and debit valuation
adjustments (“DVA") are applied to the Group’s OTC derivatives.
These adjustments reflect market factors movement, expectations
of counterparty creditworthiness and the Group’s own credit spread
respectively. They are mainly determined for each counterparty and
are dependent on expected future values of exposures, default
probabilities and recovery rates.
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6. EENMEGBNARE® 6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
6.1 MUAREENEERIA(HE) 6.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Cont'd)
A) ARERZER (A)  Fair value hierarchy
2018
E-EB& F_EBHR =5 Mt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERMEE Financial assets
AABEEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value
cREE (MsE21) through profit or loss (Note 21)
—RH5M — Trading
—EBES — Debt securities - 4,807,369 - 4,807,369
— B HIMEA AR EE — Mandatorily measured
FTABE RS at fair value through profit
or loss, non trading
— & & %5 — Equity securities 85,827 - = 85,827
—Hfth — Others - - 3,786,290 3,786,290
PTES R T A (KisE22) Derivative financial instruments
(Note 22) 317,669 337,052 - 654,721
AR AREE bR AR A Financial investments at fair value
2EHBENEFIEE through other comprehensive
(Bt 5E24) income (Note 24)
—EBBSH RERE — Debt securities and
certificates of deposit - 112,934,699 - 112,934,699
— DB — Equity securities - = 31,833 31,833
SRBE Financial liabilities
AABEZEETABEZ Financial liabilities at fair value
e & (KiE28) through profit or loss (Note 28)
—R5M — Trading - 4,803,277 - 4,803,277
TEemI A (ME22) Derivative financial instruments
(Note 22) 94,041 259,886 - 353,927
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6. BEENEBNAAEH) 6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

6.1 UAAESENESRIA(E) 6.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Cont'd)

(A)  RAREAZER (E)

(A)  Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)

2017
F—ER E_ER FZER REr
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

AETT  ABTT A% TT  AETE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ERMEE Financial assets
AABEZETAERZ Financial assets at fair value
c@EE (KizE21) through profit or loss (Note 21)
—R5M — Trading
—BRELHRTFRE — Debt securities and certificates
of deposit - 4,142,283 - 4,142,283
TEemI A (MEE22) Derivative financial instruments
(Note 22) 327,009 73,834 - 400,843
AHEESREE Available-for-sale financial assets
(HMizE24) (Note 24)
—EBBSH RERE — Debt securities and
certificates of deposit - 86,594,953 - 86,594,953
—BRHES — Equity securities = = 15,156 15,156
—Hfth — Others - - 17,430,518 17,430,518
- =Ri Financial liabilities
AABEZ LT AEBRZZ Financial liabilities at fair value
e E (KiE28) through profit or loss (Note 28)
—-X 5 ~ Trading ~ 4,345,543 ~ 4,345,543
MTEemI A (ME22) Derivative financial instruments
(Note 22) 100,377 297,419 - 397,796

rEEzeMEENBERFALREE EHAR There were no financial asset and liability transfers between level 1
F_EHENER (2017F ) - and level 2 for the Group during the year (2017: Nil).
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6. BEENEBNAAEH) 6.

6.1 LUAREFENESEMIA (8H) 6.1

B) FE=[ERNEEZE

LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

(Cont’d)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items

B
UR S fE

FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND

2018
TRMEE

Financial assets

Bl ABE
Mandatorily measured
at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial instruments measured at fair value

LARE
AR
2EKE
MeERmRE
Financial
investments
at fair value
through other

ERHH comprehensive
Non trading income
E¥TmEES R EH
Money Hity Equity
market fund Others securities
BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7201851 A1H At 1 January 2018
F 151 8 As previously reported = = -
HMAE Opening adjustments
—ERRERREMEE — Transfer from advances and other accounts - 700,932 =
—ERASRRE-THIEE — Transfer from financial investments
- available-for-sale 6,096,906 11,327,738 15,156
HIYR B AR Balance after opening adjustments 6,096,906 12,028,670 15,156
Wi/ (B18) Gains/(losses)
~W@x — Income statement (344,239) (738,589) =
—HtrEKR ~ Other comprehensive income
— AR ER AL 2 E KA ~ Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
SREEZANER L through other comprehensive income - - 285
EA Purchases 1,252,590 4,340,337 16,392
it Sales (7,005,257)  (11,844,128) -
7201812 A31H At 31 December 2018 - 3,786,290 31,833

R2018F 1231 BB ENEREE
REBAGFARGENAER KA

Total unrealised gain for the period included in
income statement for financial assets held
as at 31 December 2018
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FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND

6.1 DUAREENEEIA(HE) 6.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Cont'd)
B) FE=EREEZE (&) (B)  Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont’d)
2017
Financial assets
PTHE A E
ST A Available-for-sale
(F5)
Derivative
Financial f&1n & %
Instruments Equity HAh
(net) securities Others
PEEE T R T IT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2017F1A18 At 1 January 2017 85 13,381 7,768,729
e Gains
—m xR — Income statement = = 749,775
—H i 2K — Other comprehensive income
—AHEEBIF 2 ANBEE — Change in fair value of available-for-sale
securities - 1,775 -
BA Purchases - — 34,255,958
Ei R B Sales, redemptions and maturity = - (25,343,944)
HHE=EHK Transfer out of Level 3 (85) = =
72017512 A31H At 31 December 2017 = 15,156 17,430,518

R2017F12A31BF AN E

BERFAGARBERD
AERK AT

Total unrealised gains for the year included
in income statement for financial assets
held as at 31 December 2017 -
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6. EENEBHNAAE®
6.1 LIARBHEMNSBMIA(E)

(B) F=ERELZE (&)

R2018F12A31H HEAF=ZERANEMITEE
BEUNAREE G ABREZEMEERIF LT
T o

R2017F12A8318  DEAFE=EZNERHTAEE
RAHEESREE-

HRELARRB M A MIAR R EZ(CEFT ABRAMA
HEEZEREE AEEUXZIHTEHAE EQ
FENAENERATHHEEEEERZENAT
BER28 ARAKERELeRT AN EE=]E
Ao ARBD M ARRE N EPIE G RS B LA
TR TEMMA -

FELETBRENAARENREAHRLERH LT AR Z
FHMEBAGH KB LEAEANEHEERNA
A HRHEBEFEET  ARNEEREARAZAL
REHREESEEFECEERBER BRERE
MEEEEFEER BP5% AAEEEMEE
U ZE ¥ 52 0 6k 4 7 #51,592,0007T (20174512 A 31
B : &%758,0007T) °

6.2 FULAAEFENEWMIA
ARERNE—RBERHZEATSEERNETRE

MTAZEMKFN G - UTZ2IERBRRERERE
NERRFGEEERMTAZARE

R THRIRITREM 2 BB =R E 5 Ei5

AMAZEMEENBERREERR —FARIE-
HIRHESEAERE -
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6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

6.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Cont'd)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2018, financial instruments categorised as level
3 are mainly comprised of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and unlisted equity shares.

As at 31 December 2017, financial instruments categorised as level 3
are mainly comprised of available for sale financial assets.

For certain illiquid others financial assets classified as fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale, the Group obtains
valuation quotations from counterparties which may be based
on unobservable inputs with significant impact on the valuation.
Therefore, these instruments have been classified by the Group as
level 3. The Group has established internal control procedures to
control the Group's exposure to such financial instruments.

The fair values of unlisted equity shares are determined with
reference to multiples of comparable listed companies, such as
average of the price/earning ratios of comparables, or net asset
value, if appropriate comparables are not available. The fair value
is positively correlated to the price/earning ratios of appropriate
comparables or net asset values. Had the net asset value of the
underlying equity investments increased/decreased by 5%, the
Group’s other comprehensive income would have increased/
decreased by HK$1,592,000 (31 December 2017: HK$758,000).

6.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on
relevant market information and information about various financial
instruments. The following methods and assumptions have been
used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument
as far as practicable.

Balances with/from banks and other financial institutions
and trade bills

Substantially all the financial assets and liabilities mature within
one year from the balance sheet date and their carrying value
approximates fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

6.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value
(Cont'd)

Advances to customers

Substantially all the advances to customers are on floating rate
terms, bear interest at prevailing market interest rates and their
carrying value approximates fair value.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

The fair value of debt instruments at amortisation cost is determined
by using the same approach as those debt instruments measured at
fair value as described in Note 6.1.

Deposits from customers

Substantially all the deposits from customers mature within one year
from the balance sheet date and their carrying value approximates
fair value.

Debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue

The fair value of these instruments is determined by using the same
approach as those debt instruments and certificates of deposit
measured at fair value as described in Note 6.1.
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6. BEENEBNAAEH) 6.

6.2 FUQAABEENESHIA (A 6.2

BRALHREERARERENESR TR TRA
FUARENENEMIAZEAEMARE-

FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

(Cont’d)

The following tables set out the carrying values and fair values of
the financial instruments not measured at fair value, except for the

above with their carrying values being approximation of fair values.

2018 2017
REE BREE
Carrying ARE Carrying NiE
value Fair value value Fair value
BT T BET T AT BT
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
LAEE SR X AN ERT 2 MY Debt instruments at amortised cost
EH TR 5,183,621 5,233,740 = =
REZIHBES Held-to-maturity - - 3,457,187 3,452,680
B R e R Loans and receivables - - 3,753,086 3,776,502
SRBE Financial liabilities
ERITERELSRTFRE  Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue 12,192,974 12,303,684 6,781,208 6,686,616
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6. BEEMNEEBENAAE W 6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (cont'd)

6.2 FULAABEENESHIA (A 6.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value
(Cont'd)

TRITERBEAANENERITEZARBESR The following tables show the fair value hierarchy for financial

instruments with fair values disclosed.

2018
E-B& EoE®R E=EBR #st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

BT T BT T BT BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

EEMEE Financial assets
LABR R AR ERTE R Debt instruments at amortised cost
B LTE - 3,051,407 2,182,333 5,233,740
EEMEE Financial liabilities
BETEEES RTRE Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue - 12,303,684 - 12,303,684
2017
F—ER F_ER F=ER RET
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TS ¥ T BT BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
BEEIHBAES Held-to-maturity securities - 3,452,680 - 3,452,680
B R BB Loans and receivables - - 3,776,502 3,776,502
SREE Financial liabilities
BERITERBHFRTRE Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue - 6,686,616 - 6,686,616
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6. EENEBHNAAE®
63 ULUARBEHEMNFELEBMIE

AN & B3R A — LR A R 30F BB T 95 3R (E SR HERE FF
ERTAMRRE

AEEZMERADRRENERFE -FTEAKEZ
BRENEMFECRFERAETER - AERBILRRT
R SR BIFHEITAERDRIETT EERABEE
AEMBPEEREXEBREXGEERZAR A
EHEVMEMRLRRBE ERERR BHERS
FERRFRETR AEEEEESRAEMN W
HERE HERKLGESER -HETERFRR
Bk o

(i) FE_EBRASEGTERBAIGE LR EZE

WA BRE_BRZMENAAE HB2EALERY
EOEHHERRE (MHLEE) X2 EMSESE
RERMEE (WABERZK)  BYE A LB E MK
EYMEZHENZERFEHEE AR - WFABRERRY
ERAESTBREATE -

AEBZMEOUNEBE LA 2 TERT /R
ERBNMERNYEN G -ALEMEZHEEB ™
SRS RERNMEER RO ENEN S LWERNK
REBREE -
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6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

6.3 Non-financial instruments measured at fair
value

The Group uses valuation techniques or quoted market prices
in active market to determine the fair value of non-financial
instruments.

Investment properties and premises

The Group's properties can be divided into investment properties
and premises. All of the Group's investment properties and premises
were revalued as at year end. The valuations were carried out by an
independent firm of chartered surveyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited,
who have among their staff Fellow and Members of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the locations and
categories of properties being valued. The Group’s Management had
discussions with the surveyors on the valuation methods, valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed
at each interim and annual reporting date. There has been no
change in valuation methods during the year.

0 Valuation methods and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of properties classified as Level 2 is determined using
either the market comparison approach by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties or the income capitalisation
approach by reference to market rent and capitalisation rate, with
appropriate adjustments to reflect the differences between the
comparable properties and the subject properties. These adjustments
are considered as insignificant to the entire measurement.

The Group's properties are located in Hong Kong and major cities
in the PRC where the property markets are considered active and
transparent. Sales price, market rent and capitalisation rate of
comparable properties are generally observable either directly or
indirectly in these markets.
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BHEESWABRE B ASEYRBEHNA L
BWMEZEEFENTSEABREE -

UTAREAREFERHEIBERE=ERIAE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

6.3 Non-financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)

Investment properties and premises (Cont’d)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of all of the Group’s properties classified as Level 3
is determined using either the market comparison approach or the
income capitalisation approach, adjusted for a premium or a discount
specific to the features of the Group's properties compared to the
comparable properties.

The valuation methods and significant unobservable inputs used in

the fair value measurement of the Group’s properties classified as
Level 3 are as follows:

AABEEERAAENRE

EXATABERZ REF 1 Relationship of
HERE Significant Weighted unobservable inputs
Valuation method unobservable inputs average to fair value
Hfih ¥ % 5 BER YRR LR EE -1.4% HEMS AREMS-
Other properties WAB AL WE 2R E/ (E) (2017: -6.7%) The higher the premium,

Market comparison approach
or income capitalisation
approach

MEREATLBYEELE L2 RE/ (E) 2
ZRAIGBYEETRARR FNER - fINKRREL
E'“@U u% EEM B RN 2 mE-

BEeBZARNERREBRTEREXAE THEDN
TG ME QSR -

Premium/(discount) on features
of the property compared to
comparable properties

the higher the fair value.

HEMS AREHRK-
The higher the discount,
the lower the fair value.

Premium/(discount) on features of a property is determined
after taken into account various factors, such as time for market
movement, location, accessibility, building age/condition, floor
level, size, layout, with reference to the differences in features with

comparable properties.

Precious metals

The fair values of precious metals are determined by obtaining
quoted market prices in active market or market quote with certain
adjustments.
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6. EENMEGBNARE® 6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
63 LUAREENFESBMIA(E) 6.3 Non-financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)
A RAREHER (A)  Fair value hierarchy
2018
E-EB& E_EB&R E=ZER Mt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FeMEE Non-financial assets
HEWZE (Ki7E25) Investment properties (Note 25) - = 331,942 331,942
I E RN Properties, plant and equipment
(Hi3E26) (Note 26)
—BE — Premises - 86,750 7,334,171 7,420,921
H & E (KtsE27) Other assets (Note 27)
—-EeB — Precious metals 65,871 167,018 - 232,889
2017
E—EBR E_EB& FZER st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ok e AT EEE T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FeMEE Non-financial assets
wEY (KMH5E25) Investment properties (Note 25) = = 302,702 302,702
YIEE - B3 R Properties, plant and equipment
(KTE26) (Note 26)
—FBE — Premises - 83,085 7,090,813 7,173,898
Hih & E (MizE27) Other assets (Note 27)
—E%E — Precious metals 61,629 184,328 - 245,957

REEBZEECREENRNFRNLREEF—EBRNE_E There were no non-financial asset transfers between level 1 and level
H 2 HERER (2017F - &) - 2 for the Group during the year (2017: Nil).
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6. BEENEEMNARE® 6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
63 ULUAREFENFESBMIA(HE) 6.3 Non-financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)
B) F=[ERKNEEZE (B)  Reconciliation of level 3 items
2018
FERMEE
Non-financial assets
Y - BB M
R&E
Properties,
plant and
15 equipment
Investment BE
properties Premises
BET T BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
R2018F1 A1H At 1 January 2018 302,702 7,090,813
& Gains
— a3 — Income statement
—REYWELAANBERAEZ FIWE — Net gain from fair value adjustments on
investment properties 29,240 -
—EHEEZFNR — Net gain from revaluation of premises - 5,552
—H 2 mEmas — Other comprehensive income
—-FEEMR — Revaluation of premises = 393,327
e Depreciation = (127,008)
HE Additions - 5,294
2! Transfer out = (563)
fEHZERR Exchange difference = (33,244)
720184124318 At 31 December 2018 331,942 7,334,171
72018512 A31 B R A HFES &l Total unrealised gains for the year included in
BEERFNGTARGERNAER income statement for non-financial assets held
Wk 4858 as at 31 December 2018
—REMEANERAE 2 F = — Net gain from fair value adjustments on
investment properties 29,240 -
—EBHEEZF RS — Net gain from revaluation of premises - 5,552

29,240 5,552
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6. BEENEBNAAEH)
63 LIAARBEHEMNFELBMIE (&)

B) FE=ZERNEFEZE (F)

6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

6.3 Non-financial instruments measured at fair

value (Cont'd)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont’d)

2017
FERmEE
Non-financial assets
L E=-Y7 )
PET
Properties,
plant and
equipment
"EME
Investment FE
properties Premises
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
R2017F1 A1H At 1 January 2017 383,830 6,378,855
Wz Gains
— W am & — Income statement
—REMELAAEAEZ — Net gain from fair value adjustments on
F U investment properties 24,990 =
—BAFEEZF N — Net gain from revaluation of premises = 1,173
—Hth 2 M= — Other comprehensive income
—FBEEMH — Revaluation of premises - 405,320
e Depreciation = (112,070)
HE Additions 2,502 6,549
& A Transfer in = 5,970
BAFE=EHR Transfer into level 3 = 251,400
ENOE Reclassification (108,620) 108,620
bE 5 = Exchange difference = 44,996
R2017F12A31H At 31 December 2017 302,702 7,090,813
R2017F12A31BHFANIESH Total unrealised gains for the year included in
BEERFNGTARGENARAER income statement for non-financial assets held
W42 58 as at 31 December 2017
—REMERAANERARZ Fl= — Net gain from fair value adjustments on investment
properties 24,990 -
—EHEEZFRE — Net gain from revaluation of premises = 1,173
24,990 1,173
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6. EENMEBENARE® 6. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

63 LAREFEMESRMIA (H) 6.3 Non-financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)

(B) FE=ERRIEEZE (&) (B)  Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont’d)

BARBHE=-ERNMEXDRAZFREENEE
HHEALBYEENE L2 RE/ (FTE)RFAL
BB HE L2 E, (FTE) TDBURR K
EMERAPRR 2 AT BMEEEE LHER - i
REFREAPTERZZ A LR ESE T RN
Rl WA EYEEAT LR YEELE E2RE (4
B)SHRESFAME( EtMYABRNMERR
FETTZ AR ZERNENGR 2218 3| B X RS
ARBHE=ER-

The transfer of properties into and out of level 3 is due to change
in the premium/(discount) on features applied between the subject
and comparable properties during the year. Premium/(discount)
on features is determined with reference to differences in features
between the subject properties and the comparable properties
recently transacted in the market. As comparable properties that
come from recent market transactions may be different in each year,
the premium/(discount) on features applied between the subject and
comparable properties would change from year to year accordingly.
As a result, the significance of adjustments made to observable
market inputs may vary and lead to the transfer of properties into
and out of level 3.

7. F=RE WA 7. NET INTEREST INCOME
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$000 HK$'000
FE WA Interest income
17 A [B] 2 & H fib & Bh A% 48 Y FR08 Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,299,290 1,729,176
BEFPEX Advances to customers 9,470,177 6,825,418
DRIIRE Financial investment 2,740,214 2,144,881
AABEE T ABRZERMEE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss = 38,306
Hh Others 23,940 11,127
13,533,621 10,748,908
FE X H Interest expense
[ 2 & B fib & g 8 17 AR 50 IE Due to banks and other financial institutions (1,418,719)  (1,130,353)
BRPIER Deposits from customers (4,817,639) (3,208,580)
BREITERES REFRHE Debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue (381,024) (196,428)
Hh Others (249,987) (219,148)
(6,867,369) (4,754,509)
R E WA Net interest income 6,666,252 5,994,399

HZE2018F12A31HIEFE 2 A B WA BIEHE AT
AREE KK FERT ) B YA S 1,882,000t (2017
£ : A #E5,356,0000T ) °

Included within interest income is HK$1,882,000 (2017:
HK$5,356,000) of interest with respect to income accrued on
advances classified as impaired for the year ended 31 December
2018.
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7. BFBRNBEWA (®

FEUAREBEE T ABEZ eREEHSRARBIE
AR B A R FIE X 5 Bl &7 #13,533,621,000
T (20174 : B #10,710,602,0007T ) & /6 ¥
6,867,369,0007T (20174F : B %4,738,725,0007T) °

7. NET INTEREST INCOME (Cont'd)

Included within interest income and interest expense are
HK$13,533,621,000 (2017: HK$10,710,602,000) and
HK$6,867,369,000 (2017: HK$4,738,725,000) for financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not recognised at fair value through

8. FRBERAMEWA

profit or loss respectively.

8. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
BREERASKRA Fee and commission income
EXRe Loan commissions 501,626 503,399
B Securities brokerage 249,978 260,947
EZHE Bills commissions 195,149 166,990
IR Insurance 176,320 166,809
HE D H Funds distribution 150,616 165,357
R ERTS Payment services 59,370 56,731
RE Safe deposit box 34,350 18,635
ERAREB Credit card business 33,866 44,253
Bt RFEE R Trust and custody services 14,573 40,160
BEEEE Currency exchange 677 600
Eth Others 321,437 307,201
1,737,962 1,731,082
BREEBRAEH Fee and commission expense
BHLA Securities brokerage (31,766) (32,811)
ERFRER Credit card business (5,389) (3,336)
R BR TS Payment services (14) (27)
Eih Others (36,854) (35,060)
(74,023) (71,234)
FHREERASWA Net fee and commission income 1,663,939 1,659,848
HApRE Of which arise from
—FEURARBEEFTABEZ — financial assets or financial liabilities
CREERSREE not at fair value through profit or loss
—RBERAS KA — Fee and commission income 499,475 489,016
—-RBERASI T — Fee and commission expense (2,057) (2,346)
497,418 486,670
—EREREMEFEED — trust and other fiduciary activities
—IRBE KA WA — Fee and commission income 27,529 52,792
—fREEREE SN — Fee and commission expense (1,339) (1,270)
26,190 51,522
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9. NET TRADING GAIN/(LOSS)

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000

Flizs (BE)RE Net gain/(loss) from
—INER 5 RINER 5 E — foreign exchange and foreign exchange products 229,807 (62,419)
—HEITHR — interest rate instruments 60,824 5,203
—Em — commodities (42,591) (86,950)
248,040 (144,166)

10. HttE@EE 2 FWHE

10. NET GAIN ON OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR S EE M ET A B fh 2 Uz #) Net gain on financial investments measured at fair
TRIRE 2 F WS value through other comprehensive income 52,931 -
AHEEEF 2 F Net gain on available-for-sale securities = 29,018
HA Others 158,840 89,897
211,771 118,915
11. HbEEWA 11. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$’000
BHIRAERBWA Dividend income from investment in securities
—JEEMBEHEE — Unlisted investments 3,010 2,980
wEYE RSB Gross rental income from investment properties 10,832 11,511
W BAREME LT Less: Outgoings in respect of investment properties (758) (746)
HAth Others 9,215 12,676
22,299 26,421

/TN

(B EMEZIH ] BEFARAEHEEEDEZ
BELE T H 186,000t (20174 : #%342,000
JT) °

Included in the “Outgoings in respect of investment properties”
is HK$186,000 (2017: HK$342,000) of direct operating expenses
related to investment properties that were not let during the year.

FREEIAALBEEREDEZAESEKA
(20174 : 75%#532,0007T ) °

There was no contingent rent included in the “Gross rental income
from investment properties” during the year (2017: HK$532,000).
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12. BEEGFRE 12. NET CHARGE OF IMPAIRMENT
ALLOWANCES
2018
EF-RE EoRE E=RER #at
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TFHERIT R E b2 B Balances with banks and
MRS 1Y) 45 B4 other financial institutions (940) 14 = (926)
B R HAERIE Advances and other accounts 277,460 (49,476)  (1,363,305)  (1,135,321)
S RIEE Financial investments 31,596 (35) (182,907) (151,346)
HAh & &= Other assets (628) (55) (13) (696)
B ISR 1R Financial guarantees 38,610 23,197 = 61,807
B PR E Loan commitments (15,453) 490 - (14,963)
BEZEREF BB (BHE)  Net reversal/(charge) of
impairment allowances 330,645 (25,865) (1,546,225) (1,241,445)
2017
AT
HK$'000
EFEX Advances to customers
& Bl 51 & Individually assessed
—FTIREE — New allowances (637,653)
— G — Releases 60,256
— Ui [B] & il £ BR 18 — Recoveries 21,822
R R ERORE EfFREE Net charge of individually assessed loan
impairment allowances (555,575)
HETE Collectively assessed
—HIREE — New allowances (386,813)
— G — Releases 28,163
— Y B & 85 BR 1B — Recoveries 560
LG FHE BERUR B EE SRS Net charge of collectively assessed loan
impairment allowances (358,090)
EHOREEEFRE Net charge of loan impairment allowances (913,665)
EXRENRSRMRERRE Net charge of impairment allowance on loans and
receivables financial investments (6,740)
Hib Others (56)
BEEEFRE Net charge of impairment allowances (920,461)
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13. KEXH 13. OPERATING EXPENSES
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$’000
ANEER (BEEEME) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
—H B R H A& — Salaries and other costs 1,666,047 1,463,685
— iR KA R — Pension cost 186,484 165,921
— R RIKE R — Supplementary retirement benefits 4,560 4,510
1,857,091 1,634,116
FEREZESL (TREFRE) Premises and equipment expenses
(excluding depreciation)
—-FEEMES2 — Rental of premises 267,290 254,412
— BB — Information technology 89,164 130,693
—H A - Others 72,916 59,777
429,370 444,882
e Depreciation 203,375 199,555
2% 2R B Auditor's remuneration
— AR — Audit services 8,623 7,701
— kB RS — Non-audit services 993 2,304
Hith & & T Other operating expenses
—EBINEE — Outsourcing activities fee 411,654 304,204
—H A - Others 387,687 310,307
3,298,793 2,903,069
14. REYFAAEAR 2 FRE 14. NET GAIN FROM FAIR VALUE
ADJUSTMENTS ON INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
REMERAREREZ FRE Net gain from fair value adjustments on investment
properties 29,240 24,990

29,240 24,990
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15. HE EfYX BHRREZ 15. NET GAIN/(LOSS) FROM DISPOSAL/
Bl (E8) REVALUATION OF PROPERTIES, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT
2018 2017
BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
HERE BEREkEE 2 FES Net loss from disposal of equipment,
fixtures and fittings (912) (3,206)
B FEEZF WS Net gain from revaluation of premises 5,552 1,173
4,640 (2,033)
16. HIE 16. TAXATION
Was RN Z HIBAKAT Taxation in the income statement represents:
2018 2017
BT T BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000
ARHEATR IE Current tax
BEFER Hong Kong profits tax
—FRFFAFIE — Current year taxation 501,983 455,529
—EFEBEEE — Over-provision in prior years (1,834) (5,600)
500,149 449,929
EINEETE Overseas taxation
—F ANt ARIA — Current year taxation 26,751 216,756
—EF (B8E) T ERE — (Over)/under-provision in prior years (1,669) 7,775
525,231 674,460
RAER 1A Deferred tax
TR AR B A RO K Origination and reversal of temporary differences
AERABRIEE R and unused tax credits 175,958 (83,434)
701,189 591,026

B A TG TR B AF S 51 B R B A kR
16.5% (20174 : 16.5% ) 128 < BINGE | 2 Bi Iz R
AN TS A AT ER A v 1) K A B (B A e TS AT AR B SR
T EHE -

194

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. Taxation on overseas profits has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the
rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.
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16. BIE (&) 16. TAXATION (Cont'd)
AEERBAIRMNEENERIE  BREFENGE The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation that differs from
BEAENHBEEENT the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of

Hong Kong is as follows:
2018 2017

BET T BB T
HK$'000 HK$'000

B B B i A Profit before taxation 4,678,689 3,847,258
LR E16.5% (20174F 1 16.5% ) Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5%

FTHERBIIE (2017: 16.5%) 771,984 634,798
HWBERGEREZENTE Effect of different taxation rates in other countries 72,607 40,345
EE R Z WA Income not subject to taxation (146,331) (67,960)
s E AR 2 X Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 86,776 24,749
RIERM BT E B Tax losses not recognised 1 1
FRATFRBERORIEESR Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (14) (9)
T (#B%E) /T RBEE (Over)/under —provision in prior years (3,503) 2,175
YEINEIR TR Foreign withholding tax (2,761) 1,536
BIIRARSZNEBINEATEZSFHE  Adjustment in respect of cost and distribution payment

for additional equity instruments (77,570) (44,609)

T ATIE Taxation charge 701,189 591,026

BERB = Effective tax rate 14.99% 15.36%
17. R & 17. DIVIDENDS

2018 2017

sB wam =il Pk

ik BT T Vi ST

Per share Total Per share Total

HK$ HK$'000 HK$ HK$'000

HERRR B Interim dividends = = = =

2018F W AT RARE (20174 : &) o No dividend has been declared for the year ended 31 December

2018 (2017: Nil).
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18. BRE R A A
(@) HREHRMREE

REBGETFAEBEINRERFEEERE (4
BEIEH) & 2 B3 RIKGT 8 R RIRME 504
BEFTE - BRI RN B 8 AR B 2RI
BB AERAEEAT ©25% MEXZEAH
RAEBERNAHF 25%E15%TE (RTEEZR
BEH) EEBRENEIR  RATEKSER KL
BRRSEEMI0F A EEE R TKEN100% 2 EE
HRRIEMIFRIFNE T AEMEREMRLILE
FRHA (4 B s R (B BR A1) - PIIRER30% E90% 2 & &
HF-EEWEMEEHERR BF GREIEQAEST
ZIEF) FTAR ©

BEE GRESEA) R2000F12R1H B NEE
H2EPRRBEHRIESF B ZEA B2 ZEAR
FIREREBERBMEEERAA] KEFEARTIR
BREERHEEEEGRAA -

#H Z=2018F 128318 E Kk #7%8 #1,327,0007T
(20174 : 4978 #1,355,00070 ) Z 38 U it 7k 1% B %
RIRET 8 2 AR BB XY 5 75 #547,088,0007T (2017
& H97%8¥644,978,0000T )  MANEB AR IBE ST E 2
HREEE A 575 %10,887,0007T (20174 : #4)78 #&
10,257,0007T ) ©

(b) SREFZETE

AEBERET - HIFEESNRENERENGE
THECERAKRBT -HEZHE T BETESZERAKR
NMEERE2BF FEZMMEMEKRERN -

ANEHEIE S R @ MRKE T2 5 A B HI
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18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
(a) Defined contribution schemes

Defined contribution schemes for the Group’s employees are ORSO
schemes exempted under the MPF Schemes Ordinance and the BOC-
Prudential Easy Choice MPF Scheme. Under the ORSO schemes,
employees make monthly contributions to the ORSO schemes equal
to 5% of their basic salaries, while the employer makes monthly
contributions equal to 5% to 15% of the employees’ monthly basic
salaries, depending on years of service. The employees are entitled
to receive 100% of the employer’s contributions upon retirement,
early retirement or termination of employment after completing 10
years of service. Employees with 3 to 9 years of service are entitled
to receive the employer’s contributions at a scale ranging from 30%
to 90% upon termination of employment for other reasons other
than summary dismissal. All employer’s contributions received by
employee are subject to MPF Schemes Ordinance.

With the implementation of the MPF Schemes Ordinance on 1
December 2000, the Group also participates in the BOC-Prudential
Easy Choice MPF Scheme, of which the trustee is BOCI-Prudential
Trustee and the investment manager is BOCI-Prudential Manager.

The Group’s total contributions made to the ORSO schemes for
the year ended 31 December 2018 amounting to approximately
HK$47,088,000 (2017: approximately HK$44,978,000), after a
deduction of forfeited contributions of approximately HK$ 1,327,000
(2017: approximately HK$1,355,000). For the MPF Scheme,
the Group contributed approximately HK$10,887,000 (2017:
approximately HK$10,257,000) for the year ended 31 December
2018.

(b) Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for all its
retired employees. Under the plan, the employees are entitled to
retirement benefits which included fully redeemed medical care,
housing allowance and other retirement benefits.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk and the risk of changes in
the life expectancy for pensioners.
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18. RIRBRIBL A () 18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Cont'd)

(b) REFZFE () (b) Defined benefit schemes (Cont'd)

AEMem @M AERE 2 & — ABEEENR2018 The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the
F12A31 AR R E R B AR BB AT E - defined benefit obligations were carried out at 31 December 2018

by using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

EARRERRMEACETERBERRBT : The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

2018 2017

P = Discount rate (%) 2.3 2.2
T8 HA B B AR b B S 3 R (%) Expected rate of medical insurance cost increases (%) 6.0 6.0
TEEARS GH S B A B R (%) Expected rate of social entertainment cost increases (%) 0.0 0.0
TEHIRIR A S A8 R (%)  Expected rate of retirement souvenir cost increases (%) 0.0 0.0
TEHAAE 18 R & (%) Expected rate of rental increases (%) 3.0 3.0
TE HA B B (%) Expected rate of withdrawal (%) 3.0-18.0 3.0-18.0
SEEEETAmES Expected death rate EBADEMEX BAALDAEDE
Hong Kong Hong Kong

Life Tables 2017 Life Tables 2012

EARARERRGFZREBRR 2R EDTLT : A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at the
end of the reporting period is shown below:

2018

FEF =18 F FEF =18 F

AEZ M AEZ M

OR2) (R2)

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease)

Lt SR8 in in defined [z in defined

Increase benefit Decrease benefit

in rate  obligations in rate  obligations

BET T BET T

% HK$'000 % HK$'000

PR = Discount rate 0.1 (2,240) 0.1 2,320
TEHIEERBRFASTIEEE  Expected rate of medical

insurance cost 0.5 11,350 0.5 (9,860)
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18. BRIKRBRAA (#) 18.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Cont'd)

(b) REFZFE(E) (b) Defined benefit schemes (Cont'd)
2017
FTE A 2 48 A 5 N 2= 48 A
AWEZ M, M
ORt2>) ORt2)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
Lt F 32 A0 in defined b FOR A in defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
BT T BT T
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
PR & Discount rate 0.1 (1,830) 0.1 2,420
TEHIEERBFASIERE  Expected rate of medical
insurance cost 0.5 10,870 0.5 (8,950)

FRAGEEDHRBRBRAREERRZAEE I
HHRENmRAAEZZE -

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a
method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit obligations

as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the
end of the reporting period.

EireWRaERNERA AT

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement

in respect of the plan is as follows:

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT Mz=aT S Defined benefit schemes
— & HBR S A A — Current service cost 2,670 2,190

—BERBFAAR — Past service cost

—&T &5 — plan introduction = =
— T &k & — plan amendment (390) =
—FHMEER — Net interest cost 2,280 2,320
Kb Total expenses 4,560 4,510
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18. ERRBRIKA () 18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Cont'd)
(b) HEFZFE (E) (b) Defined benefit schemes (Cont'd)
ERE 2 HNGRRANERATEMNAERZIT The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in respect of the plan is as follows:
2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000

REF = st & Defined benefit schemes
—BREEHELENBERHS — Actuarial gains arising from changes in
assumptions - -
—KBAZEENBEBE (BH%) — Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from experience
adjustments 7,200 (3,060)
REAEWZTERDAEBAKAES  Components of defined benefit costs recognised in
comprehensive income 7,200 (3,060)
AErEIMBELE LT The movement in respect of the plan is as follows:
2018 2017
BETT BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BANEE Benefit liability
®1A1H At 1 January 105,370 106,560
& HI AR S AR AN Current service cost 2,670 2,190
PO AP Past service cost
— &t &g & — plan amendment (390) =
FMEEA Net interest cost 2,280 2,320
ETEREEE/ (B%) Actuarial losses/(gains) on remeasurement 7,200 (3,060)
=R RN Benefit paid (3.230) (2,640)
M®12H31H At 31 December 113,900 105,370
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18. ENRBRIKAE (&)

18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Cont'd)

(b) REFZFE(E) (b) Defined benefit schemes (Cont'd)

RAFEMNmBH T EFEARR 2 FHEAR ST AT Expected payment to the defined benefit plan in future years are as
follows:

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
RER121E B AR Within the next 12 months 2,980 3,090
2 FB55 Between 2 and 5 years 12,540 12,800
6FEF105F Between 6 and 10 years 17,860 17,540
105 LA Over 10 years 254,860 211,800
T8 HA 48 f 2 Total expected payments 288,240 245,230
AEMmBHAEERERAR 2 FH AR R205F - The average duration of the defined benefit obligations at the end of

the reporting period is 20 years.

19. EEX SEEBAEBRETEAE 19. DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
< AND KEY PERSONNEL’S EMOLUMENTS

@ EEie (a) Directors’ emoluments

AEEREERARTESAARITRBEERBR Details of the emoluments paid to or receivable by the directors
AR ZRB M BN REERRK S FBHT of the Bank in respect of their services rendered for the Bank and
managing the subsidiaries within the Group during the year are as

follows:
2018 2017
BET T BT
HK$000 HK$'000
we Fees 2,558 1,622
H b & Other emoluments 19,170 16,320
21,728 17,942
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19. EE5 EEREEABRTEAE 19. DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

M<E ) AND KEY PERSONNEL’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Cont'd)
(b) CGSTEREBEABRTEAEBNTMH (b) Remuneration for Senior Management and Key

Personnel under CG-5

RE&ERBEL 2 CG-5 (BREMFTMBIEIES)  AF Pursuant to CG-5 Guideline on a Sound Remuneration System issued
ERAEEzSHREEBABREZABNFT B by the HKMA, details of the remuneration for Senior Management

T and Key Personnel of the Group during the year are as follows:
(0] RERIZ T 5 (i) Remuneration awarded during the year
2018
BREEAE TZAE
Senior Management Key Personnel
FERE 313
Non- 413 @zt Non- i3 @it
deferred Deferred Total deferred Deferred Total

BRI BRI BETR BT BRI BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

&l E £ B Fixed remuneration
RBe Cash 26,885 - 26,885 22,920 - 22,920
Hi Other forms 4,305 - 4,305 2,335 - 2,335
EEjEAT Variable remuneration
Re Cash 9,303 8,490 17,793 9,675 5,232 14,907
40,493 8,490 48,983 34,930 5,232 40,162
2017
SREEAB TEAB
Senior Management Key Personnel
JEEE JFRTE
Non- T @t Non- BT @t
deferred Deferred Total deferred Deferred Total
BT BT BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EIE 7 B Fixed remuneration
Re Cash 25,809 — 25,809 11,949 - 11,949
Het Other forms 4,115 - 4,115 1,112 - 1,112
EEEAT Variable remuneration
Be Cash 9,898 12,023 21,921 5,767 1,675 7,442
39,822 12,023 51,845 18,828 1,675 20,503

N EHMEIE13R (2017F 158) aREERAE R The remuneration above includes 13 (2017: 15) members of Senior
154 (20174 : 8% ) £ EAB - 122018512 A31HK Management and 15 (2017: 8) members of Key Personnel. The list of
HHEABRBEEST- members is as of 31 December 2018.
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19. EE EEEEAEBRTEAES 19.

M€ (&)

(b) CGSTEREEBAEBRTEASHHM (b)

DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
AND KEY PERSONNEL'S EMOLUMENTS

(Cont'd)

Remuneration for Senior Management and Key

(%) Personnel under CG-5 (Cont'd)
(ii) AL E (ii) Deferred remuneration
2018 2017
EREEAE BREEAE
Senior FEAE Senior FEAE
Management Key Personnel Management  Key Personnel
BETT BETT BETT BETIT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B By Deferred remuneration
BERE Vested 5,900 807 = =
5B Unvested 16,281 6,100 13,691 1,675
22,181 6,907 13,691 1,675
R1A1H At 1 January 13,691 1,675 1,668 =
ERT Awarded 8,490 5,232 12,023 1,675
B A Paid out (5,375) (748) = =
BEER(FAER Paid out for members not in this
BHFBZERIAR) category at the end of this year (525) (59) = =
MW12A318 At 31 December 16,281 6,100 13,691 1,675

RHERE NBORENEREEABREIEAER
TRBEEER (BEOFMEIEIES) €& -

- SREEAS:
AB BEER

EEEHEEENSRER -
BRRERXY ERERE

= BY BRRR EZEZRE BRRKE-

S AR

BRI ARE - ANE

RABE EEEMERERA LR
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For the purpose of disclosure, Senior Management and Key
Personnel mentioned in this section are defined according to the
HKMA's Guideline on a Sound Remuneration System.

Senior Management: The senior executives directly managed
by the Board who are responsible for oversight of the
firm-wide strategy or material business lines, including
Managing Director, Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executives,
Management Committee Members, Chief Strategy Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Chief Information
Officer, Chief Human Resources Officer, Board Secretary and

Head of Audit Department.
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19. EE EEEEAEBRTEAES
<€ @

(b) CGSTEREEBAEBRTEASHHM
(%)

(i)  EEFH (&)

- TEAR EAEBKERS R ERERALE
HEBRRBEEEAYE AEABRELRRE
BRER BAPE IHANBERTZEN
AB BREEBRIAERANEMLETE =
EMBRAE—EEA FETHEDELE
BRI ENEREEBEALE RETERN
BRI B AR B IR AR AR HE - R A BPAR
3R BB BB AR IR -

7

RZEEHMBEREANBEREEY FRRTES &
REBRABREBEABEZ2018F12A31BHLFE
NEFHEAEE - ASEEEEHE SR HE
FHFEBESENEE IS HAEBALGLE T IS®R
REEEATE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements

19. DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
AND KEY PERSONNEL’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Cont'd)

(b) Remuneration for Senior Management and Key
Personnel under CG-5 (Cont'd)

(i) Deferred remuneration (Cont’d)

- Key Personnel: The employees whose individual business
activities involve the assumption of material risk which may
have significant impact on risk exposure, or whose individual
responsibilities are directly and materially linked to the risk
management, or those who have direct influence to the
profit, including heads of material business lines, heads of
major subsidiaries, General Manager of Financial Market
Department, Head of Treasury Division, General Manager
of Risk Management Department, General Manager of
Credit Management Department, General Manager of Basel
Management Department, General Manager of Finance
Department, as well as General Manager of Information
Technology Department.

As of the date of these issuance of consolidated financial statements,
the above compensation packages including performance based
bonus for executive directors, senior management and key personnel
for the year ended 31 December 2018 has not been finalised.
Management of the Group believes that the difference between the
final emoluments and that disclosed above will not have significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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200 EERE EHRREHEBTRE 20. CASH, BALANCES AND PLACEMENTS

ftt & ml #4481 4 BR WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS
2018 2017
BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
EFRE R TFHIRTTR Cash and balances with banks and
Hfh & BB & other financial institutions
—EFRE — Cash 613,576 603,213
—TF RIRITHY A B — Balances with central banks 18,342,154 25,177,434
—TF IR 1T & H Ath & RO MRS A A £A — Balances with banks and other financial institutions 9,943,606 3,118,161
—ERTREMSREE—@EANRNEIE - Placements with banks and other financial
2 TE BR1F IR institutions maturing within one month 27,754,729 38,836,953
56,654,065 67,735,761
BB Impairment allowances (902) =
56,653,163 67,735,761
ERITREMEREE—= Placements with banks and other financial institutions
+ & A A2 8 2 TE HA1F AR maturing between one and twelve months 18,209,253 6,114,423
Ve RIERR Impairment allowances (1,616) =
18,207,637 6,114,423
74,860,800 73,850,184
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200 EERE EHREREHNBITRE 20. CASH, BALANCES AND PLACEMENTS

b BBEBNEER () WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS (Cont'd)
HERBEEE 2 E T ET: An analysis of changes in the corresponding impairment allowances
is, as follows:
=Y EoRER F=RR et
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

BT T BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

201851 H1H At 1 January 2018
FH I AR As previously reported - - - S
BRI EE (B 5E4) Opening adjustments (Note 4) (1,346) (14) g (1,360)
HAf ARG eR R Balance after opening

adjustments (1,346) (14) - (1,360)
AN Addition (2,165) - - (2,165)
RIETER N EER (T EIEHE) Derecognised or repaid

(excluding written off) 1,175 - - 1,175
A2 SR E Changes to inputs used for

impairment calculations 50 14 - 64
E X =& Exchange difference (232) - - (232)
2018 12 A31 H At 31 December 2018 (2,518) - - (2,518)
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21. ARELSILFTABEZEHEE 21

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

BHMEADAER
FARE
Mandatorily
measured at fair value
through profit or loss

R ERBH #st

Trading Non trading Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
BETT BETT BETT BT T BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BARENR At fair value

&% Treasury bills 4,746,318 3,806,354 = - 4746318 3,806,354
HiEBES Other debt securities 61,051 158,381 - = 61,051 158,381
4,807,369 3,964,735 = - 4,807,369 3,964,735
BFRE Certificate of deposit - 177,548 = = = 177,548
4,807,369 4,142,283 = - 4,807,369 4,142,283
1 & 2 Equity securities - = 85,827 - 85,827 -
Hit Others = - 3,786,290 - 3,786,290 =
4,807,369 4,142,283 3,872,117 - 8679486 4,142,283

R2018F12A31H  RAEFRTEABUAR
B REE (2017 - £&) ©
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B#{LF A8

As at 31 December 2018, there were no financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss. (2017: Nil).
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (cont'd)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are analysed by

s 8 place of listing as follows:
BEIME LR RERE
FTAEE
Mandatorily
measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Z5 % FRH 1M
Trading Non trading
2018 2017 2018 2017
BETT BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB 5 R FRE Debt securities and
certificate of deposit
— JEET — Unlisted 4,807,369 4,142,283 - -
IR0 78 25 Equity securities
— Ekm — Listed - = 85,827 —
HAh Others
— LT - Unlisted - - 3,786,290 =
4,807,369 4,142,283 3,872,117 -
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A

=

o

REZLFTABREZERMEE
)

AREELEFABRZEREERBTREZDE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (cont'd)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are analysed by

S type of issuer as follows:
BEIMUA RER
FTAEE
Mandatorily
measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Z5 % FRH M
Trading Non trading
2018 2017 2018 2017
BETT BT T BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEHERE Sovereigns 4,746,318 3,806,354 = =
R1T R H A & BE Banks and other financial
institutions 61,051 - 3,786,290 -
DA Corporate entities - 335,929 85,827 -

4,807,369 4,142,283 3,872,117 -
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22. PTEE€®MIA
EETTTHER FRRAREBOTESRTA
ANKEBEERAREEY A

BEREMRENARE -—BHEHEINE G-

BB - NMEXFECBEFHRERIBTIRRERAA®M
A - HHNEREIRBAREE M (WEE
MERFZHHNER)SIESE (NESFEH)HIA LD
FrEdae (MXXEBFRIEH) - RRXLTE = H

BRI RERGBEFEIMAE -

SNEHIERIERENET (WED) KBS (FET)
REERRE —RFE R R ARK - ERHAZLNE
MEREE (REHR) KNEL (ROHE) —T8E
SR T AMER (MIFEE) N —EhE-Z R
SMNERR - MM BETRERE T W —EHEE -
REBEREAOZTEBYFHESIMNDREERK
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group enters into the following exchange rate, interest rate
and commodity related derivative financial instrument contracts for
trading and risk management purposes:

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase and sell
foreign currency on a future date.

Currency, interest rate and precious metal swaps are commitments
to exchange one set of cash flows or commodity for another. Swaps
result in an exchange of currencies, interest rates (for example, fixed
rate for floating rate), or precious metals (for example, gold swaps)
or a combination of all these (for example, cross-currency interest
rate swaps). Except for certain currency swap contracts, no exchange
of principal takes place.

Foreign currency options are contractual agreements under which
the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the
obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by
a set date or during a set period, a specific amount of the financial
instrument at a predetermined price. In consideration for the
assumption of foreign exchange risk, the seller receives a premium
from the purchaser. Options are negotiated over-the-counter
between the Group and its counterparty.
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22. {TEE®MIA (%)

AEEZTEERTAGH EEBEREAAE
HIRNTR-ZFRAUSRIANGN LEHHER
TREEBBRARTERZRSE METERIA
AN/ AREEIRET —AREEABRAM
BRNANEEEXRBENELER -BE ST T
RERFTE REARRORERLERMNAAE At
TRERBRAKEMEERNEERBRKTIZER - BEE
ETAESRTASOGFAENER mHEMNEHE
CBERERNIKE TEERIANMERREE
B (BEE)STHN(AEINTE SEFEAR
TRHAEBE LKA KE

TTEEMITE
AEEBETBIIMTEERRINETZENRHER
FEK SEATFLREXEMESRBOTEERR S
HHEBEBERAEEZHERREREBER RRE

TEERMERNERRITROFNXRER REEE
HEZERMBELHBNTEERTANETRS
BT A E R R 5 A O R B A HE A 3 SRR DA RR PR 122
H AHETXZHNERMR -BRTEERRHBA
RENERH R LWETEE MHEE RER

g
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Cont’d)

The contract/notional amounts and fair values of derivative financial
instruments held by the Group are set out in the following tables.
The contract/notional amounts of these instruments indicate the
volume of transactions outstanding at the balance sheet dates
and certain of them provide a basis for comparison with fair value
instruments recognised on the balance sheet. However, they do not
necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the
current fair values of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate
the Group’s exposure to credit or market risks. The derivative
financial instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable
(liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates,
market interest rates or metal prices relative to their terms. The
aggregate fair values of derivative financial instruments can fluctuate
significantly from time to time.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group trades OTC derivative products mainly for customer
business. The Group strictly follows risk management policies and
requirement in providing derivative products to our customers and in
trading of derivative products in the interbank market.

Derivatives are also used to manage the interest rate risk of the
banking book. A derivative instrument must be included in the
approved product list before any transactions for that instrument can
be made. There are limits to control the notional amount of exposure
arising from derivative transactions, and the maximum tenor of
the deal is set. Every derivative transaction must be input into the
relevant system for settlement, mark-to-market revaluation, reporting
and control.
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22. fTEE€®mIA (5 22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Cont'd)
TTESMTE (%) Derivative financial instruments (Cont'd)
TREAZSETESRTAERIZANBZEH, £ The following tables summarise the contract/notional amounts of
BREE: each class of derivative financial instrument as at 31 December:
2018
TREEHA
gtk
Not qualified
BEE [ B ¥ for hedge st
Trading Hedging accounting Total
BT T BET T BET T BET T
HKS$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEER G4 Exchange rate contracts
BNVHEA R i= A Spot and forwards 21,043,152 - - 21,043,152
1= 54 Swaps 12,905,878 - - 12,905,878
HNEE 32 5 HA Foreign currency options
— B AHRE — Options purchased 1,324,545 = = 1,324,545
— B — Options written 1,324,545 = = 1,324,545
36,598,120 - - 36,598,120
FEEH Interest rate contracts
= B Swaps 54,650,193 - - 54,650,193
[SEERSES Commodity contracts 584,260 = = 584,260
91,832,573 - - 91,832,573
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22. {TEE®MIA (%)

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Cont'd)
fTESRETE (&) Derivative financial instruments (Cont'd)
2017
TR &R
HHEesE
Not qualified
=1 [ Bgx 5 for hedge #Et
Trading Hedging accounting Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=& 49 Exchange rate contracts
BNHA K 3= HA Spot and forwards 13,809,224 - - 13,809,224
1= HA Swaps 10,038,826 - - 10,038,826
SNEE 32 5 HA Foreign currency options
— B AHi# — Options purchased 11,066 = = 11,066
— B — Options written 11,066 = = 11,066
23,870,182 - - 23,870,182
FEEL Interest rate contracts
R H Swaps 31,248,317 = - 31,248,317
& ma 4 Commodity contracts 2,390,235 - - 2,390,235
57,508,734 - - 57,508,734

TEERAETEE  RERE (RITE (FHE)R
A) Bk FBEBURBETTREAE HGTHEER
HEEARFEESEERARNS BT A6

B
EENTETAGH -
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Not qualified for hedge accounting: derivative contracts which do
not qualify as hedges for accounting purposes but are managed in
conjunction with the financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit or loss are separately disclosed in compliance with the
requirements set out in the Banking (Disclosure) Rules.
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22. fTEE€®mIA (5 22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Cont'd)

TTESMTE (%) Derivative financial instruments (Cont'd)

TREESETESRTEM2ANBZARE: The following tables summarise the fair values of each class of

derivative financial instrument as at 31 December:

2018
DNRAEEE AREER
Fair value assets Fair value liabilities

THERA THERA

HHaE HHETE

Not Not

qualified qualified
EE EBHN for hedge @t BEE EBRHA for hedge @t
Trading Hedging accounting Total Trading Hedging accounting Total

BETR AMTr AEMTr AMTr  ERTR  ERTR  BERTR  BRTR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EZE4 Exchange rate contracts
HERRE Spot and forwards 484,524 - - 484,524 (221,527) - - (221,527)
1R Swaps 97,484 - - 97,484 (80,317) = - (80,317)
INER 5 H Foreign currency options
- B — Options purchased 23,314 - - 23314 (2,017) = - (2,017)
- B ~ Options written 1,550 - - 1,550 (23,105) - - (23,105)
606,872 - - 606872  (326,966) - - (326,966)
FEEH Interest rate contracts
1R Swaps 21,519 - - 21,519 (21,745) = - (21,745)
Hme Commodity contracts 26,330 - - 26,330 (5,216) = = (5.216)
654,721 - - 654721  (353,927) - - (353,927)
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22. {TEE®MI A (%)

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Cont'd)
TTESMTE (%) Derivative financial instruments (Cont'd)
2017
ARERE AREEE
Fair value assets Fair value liabilities
T4 AR
HAg A g A
Not Not
qualified qualified
BE  BERHM  for hedge Bt BE  RERE®  for hedge BEr
Trading Hedging accounting Total Trading Hedging accounting Total
wETT AETr B%Trn A%t A¥Tr BT AT B%Tn
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EEEH Exchange rate contracts
PERSE Spot and forwards 366,975 - - 366975  (152,365) - - (152,365)
1 Swaps 22,581 = = 22,581 (162,062) = - (162,062)
SNER 5 HiE Foreign currency options
— B ~ Options purchased 78 = = 78 = = = =
- EHBE — Options written = - - - (78) _ _ (78)
389,634 - - 389,634  (314,505) - - (314,505)
FEEH Interest rate contracts
= Swaps 6,211 = = 6,211 (6,436) = = (6,436)
Bma# Commodity contracts 4,998 = = 4,998 (76,855) = - (76,855)
400,843 - - 400,843 (397,796 - - (397,796)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Cont'd)

Derivative financial instruments (Cont'd)

The table below gives the credit risk-weighted amounts of the
derivative financial instruments and is prepared with reference to the
completion instructions for the HKMA return of capital adequacy
ratio.

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
XS4 Exchange rate contracts
= H Forwards 372,327 107,155
i 5 Swaps 147,900 64,549
HNERX 5 HARE Foreign currency options
— B M — Options purchased 40,363 =
560,590 171,704
ES= Y Interest rate contracts
¥ HA Swaps 120 177
& ma A Commodity contracts - 4,249
560,710 176,130

S ERBIEREERE GRTE (AR)RAD 3

The credit risk-weighted amounts are calculated in accordance with

HoHBBEHRNRZHFZBERAREREHNZHR
Bk o

AEBHRERERFELEREBRONTERS
NI EXAEE 5B 287,847,000 (20174 : B
317,286,0007T) ' B E R FREERANURED
#89,868,0007T (20174 : &#103,610,0007T) °

the Banking (Capital) Rules. The amounts are dependent upon the
status of the counterparty and the maturity characteristics of each
type of contract.

The total fair values of derivatives subject to valid bilateral netting
agreements for the Group amounted to HK$287,847,000 (2017:
HK$317,286,000) and the effect of valid bilateral netting agreements
amounted to HK$89,868,000 (2017: HK$103,610,000).
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23. EXRKREMERE

23. ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

2018 2017

BT T BT T

HK$°000 HK$'000

B AERK Personal loans and advances 44,406,428 41,696,450
NAIER Corporate loans and advances 210,586,495 193,510,886
BEREX Advances to customers 254,992,923 235,207,336
B ZEE Impairment allowances (2,897,474)  (2,036,814)
252,095,449 233,170,522

BEHRE Trade bills 835,545 1,526,269
VERIER ] Impairment allowances (125) =
835,420 1,526,269

252,930,869 234,696,791

R2018F12A318  BF E

REREREMNBEE

736,489,0007T (20174 : 7##948,297,0007T ) °

TRETENABEAFRERNFERLE RS ED
EREENERARNEARREE - TRMIIER

AR B E R R A AR -

As at 31 December 2018, advances to customers included accrued

interest of HK$ 736,489,000 (2017: HK$948,297,000).

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the internal credit rating system and year-end
stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment

allowances.
2018
F-RE EoRER E=RE et
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
A BB AT AR AR A Internal rating grade

151K 3 49 2 B Extremely low default risk 2,740,097 = = 2,740,097
{2 40 [ bz Low default risk 21,732,688 - - 21,732,688
BERELHRR Relatively low default risk 61,662,018 624 - 61,662,642
A EE A E R Medium default risk 122,013,707 122,954 17,760 122,154,421

BEEZRSEHNRAR Significant to very high
default risk 32,200,917 434,256 4,054 32,639,227
1% 5 & 4R Very high default risk 95,893 1,273,462 334,513 1,703,868
EHD Default 121 781 1,246,669 1,247,571
BAER Unrated 11,666,900 274,065 6,989 11,947,954
w@Etr Total 252,112,341 2,106,142 1,609,985 255,828,468
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23. ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

(Cont'd)
HEREERE 2O TIT: An analysis of changes in the corresponding impairment allowances
is, as follows:
RAEF
& Bl FE &
Collectively
and
F—HR EoHR HE=RE individually Bar
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 assessed Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
201851 H1H At 1 January 2018
F 5K As previously reported - - - (2,036,814) (2,036,814)
Hi9I % (MizE4)  Opening adjustments
(Note 4) (1,801,435) (141,397) (826,406) 2,036,814 (732,424)
HAR B 1% eR Balance after opening
adjustments (1,801,435) (141,397) (826,406) - (2,769,238)
0 Addition (807,298) - - - (807,298)
RIETERSER Derecognised or repaid
(T IEME) (excluding written off) 801,017 87,518 290,322 - 1,178,857
HEEE P Transfers to Stage 1 (3,955) 3,955 = = =
s —REEY Transfers to Stage 2 1,632 (1.632) = = =
B = PEER Transfers to Stage 3 5,763 20,671 (26,434) = =
A& B 2 [ Impact on period end ECLs
L B A B of exposures transferred
AR ATHE 1 between stages during
FEHIB AN E the period 3,669 (162,671)  (1,585,602) - (1,744,604)
IR EXEREE  Unwind of discount on
impairment allowances - - 1,882 - 1,882
A2 R E S Changes to inputs used for
impairment calculations 276,632 2,683 (41,591) - 237,724
g [B] 2 i 85 BR 18 Recoveries = = (20,714) = (20,714)
WsH 2 B3R Loans written off - - 910,172 - 910,172
bE 5 = HE Exchange difference 58,277 15,244 42,099 - 115,620
720185 12H31H At 31 December 2018 (1,465,698) (175,629) (1,256,272) - (2,897,599)
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23. EXRKREMERIE (&)

23. ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

(Cont'd)
REEFE  RERIFE
Collectively  Individually w@E
assessed assessed Total
BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
©K2017F1 /818 At 1 January 2017 (852,377) (474,147) (1,326,524)
NG e Charged to income statement (358,090) (555,575) (913,665)
F M 2 R E B R Loans written off during the year
as uncollectible 36,740 270,218 306,958
W=l 2 4 5F BR IR Recoveries (560) (21,822) (22,382)
P38 R (B 2 1 e Unwind of discount on impairment
allowances - 5,356 5,356
ME X ZEX Exchange difference (42,738) (43,819) (86,557)
M2017F12A31H At 31 December 2017 (1,217,025) (819,789) (2,036,814)
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24, ERIRE 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
2018
AR R E
B A
Hp 2wk LU 6K R A
At fair value fEstE
through other At
comprehensive amortised At
income cost Total
BET T BET T BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
JES Treasury bills 45,245,303 737,024 45,982,327
B EBEH Other debt securities 46,698,569 2,172,853 48,871,422
91,943,872 2,909,877 94,853,749
FRHE Certificates of deposit 20,990,827 157,176 21,148,003
BB HERTER Total debt securities and
certificates of deposit 112,934,699 3,067,053 116,001,752
BB Impairment allowances = (626) (626)
112,934,699 3,066,427 116,001,126
H b Others - 2,182,333 2,182,333
BB Impairment allowances = (65,139) (65,139)
= 2,117,194 2,117,194
& 7 & % Equity securities 31,833 = 31,833
112,966,532 5,183,621 118,150,153
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2. £@RE (&)

24.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)

RRETI

2017

12 3 SH PR AR 1) BR

At fair value At amortised cost
At &
TRMEE BEE
Available-  Z|H B %> =5/ 952
for-sale Held-to- JiE W3R
financial maturity Loans and #Et
assets securities receivables Total
BT T BT T BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e Treasury bills 34,797,891 1,013,968 - 35,811,859
HMEBES Other debt securities 32,485,435 2,286,491 - 34,771,926
67,283,326 3,300,459 - 70,583,785
TR Certificates of deposit 19,311,627 156,728 - 19,468,355
BIEBEH T AERE Total debt securities and
certificates of deposit 86,594,953 3,457,187 - 90,052,140
Hh Others 17,430,518 - 3,753,086 21,183,604
i 10 78 75 Equity securities 15,156 = = 15,156
104,040,627 3,457,187 3,753,086 111,250,900
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FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)

Notes to the Financial Statements

An analysis of changes in the corresponding impairment allowances

of financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income is, as follows:

E-EE -l 29 24 F=ZEER et
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
201861818 At 1 January 2018
£ Hi 51 8% As previously reported = = = =
BRI EE (B E4) Opening adjustments (Note 4) (23,664) = = (23,664)
LR NEGE: e $o 3= Balance after opening adjustments (23,664) = = (23,664)
0 Addition (22,046) (35) - (22,081)
RIETERSER Derecognised or repaid
(T IEME) (excluding written off) 8,621 = = 8,621
EEE =R Transfers to Stage 3 532 = (532) =
IR ZEEE 2 MR A Impact on period end ECLs of
2 13 5 HA R A 1 78 AP exposures transferred between
BRI TE stages during the period = = (182,375) (182,375)
A2 E R Changes to inputs used for
impairment calculations 664 - - 664
PE N Z%8 Exchange difference 3,962 35 = 3,997
2018 12H31H At 31 December 2018 (31,931) - (182,907) (214,838)

HENERKAEFEZERIRENBELEE ZE

An analysis of changes in the corresponding impairment allowances

{EA#HmT: of financial investments at amortised cost is, as follows:
F—HR EoHR E=ZHR st
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
201851 H1H At 1 January 2018
FHI51 AR As previously reported = = - -
BHOM Reclassification (23,416) - - (23,416)
A (Fi5E4) Opening adjustments (Note 4) (89,627) - - (89,627)
BRY) AR 18 R KR Balance after opening adjustments (113,043) = = (113,043)
RILERSER Derecognised or repaid
(T EEME) (excluding written off) 65,230 - - 65,230
WA R E g Changes to inputs used for
impairment calculations (21,405) - - (21,405)
ME H, ZH Exchange difference 3,453 - - 3,453
201812 A31H At 31 December 2018 (65,765) - - (65,765)
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2. £@RE (&)

ERRER LM Z BN

24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)

Financial investments is analysed by place of listing as follows:

2018
UARE
Bt A
Hit 2 E K& S 33788
At fair value st &
through other At
comprehensive amortised
income cost
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HKS$°000
BB 5 R ERE Debt securities and certificates of deposit
— RBEBLEM — Listed in Hong Kong 10,229,994 817,156
— REBUIINET — Listed outside Hong Kong 10,757,679 1,237,813
20,987,673 2,054,969
— 3FEEm — Unlisted 91,947,026 1,011,458
112,934,699 3,066,427
Hh Others
— kLM — Unlisted - 2,117,194
I 17 78 75 Equity securities
— Lk — Unlisted 31,833 -
#Et Total 112,966,532 5,183,621
REZIHRz ELMESME Market value of listed
securities at amortised cost 2,026,321
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2. ERIRE (®) 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)
2017
Al
SREE BEE
Available- Z|EAH &% BER K
for-sale Held-to- e U 5k
financial maturity Loans and
assets securities receivables
BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B85 R FRE Debt securities and certificates of deposit
— REB LM — Listed in Hong Kong 6,965,429 812,468 =
— REBUIINET — Listed outside Hong Kong 9,157,104 1,228,223 =
16,122,533 2,040,691 =
— JEEmW - Unlisted 70,472,420 1,416,496 =
86,594,953 3,457,187 =
Eh Others
— JEET — Unlisted 17,430,518 = 3,753,086
f& 10 78 %5 Equity securities
— JEEmW - Unlisted 15,156 = =
w@Et Total 104,040,627 3,457,187 3,753,086
BEEZFHBZ tHEEFETE Market value of listed
held-to-maturity securities 2,029,917
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24, ©RRE #) 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)
RIS ERBITRIBEZ DT Financial investments is analysed by type of issuer as follows:
2018
LA RE
Bt A
Hin 2 EE 8: 32359
At fair value fE5t &
through other At
comprehensive amortised
income cost
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HKS$°000
BELHER Sovereigns 45,421,429 736,842
N B Public sector entities 996,867 =
IRITRE b RS Banks and other financial institutions 52,653,483 4,446,779
NCIRES Corporate entities 13,894,753 -

112,966,532 5,183,621

2017
e

TREE BEZE
Available-  EIHi B &EH BR K&
for-sale Held-to- FE WKk
financial maturity Loans and
assets securities receivables
BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BELER Sovereigns 35,184,292 1,013,968 =
RITRE M FhikiE Banks and other financial institutions 62,121,932 2,443,219 3,753,086
NEIE Corporate entities 6,734,403 = =

104,040,627 3,457,187 3,753,086

EA2018¢12)%31 H 8FE (RITE(BER)HAD As at 31 December 2018, included financial investments at fair value
PEARAREEMNUAABEE L ARLME through other comprehensive income of HK$996,867,000 which are
ﬁ%ﬁnﬁ’\]@@E&QE%M%&SGIOOOE° eligible to be classified as public sector entities under the Banking

(Capital) Rules.
R2017F 128318 8B CGRITE (EAR)HAD As at 31 December 2017, no financial investments of which are

NOBERRAIREEMNSRIRE - eligible to be classified as public sector entities under the Banking
(Capital) Rules.
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25. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2018 2017

BT T ST

HK$'000 HK$'000

M1A1H At 1 January 302,702 383,830

®E Additions - 2,502

AN EW S Fair value gains 29,240 24,990
ER R Ey E Reclassification to properties,

B R (MIEE26) plant and equipment (Note 26) = (108,620)

®12H31H At 31 December 331,942 302,702

REMEZREERRBORGHARSFTOT -

The carrying value of investment properties is analysed based on the
remaining terms of the leases as follows:

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000

EBAERE Held in Hong Kong
REAFA A (B B50%F) On long-term lease (over 50 years) 155,180 148,790
FRHAFE 4 (105 =504F ) On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 176,762 153,912
331,942 302,702

M2018F12A318 ' IIREEBERANZIRENZE
Th AR I8 SRR 2 R AR BIET RN/ T B R A A1722018
FNRANAURAEREEMETZEEMHE AR
BREAEEHEEERFRRMERL T RMES
HENET - HEEMERDMESAER-

As at 31 December 2018, investment properties were included in
the balance sheet at valuation carried out at 31 December 2018
on the basis of their fair value by an independent firm of chartered
surveyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited. The fair value represents the
price that would be received to sell each investment property in an
orderly transaction with market participants at the measurement
date.
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26. ME- -SBMHERE

26. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

RE
[ € 5% i
R#E
Equipment,
BEE fixtures and et
Premises fittings Total
BET T BET T BET T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
R2018%F1 818 Z lREFE Net book value at 1 January 2018 7,173,898 213,083 7,386,981
HE Additions 5,294 252,769 258,063
HE Disposals - (1,327) (1,327)
Eih Revaluation 405,952 - 405,952
FEHE Depreciation for the year (130,055) (73,320) (203,375)
# (), A Transfer (out)/in (563) 563 =
N ERE Exchange difference (33,605) (4,098) (37,703)
MR2018F12 A31H Z BREFE Net book value at 31 December 2018 7,420,921 387,670 7,808,591
201812 A31H At 31 December 2018
RAE S G E Cost or valuation 7,420,921 1,091,331 8,512,252
Z2EHTE Accumulated depreciation = (703,661) (703,661)
M2018F12 A31H 2 REFE Net book value at 31 December 2018 7,420,921 387,670 7,808,591
B EZ AR ERK The analysis of cost or valuation
HESTOT of the above assets is as follows:
201812 A31H At 31 December 2018
R E At cost - 1,091,331 1,091,331
1A At valuation 7,420,921 - 7,420,921
7,420,921 1,091,331 8,512,252
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26. ¥ -BWEZE® 26. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Cont'd)
By
[&] 7€ 2% b
T 5 455
Equipment,
BE  fixtures and @Et
Premises fittings Total
BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2017%1 818 2 REFE Net book value at 1 January 2017 6,705,611 223,796 6,929,407
#E Additions 6,549 68,376 74,925
= Disposals = (3,321) (3,321)
E Revaluation 423,242 = 423,242
FENE Depreciation for the year (121,734) (77,821) (199,555)
EMOEERREYE Reclassification from
(FfF7E25) investment properties (Note 25) 108,620 - 108,620
#A () Transfer in/(out) 5,970 (5,970) =
E X =5 Exchange difference 45,640 8,023 53,663
2017412 4318 2 R E %A Net book value at 31 December 2017 7,173,898 213,083 7,386,981
M2017412 8318 At 31 December 2017
PN EEAEE Cost or valuation 7,173,898 903,140 8,077,038
Z2EHE Accumulated depreciation = (690,057) (690,057)
2017412 A318 Z BREEE Net book value at 31 December 2017 7,173,898 213,083 7,386,981
B EZ A ER The analysis of cost or valuation of
[HEI AT : the above assets is as follows:
2017412 H831H At 31 December 2017
K AN E At cost = 903,140 903,140
Zi{EHE At valuation 7,173,898 = 7,173,898
7,173,898 903,140 8,077,038
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26. ¥MFE - -BHRFXE @

FEZEEERBLORGHBEIHTOT

26. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Cont'd)

The carrying value of premises is analysed based on the remaining
terms of the leases as follows:

2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEBFE Held in Hong Kong

REFME %) (B A504 ) On long-term lease (over 50 years) 4,564,274 4,320,217
FREAFR A (10 2504 ) On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 2,184,613 2,168,005

EBBUINEE Held outside Hong Kong
FRHAFE 4 (105 =504 ) On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 638,965 654,550
MEMEA (DR1046F) On short-term lease (less than 10 years) 33,069 31,126

7,420,921 7,173,898

M2018F12A318 IR EEBBERAZEE ' Ik
BB R ORI 2 A0 HE I BIET RN 1T B IR A Bl 7R20184F
NRANBRARBEAEERMETZHEGBE - ARE
EBEFEEHEEERFRRNBL THEMHELH
HELET—BEERISHER-

RELEZEEHEZER FEAREEHCNEESGMH

As at 31 December 2018, premises were included in the balance
sheet at valuation carried out at 31 December 2018 on the basis of
their fair value by an independent firm of chartered surveyors, Knight
Frank Petty Limited. The fair value represents the price that would be
received to sell each premises in an orderly transaction with market
participants at the measurement date.

As a result of the above-mentioned revaluations, changes in value of

R W R ERLT the premises were recognised in the premises revaluation reserve and
the income statement as follows:
2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EXEEERREzEMGIEE Increase in valuation credited to
premises revaluation reserve 400,400 422,069
Enlkmk zBHEE Increase in valuation credited to income statement 5,552 1,173
405,952 423,242

R2018F 128310 ' BEREZRKAEIRRTITE
PR ANEBzEERBBRAZEERAFEEAS
#825,573,0007T (20174 : /5#861,124,0007T ) °

228

As at 31 December 2018, the net book value of premises that
would have been included in the Group's balance sheet had the
premises been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation was
HK$825,573,000 (2017: HK$861,124,000).
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27. HEE 27. OTHER ASSETS
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$’000
el & = Repossessed assets 84,893 127,772
=l Precious metals 232,889 245,957
FEWBRIE R TERT & A Accounts receivable and prepayments 2,091,977 2,435,209
2,409,759 2,808,938
BE 2 Impairment allowances (1,225) -
2,408,534 2,808,938

HEREEGZE(COTMT :

An analysis of changes in the corresponding impairment allowances

is, as follows:
E-EE -l 29 24 F=ZEER st
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
201861818 At 1 January 2018
£ Hi 51 8% As previously reported = = = =
¥R (KisE4) Opening adjustments (Note 4) (592) (18) = (610)
LR NEGE: e 3o Balance after opening adjustments (592) (18) = (610)
0 Addition (6) (74) (5) (85)
RIETERSER Derecognised or repaid
(T B FEHMEE) (excluding written off) 1 = = 1
HEEE—[EER Transfers to Stage 1 (1) 1 = =
IR Z PR 2 MR A Impact on period end ECLs of
2 13 3 HA R A I 1 78 AP exposures transferred between
BRHTE stages during the period = = (8) (8)
NEREEY o= Changes to inputs used for
impairment calculations (622) 18 - (604)
ME H, Z 5 Exchange difference 19 62 - 81
7 2018 12 A31 B At 31 December 2018 (1,201) (1) (13) (1,225)
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28. ARELILFTABEZEHERE

28. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
RBUERE Trading liabilities
- NEESEBRESFESE — Short positions in Exchange Fund Bills and Notes 4,803,277 4,345,543

R2018F12A31H 8 BARAEBURARBEE (LT AE

HZEBMEE Q017E &) -

29. BEFERRYhE

(@ EFEX

At 31 December 2018, there were no financial liabilities designated

at fair value through profit or loss (2017: Nil).

29. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS AND

HEDGE ACCOUNTING

(@) Deposits from customers

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
B R 17 3R R A R AF K Demand deposits and current accounts
— A — Corporate 42,798,266 55,089,269
— fEAA — Personal 3,304,550 3,207,231
46,102,816 58,296,500
REER Savings deposits
— A — Corporate 20,322,427 22,529,083
— @A — Personal 41,665,453 43,329,013
61,987,880 65,858,096
TEH - 58 HA B AE R Time, call and notice deposits
— A — Corporate 154,841,128 141,510,986
— fEA — Personal 81,273,115 59,750,057
236,114,243 201,261,043
344,204,939 325,415,639

(b) HHEF
INEIEFREL

R2018F12A318 AEBEREHH» AR ED
B FEFRA HB%2,066,090,0007T (20174 : /B #&
4,991,848,0007T ) /% T B - F LA h /8 98 E /5%

BE-

FRELEEUA D < Wk BER KSR ANER

(20174 - &)

230

(b) Hedge accounting

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

As at 31 December 2018, a proportion of the Groups's RMB-
denominated deposits from customers of HK$2,066,090,000 (2017:
HK$4,991,848,000) were designated as a hedging instrument to
hedge against the net investments in foreign operations.

There were no gains or losses on ineffective portion recognised in the

income statement during the year (2017: Nil).
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30 ERITEEEBZREFRE 30. DEBT SECURITIES AND CERTIFICATES OF
DEPOSIT IN ISSUE
2018 2017
BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5 RAFRE - R HK AR Debt securities and certificates of deposit,
at amortised cost

— TFRE — Certificates of deposit 2,943,307 3,076,684
— HibERE — Other debt securities 9,249,667 3,704,524

12,192,974 6,781,208

31. HAMRRIER % 31. OTHER ACCOUNTS AND PROVISIONS
2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
Hh fE AR 18 Other accounts payable 18,847,830 17,086,211
i Provisions 63,689 58,993

BERE#H R B ERERREER Impairment allowances for loan commitments

and financial guarantee contracts 184,819 -

19,096,338 17,145,204

231
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31. HAMRIERERE (5) 31. OTHER ACCOUNTS AND PROVISIONS
(Cont'd)
HEREERE 2O TIT: An analysis of changes in the corresponding impairment allowances
is, as follows:
E-EE -l 29 24 F=ZEER @t
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
201861818 At 1 January 2018
£ Hi 51 Bk As previously reported = = = =
H A (KisE4) Opening adjustments (Note 4) 210,429 23,122 = 233,551
LR NECE: e 3o Balance after opening adjustments 210,429 23,122 = 233,551
N Addition 172,930 1 - 172,931
RIETERSER Derecognised or repaid
(T BEME) (excluding written off) (122,407) (23,683) - (146,090)
HEEE—[EER Transfers to Stage 1 5 (5) = =
IR ZEEE 2 MR A Impact on period end ECLs of
2 13 5 HA R A 1 78 AP exposures transferred between
BRI TE stages during the period (4) = = ()
VEREEY o= Changes to inputs used for
impairment calculations (73,681) - - (73,681)
N EE Exchange difference (2,461) 573 (1,888)
% 2018 12 A31 H At 31 December 2018 184,811 8 - 184,819

32. EZEHIE

BEERBERREEEES
B REBEERBIHBERBEENEREAKEE
MEZEREEEMRE AR RERRE-

232

2

32.

RISE125% [R5 &1

DEFERRED TAXATION

in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of the temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements and unused tax credits
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32. EEEBIIE () 32. DEFERRED TAXATION (cont'd)
BEEBBRAZELHIBE(EE) ABXEHE The major components of deferred tax (assets)liabilities recorded
AREEFEANZZHINT in the balance sheet, and the movements during the year are as
follows:
2018
MEFE
HE
Accelerated MEEL HEERE
tax Property E#&  Impairment Hitr @zt
depreciation  revaluation Losses allowance Other Total

BRI BRI BETR BT BRI BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

7201851 A1H At 1 January 2018
RHTIER As previously reported 31,709 1,116,615 = (278,577) (302,485) 567,262
HREE (ME4) Opening adjustments (Note 4) = - - (261,299) 3,837 (257,462)
HORBRRE Balance after opening
adjustments 31,709 1,116,615 - (539,876) (298,648) 309,800
i aE R Charged to income statement 3,454 46 - 108,590 63,868 175,958
EEE e Charged to other comprehensive
income - 53,892 - - 174,171 228,063
R =5 Exchange difference - (4,813) - 15,412 4,068 14,667
2018124318 At 31 December 2018 35,163 1,165,740 - (415,874) (56,541) 728,488
2017
MEFTE
RHE
Accelerated MEE HEER
tax Property BB Impairment Hith BEr
depreciation revaluation Losses allowances Others Total
BETT BT BEBTT BT BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
»®2017€1A18 At 1 January 2017 26,192 1,034,579 = (111,055) (314,693) 635,023
2/ (B&) K&K  Charged/(credited) to income
statement 5,517 16,688 - (162,899) 57,260 (83,434)
g/ (i) Efh Charged/(credited) to other
2ENE comprehensive income = 59,426 - = (34,651) 24,775
R = Exchange difference = 5,922 = (4,623) (10,401) (9,102)
20176128318 At 31 December 2017 31,709 1,116,615 - (278,577) (302,485) 567,262
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32. EEBIE (&)

ERZERANAKRAEMNAEERRBERBAMGE
3 MARE B RS K R — B B RE - BRI AS (@ BIDE A
FEERIRE EREERIAREEREE - THHEE
ERBERASIRZEE CRIAEEEE:

32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont'd)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual entity
basis when there is a legal right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxation relates to the
same authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate
offsetting, are shown in the balance sheet:

2018 2017
T 5T BT
HK$000 HK$'000
FIEFIBE E Deferred tax assets (46,836) (222,516)
EERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 775,324 789,778
728,488 567,262
2018 2017
BET T BT
HK$000 HK$'000

FEEFIEEE (HBiB12E 8% 4mE) Deferred tax assets to be recovered
after more than twelve months (153,936) (101,172)

FEERBEE (BB12EAEBZT) Deferred tax liabilities to be settled
after more than twelve months 923,694 946,068
769,758 844,896

M2018F 128310 AEBEARERBELEHIBEE 2
%5 E5 18 A 7B 2,294,0007T (20174 : 3 %2,373,000
TC) IRBIRITRN BTSSR B EER -

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of tax losses amounting to HK$2,294,000 (2017:
HK$2,373,000). These tax losses do not expire under the current tax
legislation.

33. B 33. SHARE CAPITAL
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$000 HK$'000
BETRAR: Issued and fully paid:
7,000,0000% & 38 i% 7,000,000 ordinary shares 3,144,517 3,144,517
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34. ADDITIONAL EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
1218 E UK A IEREHR R EEH US$1,200 million perpetual non-cumulative
—REKRFES subordinated additional tier 1 capital securities 9,314,890 9,314,890

ARIRTTHA2017F6 A2 1T T EAEME 128X T (0B
R ITR A% S (EB 9315 L) Wk AJER
IRBEAIN—RERFS ([FBIHINEARTEA]) - bk A
FINEAR T ARR2022F6 A2 B EIRATE D A HAT -
SEEFEENRS00% - HEERAGITEERE =
HFEMERSRAFREFRAFHEBEEGES X
R EFEFZMN LR FETHESR -

REFBEFFIRN — IR NRITHERBEZBINER
TANEFREBURN S ER  MBUHNFN ST E R
& o AT - AERITIREE LS AR E B AR AR 20 TR ALS
HEET—REBRMERL-

BRINE E RBAARRIT D E RS TR SR
BRE ZRINBEATANASRERESERIHE
BREZEES THEITHME-

R2022F6 A2 B SEMERMIKE B - NRTTHAE
ClEEEMERENNBEIERTE EBAERCIE
Z AGR R e AR R AT R 71

2018F N ABRITHESINBEIEATAEZS6TEE
TC B RIA2018F6 A4H M2018F 12 A3B & X
3T EET (2017 :3F8B=T) °

On 2 June 2017, the Bank issued perpetual non-cumulative
subordinated additional tier 1 capital securities (“additional equity
instruments”) with a face value of US$1,200 million (equivalent to
HK$9,315 million net of related issuance costs). The additional equity
instruments are perpetual and bear a 5.00% coupon until the first
call date on 2 June 2022. The coupon will be reset every five years
if the additional equity instruments are not redeemed to a fixed rate
equivalent to the then-prevailing five-year US Treasury rate plus a
fixed initial spread.

The coupon shall be payable semi-annually. The Bank has the right
to cancel coupon payment (subjected to the requirement as set out
in the terms and conditions of the additional equity instruments) and
the coupon cancelled shall not be cumulative. However, the Bank is
stopped from declaring dividend to its ordinary shareholders unless
the next scheduled coupon payment is paid.

The principal of the additional equity instruments will be written
down to the amount as directed or agreed with the HKMA if the
HKMA notifies the Bank that the Bank would become non-viable if
there is no written down of the principal.

The Bank has a call option to redeem all the outstanding additional
equity instruments from 2 June 2022 or any subsequent coupon
payment date, but subject to restriction as set out in the terms and
conditions.

The Bank has distributed coupon payment for additional equity
instruments for a total amount US$60 million during the year 2018,
for each US$30 million was distributed on 4 June 2018 and 3
December 2018 separately (2017: US$30 million).

235
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35. KEBEERERME

35. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
() RERFERHAKLERESZRAHER (a) Reconciliation of operating profit to operating
cash inflow before taxation
2018 2017
BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
48 & i A Operating profit 4,644,809 3,824,301
e Depreciation 203,375 199,555
A 2 F R Net charge of impairment allowances 1,241,445 920,461
T30 1B 2 1 (B 3 Unwind of discount on impairment allowances (1,882) (5,356)
B 2 B3k (FBr UL R EE ) Advances written off net of recoveries (889,458) (284,576)

58 F 4838318 A 2 R R
Hib o BB OES T 2

REHI A B E3ME A 2 ERIT R
HtemuB s EHFHc 28

Change in balances with banks and

other financial institutions with original

maturity over three months 3,628,802 601,664
Change in placements with banks and

other financial institutions with original

maturity over three months (13,400,503) 9,434,409
NABEZETAEZRZ Change in financial assets at fair value
CREEZEE through profit or loss (2,973,179)  (1,594,211)
?ﬁiﬁﬁﬂlﬂzﬁﬁ Change in derivative financial instruments (297,747) 28,298
ERREMIRE & Change in advances and other accounts (19,064,145) (43,287,489)
SRMEECE Change in financial investments (5,988,380) (36,340,312)
E@ BEZEH Change in other assets 413,766 (1,929,008)
TREMEREE ZFRR Change in deposits and balances from banks and
EHro B other financial institutions 1,363,791 (2,714,703)
/’ME """"" fEEtAB&= 2 Change in financial liabilities at fair value
cASN=RPk through profit or loss 457,734 1,122,087
EEERZE Change in deposits from customers 18,789,300 67,888,109
E@EEIE&‘E{%Z%@U Change in other accounts and provisions 1,757,227 1,239,556
EXEH) s 8 Effect of changes in exchange rates 852,068 (1,501,016)
BRFAIKEERE 2R Operating cash outflow before taxation (9,262,977)  (2,398,231)
REEB 2 REREF BRI Cash flows from operating activities included:
— BIAE — Interest received 13,510,316 10,046,079
— BERFE — Interest paid (6,441,024)  (4,259,687)
— BARE — Dividend received 3,010 2,980
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35. RMERERERME () 35. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Cont'd)
(b) RERZFRRSEELEFIN (b) Analysis of the balances of cash and cash
equivalents
2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
EFReRRINBEAEIEAANZ Cash and balances with banks and
TR 1T R B & B4 18 /0 45 54 other financial institutions with original
maturity within three months 45,123,559 52,576,238
[REVHA B E3ME A N 2 R 1T R H A Placements with banks and other
T RIS 2 TE BRTE AR financial institutions with original
maturity within three months 1,155,231 2,461,351
REJEABE3(E A Nz EH Treasury bills with original maturity
within three months 8,461,835 5,018,235
REEA R E3(E B A2 F & Certificates of deposit held with original
maturity within three months - 1,455,290
54,740,625 61,511,114
(0 ®MEXKEEBEZEH (c) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$’000
BBITERE S RIFRE Debt securities and
certificates of deposit in issue
R1A1H At 1 January 6,781,208 1,095,937
FANELT Issuance during the year 5,411,766 5,685,271
M®12A831H At 31 December 12,192,974 6,781,208
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36. HABEBERAE 36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
COMMITMENTS

SARABEREREN2BRERERARELERZEER The following is a summary of the contractual amounts of each

WERMERETIMAEE HEREZHR 2608 significant class of contingent liability and commitment and the

RBEERBMESRERRDT : aggregate credit risk-weighted amount and is prepared with
reference to the completion instructions for the HKMA return of
capital adequacy ratio.

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEEREEERIER Direct credit substitutes 13,326,060 9,884,212
HXHBEBAHAEE Transaction-related contingencies 1,560,189 1,548,920
HESEBIHAEE Trade-related contingencies 13,337,662 14,018,162
BERENEELE Asset sales with recourse 2,543 9,279,111
T e A B R R 2 G Commitments that are unconditionally

cancellable without prior notice 69,006,530 75,424,409

HhadE  REEHB A Other commitments with an original maturity of
— 1FEHAT — up to one year 2,950,207 1,984,229
— 1FRE — over one year 12,979,562 10,920,331
113,162,753 123,059,374
EE R R n#EEE Credit risk-weighted amount 19,078,235 22,519,889

EERBINEHELSRE GR1TE (BAR)HRA) 7 The credit risk-weighted amount is calculated in accordance with the
B WBERORRRRSGHF 2 BEAREHEH 2 HR Banking (Capital) Rules. The amount is dependent upon the status

Rl - of the counterparty and the maturity characteristics of each type of
contract.

* ETUHBRBFERAEEUE T oMRERSE THER * Certain changes made on comparative figures solely relates to changes

TeREERBAENEE RS EENSIMIELE made to the regulatory reporting treatment of the Group's exposures

7] o AR E R L AR TR A IRTTA B www.ncb.com. to certain financial investments and non-bank financial institutions. The

hks B 5 &Rt — 6B - additional information of disclosure statement is available under section

“Finance Detail” on the Bank's website at www.ncb.com.hk.
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37. BEREE 37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

REERNHBRERTFBEE 2 ERRESENOT: The Group has the following outstanding capital commitments not
provided for in the financial statements:

2018 2017

BET T BT T

HK$000 HK$'000

B HEME K& 3R 4B R B Authorised and contracted for but not provided for 87,160 3,598
EHUEBRERL Authorised but not contracted for 395 16,160
87,555 19,758

LA B ARAEE RIS R IE A 2 BIEAE G R E - A The above capital commitments mainly relate to commitments to
RAEBZEFRIE TR ZAE- purchase computer equipment and software, and to renovate the
Group's premises.

38. REHERIE 38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(@) fEBERHEA (a) As lessee
BEDAHEH 2 REHESH TIRAEERKE The Group has commitments to make the following future minimum
BAHEEREMES N 2 &EHRE: lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:
2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt RBF Land and buildings
— TEBB1F — Not later than one year 250,599 262,999
— 1A EESFER — Later than one year but not later than five years 435,114 544,298
— 5% 1% — Later than five years 8,587 11,999
694,300 819,296
H A Other commitments
— AT — Not later than one year 793 822
— 1A EESFR — Later than one year but not later than five years 242 38
695,335 820,156
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38. RKREHERIE (#)

(b) EREAA

RETAHE KEHERK T AREEERAR
BRI BHNZARERBEE 2 RIEEKBES

38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Cont'd)

(b) As lessor

The Group has contracted with tenants for the following future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases:

2018 2017
BT T BT T
HKS$°000 HK$'000

T i RAETF Land and buildings
— TR — Not later than one year 11,735 8,310
— 1F A EEFR — Later than one year but not later than five years 10,248 4,352
— 5% 1% — Later than five years 546 =
22,529 12,662

REBNEEHELABLREYE HEFHE
HIFEESF - HOBRR—RERBETRIFRES -

39. ;{FA
AEBIMHZERBIATRENZERRRE-
HEREERREEASBNEESEXEDERH -

HREFRRAKETHBERAFLE NHRETRE
FAUHERRASROBEIA R R ERER
REEERERE -

40. DEHRE

() HREESE
AEEMERRHBNELESE 5
DRET PEEBRIEE -

A A EARTT

240

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases typically for a period from one to five
years. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits.

39. LITIGATION

The Group has been served a number of claims and counterclaims by
various independent parties. These claims and counterclaims are in
relation to the normal commercial activities of the Group.

No material provision was made against these claims and
counterclaims because the directors believe that the Group has
meritorious defences against the claimants or the amounts involved
in these claims are not expected to be material.

40. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
(a) By operating segment

The Group divides its business into four major segments, Personal
Banking, Corporate Banking, Treasury and Investment.
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(@) ®REEHE(E)

EASRITMERBTEFRRASREZENRITR
B EAARTEBRERBEAZTS MERRITE
BRERBIFBEATE ENMEXRHGZ KRTEEZ
BB/ BERABEAKENERN RPEL X
FHMNERR O - S E X F A PIEEAR BB E SN
BR REMEBGEHRES  WERWRLEARTM
EERTEBRNPRFFESTARENES &
LEBRZENESRFTEREBRNTECES
EBREHEE EAHNE2INNPMEXBHREER
ERRLREBRIEANKEIRS BEEEREE
B RRREBRZEOER (T2 TR
BXBHERENEEEEABREHNLE) -

18 374 40 B 0 B L 2 1R AT T 2 R ) o
HRERAARENNE R EBEBEERRET S
RV RIR SRR B - i A BB
AR (R E) 2 AR FE L R BRI
RRANEMREZT COERLEBHER-

(B AEBEMEERTRRREMASEERER
BERHERMERBRERNER -

—EARBRORAE L T2EREEEBNZE
BRNIEB -ZENERER aRBESEELESES -
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40. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont'd)
(a) By operating segment (Cont'd)

Both Personal Banking and Corporate Banking provide general
banking services. Personal Banking serves individual customers while
Corporate Banking deals with non-individual customers. The Treasury
segment is responsible for managing the capital, liquidity, and the
interest rate and foreign exchange positions of the Group in addition
to proprietary trades. It provides funds to other business segments
and receives funds from deposit taking activities of Personal Banking
and Corporate Banking. These inter-segment funding is charged
according to the internal funds transfer pricing mechanism of the
Group. The assets and liabilities of Treasury have not been adjusted
to reflect the effect of inter-segment borrowing and lending (i.e. the
profit and loss information in relation to Treasury is not comparable
to the assets and liabilities information about Treasury).

Investment includes bank premises and equipment used by
supporting units. Charges are paid to this segment from other
business segments based on market rates per square foot for their
occupation of the Group’s premises. The exchange difference arising
from capital of our subsidiary, NCB (China), which is recognised in its
income statement, is also included in this class.

"Others” refers to other group operations and mainly comprises of
items related to the Group as a whole and totally independent of the
other four business segments.

Revenues and expenses of any business segment mainly include

items directly attributable to the segment. For management
overheads, allocations are made on reasonable bases.

241

/TN



% #1795 B % 445 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 &

www.nch.com.hk

/TN

RS HR R Bl X

Notes to the Financial Statements

40. 7 EHRE (@ 40. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont'd)
(@) REEIE(H) (a) By operating segment (Cont'd)
AR LERT
Personal  Corporate BEER RE Hity et APHEH &
Banking Banking Treasury  Investment Others Subtotal ~ Eliminations Consolidated
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HZ22018F12A318 Year ended 31 December 2018
FRBMA/ (Zit) Net interest income/(expense)
= 5k - External (236,179) 4,906,831 1,995,600 - - 6,666,252 - 6,666,252
- Bx% - Inter-segment 1,140,103 (263,802) (876,301) - - - - -
903,924 4,643,029 1,119,299 - - 6666252 - 6,666,252
FREERES Net fee and commission
WA/ (%) income/(expense) 607,819 984,646 73,478 99 (2103) 1,663,939 - 1,663,939
FRMENE/ (B1]) Net trading gain/(loss) 30,484 145,497 90,201 (18,051) (91) 248,040 = 248,040
NRAREZLABE Net gain on financial instruments
ZEMT AT at fair value through profit or loss = = 372,746 = = 372,746 = 372,746
HLpemAE NS Net gain on other financial assets - 158,841 52,930 - - 211,771 - 211,111
EhERIRA/(F i) Other operating income/ (expense) - - - 129,408 22,299 151,707 (129,408) 22,299
REAEERR 2 Net operating income before
BEEPA impairment allowances 1,542,227 593,013 1,708,654 111,456 20,105 9,314,455 (129,408) 9,185,047
HEEEFEE(BE) Net reversal/(charge) of impairment
allowances 506 (1,089,072) (152,273) - (696)  (1,241,445) - (1,241,445)
FRERA Net operating income 1,542,823 4,842,941 1,556,381 111,456 19,409 8,073,010 (129,408) 7,943,602
mEL Operating expenses (1,198,591)  (1,825,260) (115868)  (182,832)  (105,650)  (3,428,201) 129,408  (3,298,793)
"ERH/ (FE) Operating profit/(loss) 344232 3,017,681 1,440,513 (71,376) (86,241) 4,644,809 - 4,644,809
RENEANEREL Net gain from fair value adjustments
Bl on investment properties = = = 29,240 = 29,240 = 29,240
WE /B B R Net gain from disposal/revaluation of
FE TR properties, plant and equipment - - - 4,640 - 4,640 - 4,640
BREARR/ (B8) Profit/(loss) before taxation 344232 3,017,681 1,440,513 (37,496) (86,241) 4,678,689 4,678,689
#2018F12A31R At 31 December 2018
EE ASSETS
PBEE Segment assets 46,801,361 208,617,772 202,103,446 8,198,091 301,035 466,021,705 - 466,021,705
a8 LIABILITIES
PHAE Segment liabilities 127,942,913 228,563,551 51,849,594 3695 2,467,149 410,826,902 - 410,826,902
HZ2018%128318 Year ended 31 December 2018
HitER Other information
BARMY Capital expenditure - - - 258,063 - 258,063 258,063
ik Depreciation 7.819 4,468 391 182,819 7878 203,375 - 203,375
BHBE Amortisation of securities - - 305,484 - - 305,484 - 305,484
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40. 7 EHRE (@ 40. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont'd)
(@) REEIE(H) (a) By operating segment (Cont'd)
BART RERT
Personal Corporate BEE RE Hit gt ARFES e
Banking Banking Treasury Investment Others Subtotal  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
BETT BETT AR T BETT BETT BRI BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HZ22017F128318 Year ended 31 December 2017
FRBMA/ (Zit) Net interest income/(expense)
= 5k - External 185,703 438,164 1,426,532 - - 5,994,399 - 5994399
- Bx% - Inter-segment 561,983 371,823 (933,806) - - - - -
747,686 4,753,987 492,726 - - 5994399 - 5994399
FREERES Net fee and commission
WA/ (%) income/(expense) 609,787 940,842 111,432 62 2,275 1,659,848 - 1,659,848
FRMENE/ (B1]) Net trading gain/(loss) 32,29 66,564 (175,123) (67,914) 15 (144,166) - (144,166)
REBADREEEARZE Netloss on finandial instruments
LERIAEER designated at fair value through
profit or loss - - (7,586) - - (7,586) - (7,586)
Hth e mEAE 2 FRE Net gain on other financial assets - 89,898 29,017 - - 118,915 - 118,915
EhERIRA /(R i) Other operating income/ (expense) 52 @) - 138,207 12,627 150,884 (124,463) 26,421
REBEZEANZ Net operating income before
BEEWA impairment allowances 1389817 5851289 450,466 70,355 10367 7,772,294 (124,463) 7,647,831
HEERTRE Net charge of impairment allowances (30,231) (883,433) (6,740) - (57) (920,461) - (920,461)
FREHA Net operating income 1359586 4,967,856 443,726 70,355 10310 6,851,833 (124463) 6,727,370
"ET Operating expenses (984575)  (1,647,214) (119,108) (179,545) (97,090)  (3,027,532) 124463 (2,903,069)
"ERH/ (FE) Operating profit/(loss) 375,011 3,320,642 324,618 (109,190) (86,780) 3,824,301 - 3824301
RENEANEREL Net gain from fair value adjustments on
Flg investment properties - - - 24,990 - 24,990 - 24,990
WE /B B R Net loss from disposal/ revaluation of
XEZFER properties, plant and equipment - - - (2,033) = (2,033) = (2,033)
REARR/ (B8) Profit/(loss) before taxation 375,011 3,320,642 324,618 (86,233) (86,780) 3,847,258 - 3,847,258
120175128318 At 31 December 2017
§E ASSETS
PBEE Segment assets 43562710 193,081,724 190,352,353  7,733493 331,858 435,062,138 - 435,062,138
af LIABILITIES
PHEE Segment liabilities 108,471,515 231,197,241 41,049,841 3,053 2,251,408 382,973,058 - 382,973,058
E22017%12831R Year ended 31 December 2017
HipER Other information
EAMSH Capital expenditure = = = 71427 = 77,427 = 77,427
ik Depreciation 8,386 4,637 462 179,533 6,537 199,555 - 199,555
BHEH Amortisation of securities - - 396,526 = = 396,526 - 396,526
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40. DEHRE (@
(b) BHEEHES

UTEMZREMNBARMNEEE R SE B
RPITZER AKBEABRRREEAHEELCKRZ
DT D 4R :

40. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont'd)

(b)

By geographical area

The following information is presented based on the principal places
of operations of the subsidiaries, or in the case of the Bank, on the
locations of the branches responsible for reporting the results or
booking the assets:

2018 2017

REUHE REURE

EHA 2 EHERIZ

BRI A FEE RN

Net Net

operating operating
income  BRFLATER income  BRFL AR F
before Profit before Profit
impairment before impairment before
allowances taxation allowances taxation
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB Hong Kong 5,655,026 3,425,801 4,744,698 3,035,488
HR B i Mainland of China 3,530,021 1,252,888 2,903,133 811,770
&t Total 9,185,047 4,678,689 7,647,831 3,847,258

2018

RAEE
A
Contingent
REE BEE FRBEE liabilities
Total Total Non-current and
assets liabilities assets commitments
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
B Hong Kong 293,705,332 255,226,369 7,172,483 51,230,454
AR i Mainland of China 172,316,373 155,600,533 1,053,423 61,932,299
CEl Total 466,021,705 410,826,902 8,225,906 113,162,753
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(b) By geographical area (Cont'd)

2017
HARBIE
M
BB E “aE IERBEE  Contingent
Total Total  Non-current liabilities and
assets liabilities assets commitments
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB Hong Kong 260,457,002 223,835,403 6,923,364 49,902,361
FR B A Mainland of China 174,605,136 159,137,655 895,593 73,157,013
ABEr Total 435,062,138 382,973,058 7,818,957 123,059,374

41. EEREE

M2018F12A31H AEB 28 EEK
3,622,998,0007T (20174F : 5 #5,258,501,0007T ) &
LATFHRAR R RRE RGAEFEE 2 EEERT -
o AEEBBEROBHRRNESEFRER
2 B & A% %6,809,501,0007T (20174 : B #&
3,208,148,0007T ) ° A & & & £ R 1L = & (& & 37
2 BESEEH#H%10,896,359,0007T (20174 : /B ¥
8,579,860,0007t) " WEEBR [XZHEE]  [& &
KREIRIBESEE]RTEK-

41. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

As at 31 December 2018, the liabilities of the Group amounting
to HK$3,622,998,000 (2017: HK$5,258,501,000) were secured by
assets deposited with central depositories to facilitate settlement
operations. In addition, the liabilities of the Group amounting to
HK$6,809,501,000 (2017: HK$3,208,148,000) were secured by debt
securities and bills related to sale and repurchase arrangements. The
amount of assets pledged by the Group to secure these liabilities was
HK$10,896,359,000 (2017: HK$8,579,860,000) mainly included in

noou

“Trading assets”,

Financial investments” and “Trade bills”.
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42. 2R T H I

TRIAKEEEE  ZATIEFEEE R HHEN

BUmZEORNERTAFRE-

42. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tables present details of the Group’s financial
instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting

arrangements and similar agreements.

2018
REESR
RPHH 2
(28 REEER AEREERLBRTHEH
SRHBEAE R HIRH ZHEESH
kAL Gross SMEEFE  Related amounts not set off
BEBAE  amountsof Netamounts in the balance sheet
Gross recognised of financial EKE;Z
amounts of financial assets ReHm
recognised liabilities set  presented in SMIA Cash
financial offinthe the balance Financial collateral FE
assets balance sheet sheet  instruments received  Net amount
BETR BETT BETT BETT BETR BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
TESRMIA Derivative financial instruments 260,084 - 260,084 (86,622) = 173,462
At EE Other assets 1,926,049 (1,126,416) 799,633 - - 799,633
2,186,133 (1,126,416) 1,059,717 (86,622) - 973,095
2018
REESE
RPEH 2
2R REEEBE AEREERERTEHZ
CREELE FHHIRA HESE
ERALH Gross SMEEFHE  Related amounts not set off
EE4A%E  amountsof Net amounts in the balance sheet
Gross  recognised of financial [%::%02
amounts of financial liabilities Refm
recognised assets set  presented in $MIA Cash
financial offinthe  the balance Financial collateral =k
liabilities balance sheet sheet instruments pledged  Net amount
BT BET T BETT BETT BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=L Liabilities
fTESBTE Derivative financial instruments 114,367 - 114,367 (86,622) - 27,745
A EfE Other liabilities 1,274,482 (1,126,416) 148,066 - - 148,066
1,388,849 (1,126,416) 262,433 (86,622) - 175,811
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42. €T HEZESE (® 42. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Cont'd)
2017
REEAR
FRRHEEZ
BER  REEBE RENEEABRTHEE
SRABLEE  RPITH ZIEBEEE
Gross S©BAEFE  Related amounts not set off
ERRLHE amountsof  Net amounts in the balance sheet
BEAH recognised of financial Bz
Gross financial assets Hefm
amounts of  liabilities set  presented in SRIA Cash
recognised off in the the balance Financial collateral X
financial assets  balance sheet sheet instruments received Net amount
BETT BETT BETT BT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
TESRMIA Derivative financial instruments 35,861 - 35,861 (17,258) = 18,603
HipBE Other assets 1,524,687 (1,287,388) 237,299 - - 237,299
1,560,548 (1,287,388) 273,160 (17,258) - 255,902
2017
REEARE
RP#EH
ERRA  REEEE AERAERRRTEHEZ
CHEERE  RTITH EEEE
ERERER Gross ®RMEMEEE  Related amounts not set off
BEAE amounts of  Net amounts in the balance sheet
Gross recognised of financial BERZ
amounts of finandial liabilities Refm
recognised assets set presented in IR Cash
financial off in the the balance Financial collateral FH
liabilities  balance sheet sheet instruments pledged Net amount
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
8% Liabilities
fTEemIE Derivative finandial instruments 296,570 - 296,570 (17,258) - 279,312
2B E Other liabilities 1,798,845 (1,287,388) 511,457 - - 511,457
2,095,415 (1,287,388) 808,027 (17,258) - 790,769
BEAREEEIEBSIMIETAENMEREBRIFH For master netting agreements of OTC derivative and sale and
FREEHRARZE WEBRERASEMETEZTENSE repurchase transactions entered into by the Group, related amounts
% AR - SEF 2 HESEIRAFEES - with the same counterparty can be offset if an event of default or

other predetermined events occur.
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43, cRIEEHER

M20184 K20175F12 8318  REBRE R T AR
IHHERGEGZEERSmMEE-

44, EEERX

RIS (AFIEDI) E3830HR (AT (BBEER
RERDAPD E=BHRE AARTEFREZ
BB T

43. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, there were no transferred
financial assets of the Group that do not qualify for derecognition.

44. LOANS TO DIRECTORS

Particulars of loans made to directors of the Bank pursuant to section
383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation are as follows:

2018 2017
BET T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
RERBREEZBEBRZ L Aggregate amount of relevant transactions
outstanding at year end 572 608
RERNKREEERAR I 2m=BR Maximum aggregate amount of relevant transactions
outstanding during the year 608 833

45, FECEREALTRS

BATHERER

AEBERERARAREESRIZERARAA ([E
EZeiR]) KERERARATEEEEEETERNE
BRam([hBEEZ]) MPREEEATEARK
MBIRAERER (TRABCER) ) FErp AR ([HE])
RIMBESRER EROTETABERZME
AR ([ERERA]) LRS-
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45. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

General information of the parent companies:

The Group’s immediate holding company is Cinda Financial
Holdings Co., Limited (“Cinda Financial Holdings”), the Group's
ultimate holding company is China Cinda Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. (“China Cinda"”) which is a state-owned financial enterprise
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") by the
Ministry of Finance (the “MOF"”) and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong
Stock Exchange™).



www.nch.com.hk

#19% A% 4844 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2018 ANNUAL REPORT 4 $R Q%
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(@) BRELFRFGRFEHZEMDTETH
R5

AEBZHERERARREESRE MEESERR
hEEE () ERERQR ([FE2FER]) 2=H -
TEEEREETEZERAR EXERREER
ZHEIA RIS BHE T EARKNEEBLES
MARRERPT T2 A BB K BT MBI R S -

o 2 O 6 Pt B 49 4 2

ABLrEABREEETHORIRAERFER
MR2018F12A31H - AEBEHBERERLEABE
28,600,155,0007T (20174 : /& #27,487,883,000
JL) cEE2018F12A31H L FE - B FE{EER M
PLAEESBREREAENT H 2% AE%661,253,000
7T (20174F : #5%342,197,0007T) °

ABHDHEEEESETHIRZIRETFRER.
M2018F12A31H ANEE B BARIBELTE BB
3,380,546,0007T (20174 : 7 %6,378,915,0007T) °
HE2018F12A318 L FE - HEE R B MMULE
XBBEFEERNT LA RS %202,118,0007T
(20174 : B #67,064,0007T ) °

ABHBEEFRAFEH 2 HEMARNRZRE S BIE
& PR20185F 12 A318 - AEEEHERIBRAERABE
2,184,821,0007T (20174 : 75 ¥4,859,435,0007T ) °
HZE2018F12A31B ILFE - B R AEGH 2 E Al
AAMBLEEBBREREEANKRAREREE
209,316,0007T (20174 : B#178,719,0007T ) °
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45. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(@) Transactions with the parent companies and
the other companies controlled by the parent
companies

The Group's immediate holding company is Cinda Financial Holdings
which is in turn controlled by China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company
Limited (“Cinda Hong Kong"”). China Cinda is the controlling
entity of Cinda Hong Kong and its major shareholder and de facto
controller is MOF, which is one of the ministries under the State
Council of the PRC Government, primarily responsible for state fiscal
revenue and expenditures, and taxation policies.

China Cinda has controlling equity interests in certain other entities
in the PRC.

The majority of transactions with China Cinda arises from
deposits from customers. As at 31 December 2018, the related
aggregate amount of the Group was HK$28,600,155,000 (2017:
HK$27,487,883,000). The aggregate amount of expenses of the
Group arising from these transactions with China Cinda for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$661,253,000 (2017:
HK$342,197,000).

The majority of transactions with Cinda Hong Kong arises from
deposits from customers. As at 31 December 2018, the related
aggregate amount of the Group was HK$3,380,546,000 (2017:
HK$6,378,915,000). The aggregate amount of expenses of the
Group arising from these transactions with Cinda Hong Kong for
the year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$202,118,000 (2017:
HK$67,064,000).

The majority of transactions with other companies controlled by
the parent companies arises from financial investments. As at 31
December 2018, the related aggregate amount of the Group was
HK$2,184,821,000 (2017: HK$4,859,435,000). The aggregate
amount of income of the Group arising from these transactions
with other companies controlled by the parent companies for
the year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$209,316,000 (2017:
HK$178,719,000).
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45, FECEHEEALTRS (8)

(@) BRELAFRFGRFEHZEMDTETH

X5 (&)

RESDEENAZEH 2 EMRTNRGREEFE
RERBEEHFER-MN2018F12A31H  NEBEER
TH 45 D Bl A% %798,380,0007T (20174 : & #
1,213,388,0007T ) & /& #11,884,109,0007T (2017
F : B #15,632,964,0007T ) ° 2 £2018F 12 H31H
LIEFE - AR ARG 2 A A R At ¥ 75 B3R
REE MR A RS A% D 5 &7 #58,449,000T
(20174F : 7 #89,895,0007T ) & /& #198,204,0007T
(20174 : 8%136,259,0007T ) °

B bR gEsh - EEAM B AR R AREH 2 B A
AETHRZAETEK.

AEBEERERTEGERRETROTEBERS
BREENR BHFREREEMELERS -

*

(b) EBUFHE REME HERERHEA
REZEHERNRS

hEARAMBE S BEE ANEEEEIES - THRBEK
FIeRs  RIZHE HERB R EEA N TR
BEREZREHASEMER - NREBIE R RHEK
HEBRFHE RERE NEREREGEEEHE
BETERRITEBRS-
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45. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(@) Transactions with the parent companies and
the other companies controlled by the parent
companies (Cont'd)

The majority of transactions with other companies controlled by the
parent companies arises from advances to customers and deposits
from customers. As at 31 December 2018, the related aggregate
amount of the Group was HK$798,380,000 (31 December 2017:
HK$1,213,388,000) and HK$11,884,109,000 (31 December 2017:
HK$15,632,964,000) respectively. The aggregate amount of income
and expenses of the Group arising from these transactions with other
companies controlled by the parent companies for the period ended
31 December 2018 were HK$58,449,000 (2017: HK$89,895,000)
and HK$198,204,000 (2017: HK$136,259,000) respectively.

Save as disclosed above, transactions with other parent companies
and the other companies controlled by the parent companies are not
considered material.

The Group enters into banking transactions with these entities in the
normal course of business which include loans, investment securities
and money market transactions.

(b) Transactions with government authorities,
agencies, affiliates and other state controlled
entities

The Group is subject to the control of the MOF of the PRC
Government, which also directly or indirectly controls a significant
number of entities through its government authorities, agencies,
affiliates and other state controlled entities. The Group enters
into banking transactions with government authorities, agencies,
affiliates and other state controlled entities in the normal course of
business at commercial terms.
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(b) EREFHE REEE HEEEREM
REZEHERNRE (8)

BURGBEETHBRRTFEIE:

fEE RERERBERMEZER:

- RITAE 2 7R AR

- HE BE SELEDHEBEAE TR
FrE1T 2 fE5

- He L OINGE - BE SR N AR BB AR B AR TS

- REGEREL K

- BEAHEEX TBITHE BERBBRS-

(0 EESEAE

TESEABRERULERINEREAEENNEME
Kitdl HEREEKBEHRZAL BRESELS
BERAB AKBELEREBRTERIIESEA
BERRARREEFREERE RAFRESF
AEEWRBERARTREZRARZEEZSEA
BNEARAEALETERR G-

45,

(b)
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SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Transactions with government authorities,
agencies, affiliates and other state controlled
entities (Cont'd)

These transactions include, but are not limited to, the following:

(c)

lending, provision of credits and guarantees, and deposit
taking;

inter-bank balance taking and placing;

sales, purchases, underwriting and redemption of bonds
issued by other state controlled entities;

rendering of foreign exchange, remittance and investment
related services;

provision of fiduciary activities; and

purchase of utilities, transport, telecommunications and
postage services.

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the Group, directly or indirectly, including Directors and Senior
Management. The Group accepts deposits from and grants loans and
credit facilities to key management personnel in the ordinary course
of business. During both the current and prior years, no material
transaction was conducted with key management personnel of the

Bank and its holding companies, as well as parties related to them.
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45, FECEHEEALTRS (8)

(©) FESEAS ()
FTESEBAEHZ12A31BILEE2HFMUT

45. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(c) Key management personnel (Cont'd)

The compensation of key management personnel for the year ended
31 December is detailed as follows:

2018 2017

BET T BT T

HK$'000 HK$'000

S REMEHE TR Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 65,828 64,785
RRAE A Post-employment benefits 4,214 4,378
70,042 69,163

(d) BB BAEER

M2018F12A31H  RIRTTE R B XK BREF IR —
MR EIETETTR 5 E A A FE I K B BB A Al 3R
TH /B85 D Bl 57 #1,197,462,0007T (20174 : /B &
297,746,0007C ) & 7 #262,838,0007T (20174 : 7
#185,478,0007C ) °

46. EIRRERE

RTArH2REMBRBRITERGTZEERER
EVERIE R AR - B ERIZIR R 58 F ArEM AT
ARBEBREARZHF 2 &ERRAENLERE D
o REMBEMAER 2 BEER &AM 2 INEE
B EBERZERAMELERISHFAELAR -
AR A BB = RRAZ RN - B ERBRTZE
S 1T RS EEBR EZRIT 2 BITHREN -
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(d) Balances with subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate sums of amounts due from
subsidiaries and amounts due to subsidiaries of the Bank arising from
transactions entered into during the normal course of business at
commercial terms are HK$1,197,462,000 (2017: HK$297,746,000)
and HK$262,838,000 (2017: HK$185,478,000) respectively.

46. INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

The below analysis is prepared with reference to the completion
instructions for the HKMA return of international banking statistics.
International claims are exposures to counterparties on which the
ultimate risk lies based on the locations of the counterparties after
taking into account the transfer of risk, and represent the sum
of cross-border claims in all currencies and local claims in foreign
currencies. For a claim guaranteed by a party situated in a country
different from the counterparty, the risk will be transferred to the
country of the guarantor. For a claim on an overseas branch of a
bank whose head office is located in another country, the risk will be
transferred to the country where its head office is located.
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46. BIFR&E#RE (#) 46. INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS (Cont'd)
R B A9 I B R sk [ 18 B B R R R R s A 1 (S B Claims on individual countries or areas, after risk transfer, amounting
BREEAREI10%H A L2 BEREWT to 10% or more of the aggregate international claims of the Group

are shown as follows:

2018
FERITFAAN KRB
Non-bank private sector
FEE
FER1T HAKRE
SRS Non-
B S Non-bank financial
R1T Official financial private st
Banks sector institutions sector Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B A Mainland of China 45,616,154 1,826,631 1,197,930 43,432,596 92,073,311
B Hong Kong 1,318,452 23,287 6,709,278 34,632,239 42,683,256
2017
FEERITAL A MRS
Non-bank private sector
FEERTT
T RS JEE Al
B Non-bank FLARETE
RIT Official financial  Non-financial wwEr
Banks sector institutions private sector Total
BT T BEET T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR i Mainland of China 49,317,277 9,534,250 212,539 38,767,290 97,831,356
B Hong Kong 2,629,913 443,739 4,739,648 35,321,601 43,134,901
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47. JEER1THY A Hb [ B AR I 47. NON-BANK MAINLAND EXPOSURES

HERTXZEFONMBBRBREAEZ T2
REMAMER 22 ERBRNEBRIE T ZH#
BRI R EERBRER DM -t WMREF RARITR
ERBRITEH B R B Z AMERASE -

The analysis of non-bank Mainland exposures is based on the
categories of non-bank counterparties and the types of direct
exposures with reference to the completion instructions for the
HKMA return of Mainland activities, which includes the Mainland

exposures extended by the Bank and its banking subsidiaries.

2018
EESERAN BEAEXRHN
SER WEKRAEE HEREE
HRKIEH On-balance  Off-balance = &R BEIE
ltems in the sheet sheet Total
HKMA return exposure exposure exposure
BET T BET T BET T
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RRIRFT FREFFHEHR  Central government, central
B HIFB AR & government-owned entities
BERHE and their subsidiaries and
joint ventures 1 62,029,674 2,386,525 64,416,199
BT FERFE AR Local governments, local
el HIE AR & government-owned entities
SERLE and their subsidiaries and
joint ventures 2 25,281,952 5,765,505 31,047,457
HEEERAE RS EA PRC nationals residing in Mainland
T3 AT R - or other entities incorporated in
HBRARGEDLE Mainland and their subsidiaries
and joint ventures 3 78,922,521 21,458,367 100,380,888
FEFEELME—TBHRR  Other entities of central government
T A ) A i not reported in item 1 above 4 1,546,633 663,376 2,210,009
NEFEE LM E — B Other entities of local governments
RIS P ) E A 48 not reported in item 2 above 5 381,592 = 381,592
B FEEINE RKERESN  PRC nationals residing outside
e A Mainland or entities incorporated
REANGEE outside Mainland where the
credit is granted for use
in Mainland 6 10,983,931 1,095,009 12,078,940
Hibx 58 FMmEREKAIE  Other counterparties where the
WRAIERITHAMER  exposures are considered to be
EYE non-bank Mainland exposures 7 4,946,275 268,013 5,214,288
T Total 8 184,092,578 31,636,795 215,729,373
HMRERESEWEEMAT  Total assets after provision 9 476,276,383

BEERBERANRREE
HEERBEANL

On-balance sheet exposures as
percentage of total assets 10 38.65%
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47. FFERATHY R b B R IE () 47. NON-BANK MAINLAND EXPOSURES
(Cont'd)
2017
EEBEXRAN BEBERXRI
©ER MREBREE  ARBREE
<A H On-balance  Off-balance  #&J& [ H ¥
[tems in the sheet sheet Total
HKMA return exposure exposure exposure
BET T BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RRIRAT FREFREHR  Central government, central
B HIFB AR R government-owned entities and
BEME their subsidiaries and
joint ventures 1 47,506,686 5,511,590 53,018,276
BT A BFEABN  Local governments, local
B HIRE AR & government-owned entities and
BEMHE their subsidiaries and
joint ventures 2 21,617,740 4,703,027 26,320,767

B AE RSEM SRR PRC nationals residing in Mainland
AMEHEE HEHBAR K  orother entities incorporated in

BEDE Mainland and their subsidiaries
and joint ventures 3 74,038,354 15,195,181 89,233,535
TEFEELRE-—TBHRR Other entities of central government
BRAT O A A i not reported in item 1 above 4 4,936,451 3,398 4,939,849
NEIEE Ll E ZIHi Other entities of local governments
BT 1A B A 1 1 not reported in item 2 above 5 253,003 = 253,003

H B EINE R RE S PRC nationals residing outside
A ERE - EAME AR Mainland or entities incorporated

B8 outside Mainland where the credit
is granted for use in Mainland 6 13,218,282 1,983,472 15,201,754
Hibx 58 F mHE R AR Other counterparties where the
R R FEIRTT A A &L B exposures are considered to be
AR IE non-bank Mainland exposures 7 5,131,429 13,906 5,145,335
T Total 8 166,701,945 27,410,574 194,112,519
MBREBSENEERTE Total assets after provision 9 445,101,340
BEBBERAMEREEN  On-balance sheet exposures as
BEAEBRNL percentage of total assets 10 37.45%
* ETHREFERAEELHE T2RIEERE TR * Certain changes made on comparative figures solely relates to changes
TEREEBRRARENESRERENEHIMIELDE made to the regulatory reporting treatment of the Group's exposures
7] ° ARARERE R E R AT R AR ERTTA B www.ncb.com. to certain financial investments and non-bank financial institutions. The
hke [BF 75 & K] — 678 % - additional information of disclosure statement is available under section

“Finance Detail” on the Bank’s website at www.ncb.com.hk.
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48. EERERKERESHR

48. BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

) EEEEX (a) Balance sheet
®12A31H As at 31 December 2018 2017
BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
EFREe R FHREIRTT R A shikis Cash and balances with banks and other
B 45 B8 financial institutions 22,225,031 19,171,244
ERITNEMESREE =+ _ AR Placements with banks and other financial
B8 2 7E HATF institutions maturing between one and
twelve months - 1,063,366
NRAEETABEZEREE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,746,317 3,806,354
TESHMTE Derivative financial instruments 317,546 347,235
B H A BRIE Advances and other accounts 171,408,352 155,685,169
SEEE Financial investments 87,041,469 71,365,632
BB A Rl Interests in subsidiaries 11,708,802 11,708,802
"EWME Investment properties 331,942 302,702
YEE - B R Properties, plant and equipment 6,840,301 6,577,820
Hih&EE Other assets 1,973,763 2,434,644
BEBE Total assets 306,593,523 272,462,968
=L LIABILITIES
RIT R H A & B 2 TR R AR Deposits and balances from banks and other
financial institutions 12,115,005 7,330,054
AABEE I AERZERAR Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 4,803,277 4,345,543
TESHMTAE Derivative financial instruments 96,591 132,807
BEPER Deposits from customers 230,206,636 208,427,760
H AR I8 R Other accounts and provisions 7,117,565 2,674,463
ENFHBEAE Current tax liabilities 300,825 279,138
EEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 766,963 781,407
BEEE Total liabilities 255,406,862 223,971,172
=N EQUITY
f& 2 Share capital 3,144,517 3,144,517
i &5 Reserves 38,727,254 36,032,389
FENAEBRRE AR Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 41,871,771 39,176,906
FINEARTA Additional equity instruments 9,314,890 9,314,890
BAREE Total equity 51,186,661 48,491,796
BEREREE Total liabilities and equity 306,593,523 272,462,968

REEZEN2019F4 26 B @BZOET HATALR

REE:

BRER
BE
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behalf of the Board by:

Sun Jiandong FeR 48 B

BEE

Chan Sai Ming
Director

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 April 2019 and signed on
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48. EEEEBERREZEHXR &) 48. BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY (Cont'd)

(b) EZREHX (b) Statement of changes in equity
1

Reserves

e

EENNE

BHGEE

Reserve for

o EE  fairvalue

E4I8 Bfif#%  changes of
KA Additional Premises available- EERET  AERE BEER EREt
Share equity  revaluation forsale  Regulatory  Translation Retained Total
capital  instruments reserve securities reserve® reserve earnings equity
BETT BB BETT BETT BETR BETT BETT AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

120171818 At 1 January 2017 3,144,517 - 5,395,218 (166,439) 1,080,572 (12,144) 27,081,638 36,523,362
ERER Profit for the year
Epembs: Other comprehensive income: - - - - - - 2,560,199 2,560,199
FE Premises - - 321,479 - - - - 321,479
REFIERH B2 Actuarial gains on defined
RERH benefit plan - - - - - - 2,555 2,555
AHHEES Available-for-sale securities - - - 3814 = = = 3,814
ERREEE Currency translation difference = = = (253) = = = (253)
2ENEER Total comprehensive income - = 321,479 3,561 = = 2,562,754 2,887,794
BTEHERTIR Issue of additional equity instruments' - 9,314,890 - = = = - 9,314,890
INBENEATERE Distribution payment for additional
equity instruments - (234,250) - - - - - (234,250)
ERAATRF Transfer from retained earnings - 234,250 - = 249,658 = (483,908) =
R2017412A318 At 31 December 2017 3,144,517 9,314,890 5,716,697 (162,878) 1,330,230 (12,144) 29,160,484 48,491,796
B 20176 R - ARERITEATE93. 158 7T (ETT12(8) K g During the year 2017, the Bank issued HK$9,315 million (US$1,200
AFBERBRBEIN-—RERES [BINERTA]) - E million) perpetual non-cumulative subordinated additional tier 1 capital
BERTRABE3 6B TAE AR WHEINERT securities (“additional equity instruments”). Direct issuance costs of
B kR HK$36.11 million are accounted for as a deduction from the additional

equity instruments.
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48, EEEEBXREEZSH X (8

48. BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY (Cont'd)

(b) REREBERR(E) (b) Statement of changes in equity (Cont'd)
1
Reserves
AAE
2
Hit2E
i e
Reserve for
5 EE  fairvalue
E4I8 EfiRfE through
KA Additional Premises other EERET  RERE BRER
Share equity  revaluation comprehensive Regulatory  Translation Retained st
capital  instruments reserve income reserve* reserve earnings Total
BETT BETT BET T BETT BETT BET T BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
20181418 At 1 January 2018
P58 As previously reported 3,144,517 9,314,890 5,716,697 (162,878) 1,330,230 (12,144) 29,160,484 48,491,796
HEg Opening adjustments - - - 14,528 (186,443) - 27,509 (144,406)
HEBEAS Balance after opening adjustments 3144517 9314890 5716697 (148,350) 1,143,787 (12,144) 29,187,993 48,347,390
ERER Profit for the year - - - - - - 2953694  2,953,69%
A2 ElE: Other comprehensive income:
RBE Premises - - 313,253 - - - - 313,253
REM@ERNE2 Actuarial losses on defined
REER benefit plan - - - - - - (6,012) (6,012)
NREREA Financial instruments at
Eth2ENE fair value through
SRIA other comprehensive income = = = 48,538 = = = 48,538
ERBEEE Currency translation difference - = = (81) - - - 81)
eyl Total comprehensive income - - 313,253 48,457 - - 2,947,682 3,309,392
XANBNEATERE Distribution payment for additional
equity instruments - (470,121) - - - - - (470,121)
EREAERA Transfer from retained earnings - 470,121 - - 35,412 - (505,533) -
20185128318 At 31 Decentber 2018 3044517 9314890 6029950 (99.893) 1,179,199 (12144) 31,630,142 51,186,661
* BREERIRIUREEEIN ReERERBERH BT @ In accordance with the requirements of the HKMA, the amounts are
BN EEERBERT-REAR 2B (BERRIBARRK set aside for general banking risks, including future losses or other
HEth TRl TEEARR) © unforeseeable risks, in addition to the loan impairment allowances
recognised.
49. BRAERAF 49. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

AEEHPREERZES MPBESEESHPEA
RAEMBERE (M BER]) R EARKANE ([H
BRIWEBESREE EROMETEHARS
FERDE (HEBBR]) LRS-

50. MBHRERZLE

R TEHRERN2019F4 A26 B RE E €M iB MR A%
fffi
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The Group is indirectly controlled by China Cinda, which is a state-

owned financial enterprise established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") by the Ministry of Finance (the “MOF") and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”).

50. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 26 April 2019.



